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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report includes statements that express the Company’s opinions, expectations, hopes, beliefs, plans, intentions, objectives, strategies, assumptions or
projections regarding future events or future results of operations or financial condition and therefore are, or may be deemed to be, “forward-looking statements.” The words
“anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intends,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would”
and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. Forward-looking
statements appear in a number of places throughout this Annual Report and include statements regarding the Company’s intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning,
among other things, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies, future market conditions or economic performance and developments in
the capital and credit markets and expected future financial performance, the markets in which the Company operates as well as any information concerning possible or
assumed future results of operations of the Company. Such forward-looking statements are based on available current market material available as of the date of this Annual
Report and management’s expectations, beliefs and forecasts concerning future events impacting the Company. Factors that may cause such forward-looking statements to differ
from actual results include, but are not limited to:

• Competition and our ability to grow and manage growth sustainably and retain our key employees;

• Failure to achieve sustained profitability;

• Negative publicity affecting our brand and reputation, or the reputation of key employees;

• Failure to manage our debt obligations;

• Failure to effectively make use of assets received under bartering transactions;

• Failure by us to maintain our message as a supportive member of the Veteran and military communities and any other factors which may negatively affect the perception
of our brand;

• Our limited operating history, which may make it difficult to successfully execute our strategic initiatives and accurately evaluate future risks and challenges;

• Failed marketing campaigns, which may cause us to incur costs without attracting new customers or realizing higher revenue;

• Failure to attract new customers or retain existing customers;

• Risks related to the use of social media platforms, including dependence on third-party platforms;

• Failure to provide high-quality customer experience to retail partners and end users, including as a result of production defaults or issues, including due to failures by one
or more of our co-manufacturers, affecting the quality of our products, which may adversely affect our brand;

• Decrease in success of the direct to consumer revenue channel;

• Loss of one or more of co-manufacturers, or delays, quality, or other production issues, including labor-related production issues at any of our co-manufacturers;

• Failure to manage our supply chain, and accurately forecast our raw material and co-manufacturing requirements to support our needs;

• Failure to effectively manage or distribute our products through our Wholesale business partners, especially our key Wholesale business partners;

• Failure by third parties involved in the supply chain of coffee, store supplies or merchandise to produce or deliver products, including as a result of ongoing supply chain
disruptions, or our failure to effectively manage such third parties;

• Changes in the market for high-quality coffee beans and other commodities;

• Fluctuations in costs and availability of real estate, labor, raw materials, equipment, transportation or shipping;
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• Failure to successfully compete with other producers and retailers of coffee;

• Failure to successfully open new Black Rifle Coffee shops (“Outposts”), including failure to timely proceed through permitting and other development processes, or the
failure of any new or existing Outposts to generate sufficient sales;

• Failure to properly manage our rapid growth, inventory needs, and relationships with various business partners;

• Failure to protect against software or hardware vulnerabilities;

• Failure to build brand recognition using our intellectual properties or otherwise;

• Shifts in consumer spending, lack of interest in new products or changes in brand perception upon evolving consumer preferences and tastes;

• Failure to adequately maintain food safety or quality and comply with food safety regulations;

• Failure to successfully integrate into new domestic and international markets;

• Risks related to leasing space subject to long-term non-cancelable leases and with respect to real property;

• Failure of our franchise partners to successfully manage their franchises;

• Failure to raise additional capital to develop the business;

• Risks related to supply chain disruptions;

• Risks related to unionization of employees;

• Failure to comply with federal, state and local laws and regulations, or failure to prevail in civil litigation matters; and

• Other risks and uncertainties indicated in this Annual Report, including those set forth in Part I Item 1A Risk Factors in this annual report.

The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report are based on our current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential
effects on us. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be those that we have anticipated. These forward-looking statements involve a number of
risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or other assumptions that may cause actual results or performance to be materially different from those expressed or
implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those factors described under the heading “Risk Factors.” Should one
or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of the assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material respects from those projected in these
forward-looking statements. We do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.

Summary of Risk Factors

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those described in Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors in this Annual Report, that represent challenges that
we face in connection with the successful implementation of our strategy and the growth of our business. In particular, the following considerations, among others, may offset
our competitive strengths or have a negative effect on our business strategy, which could cause a decline in the price of shares of our common stock and result in a loss of all or
a portion of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business
• Our brand, including the quality of media content and active participation in the Veteran community, is core to our success, and damage to our brand or reputation and

negative publicity could negatively impact our business
• Failure to maintain or enhance the value and reputation of our brand, including our support of the Veteran community, could have a negative impact on our financial

results.
• Our growth strategy depends on the successful execution of our strategic initiatives, and our limited operating history may make it difficult to accurately evaluate future

risks and challenges.
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• We have a limited operating history, and our past financial results may not be indicative of our future performance. Further, our revenue growth rate may slow as our
business matures.

• Our marketing programs may not be successful, resulting in harm to our financial results.
• Our new products or merchandise may not generate increased sales or profits.
• The loss of one or more of our primary Wholesale partners, or a significant adverse change in a primary Wholesale partner’s financial position, could negatively impact

our net sales and profitability.
• We are subject to risks associated with using social media as a form of advertisement and customer engagement.
• If we fail to offer a high-quality customer experience, our business and reputation will suffer.
• Our current operations are highly dependent on the financial performance of our Direct to Consumer (“DTC”) and Wholesale channels, and reliance on third party

logistics, and could negatively impact our business.
• Our business relies on co-manufacturer and third party suppliers to supply our products, and loss of our co-manufacturer, our failure to identify new co-manufacturers, or

inability to accurately forecast and contract for our co-manufacturing and raw materials needs could harm our business and impede our growth.
• We strongly rely upon our Wholesale channel partners. If we cannot maintain good relationships with customers and distributors, our Wholesale revenue channel may

be harmed.
• Interruption of our supply chain of coffee, store supplies, or merchandise could affect our ability to produce or deliver our products and could negatively impact our

business and profitability.
• Increases in the cost of high-quality coffee beans or other commodities or decreases in the availability of high-quality coffee beans or other commodities could have an

adverse impact on our business and financial results.
• Our financial condition and results of operations are dependent upon consumer discretionary spending, and a number of economic or political conditions, largely outside

our control, may adversely affect that spending and as such our results may fluctuate significantly and may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business.
• We may not be able to compete successfully with other producers and retailers of coffee. Intense competition in our markets could make it more difficult to expand our

business.
• Our growth strategy depends in part on opening new Outposts in existing and new markets. We may be unsuccessful in opening new Outposts or establishing new

markets, which could adversely affect our growth.
• Our failure to manage our growth effectively could harm our business and operating results.
• We are increasingly dependent on information technology and our ability to process data in order to operate and sell our goods and services.
• If the technology-based systems that give our consumers the ability to shop or interact with us online do not function effectively, our operating results, as well as our

ability to grow our digital commerce business globally or to retain our customer base, could be materially adversely affected.
• We rely significantly on information technology and data to operate our business, including our supply chain and retail operations, and any failure, inadequacy,

compromise or interruption of that technology or data could lead to adverse consequences.
• If we or our franchise partners are unable to protect our customers’ and employees’ personal, financial, or other confidential data, or if our information technology

systems are compromised, we could be exposed to data loss, litigation, liability and reputational damage.
• We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, including trademarks, trade names, and service marks, which, in turn, could harm the value of our

brand and adversely affect our business.
• Evolving consumer preferences and tastes, including public or medical opinions about caffeine consumption, may adversely affect our business.
• Food safety and quality concerns may negatively impact our brand, business, and profitability, and our internal operational controls and standards may not always be

met. Any possible instances or reports, whether true or not, of food or beverage-borne illness or adulteration could reduce our sales.
• We are subject to the risks associated with leasing space subject to long-term non-cancelable lease and, with respect to the real property that we own, owning real estate.
• Our operating results and growth strategies are partly dependent upon the success of our franchise partners, and we have limited control with respect to their operations.

Additionally, our franchise partners’ interests may conflict or diverge with our interests in the future, which could have a negative impact on our business.
• If we fail to maintain adequate operational and financial resources, particularly if we continue to grow rapidly, we may be unable to execute our business plan or

maintain high levels of service and customer satisfaction.
• Disruptions at the bank in which we deposit our funds could have an adverse impact on our business and financial condition.
• We may be adversely affected by the effects of inflation.
• Authentic Brands’ debt obligations could impair our financial condition and adversely affect our business, and we may be unable to generate the cash flow to service

such debt obligations.
• Authentic Brands’ debt agreements impose restrictions on our business.
• Our barter arrangement may not provide the benefits we expect.
• We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting.

Risks Related to People and Culture
• We depend on our founder, executive officers, and other key employees, and the loss of one or more of these employees, the failure of one or more of these employees to

dedicate adequate time to the Company’s affairs, or an inability to attract and retain other highly skilled employees could harm our business.
• Changes in the availability of and the cost of labor could harm our business.
• Our unique workplace atmosphere may produce specific challenges.
• Unionization activities may disrupt our operations and affect our profitability.

Risks Related to Regulation Litigation and Taxation
• Litigation or legal proceedings could expose us to significant liabilities and have a negative impact on our reputation or business.
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• We are subject to many federal, state, and local laws with which compliance is both costly and complex.
• We may be subject to liability for placing advertisements with content that is deemed inappropriate or misleading.
• We, as well as our vendors, are subject to stringent and changing laws, regulations, and industry standards related to data Processing (“Data Protection Laws”),

protection, privacy, and security. The actual or perceived failure by us, our customers, or vendors to comply with such laws, regulations, and industry standards may
harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

• We and our franchise partners are subject to extensive government regulations that could result in claims leading to increased costs and restrict our ability to operate
franchises.

• Our business, like many other beverage and restaurant companies, is subject to the risk of class action lawsuits and other proceedings that are costly, divert management
attention, and, if successful, could result in our payment of substantial damages or settlement costs.

• Changes in statutory, regulatory, accounting, and other legal requirements, including changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, could
potentially impact our operating and financial results.

• Legislation and regulations requiring the display and provision of nutritional information for our menu offerings, and new information or attitudes regarding diet and
health or adverse opinions about the health effects of consuming our menu offerings, could affect consumer preferences and negatively impact our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

• Following the Business Combination, we have incurred significant increased expenses and administrative burdens as a public company, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure
• The Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”) with the Unitholders of Authentic Brands, LLC (“Authentic Brands”) requires us to make cash payments to them in respect of

certain tax benefits to which we may become entitled, and we expect that the payments we will be required to make could be substantial.
• The amounts that we may be required to pay under the TRA may be accelerated in certain circumstances and may also significantly exceed the actual tax savings that it

ultimately realizes.
• We are a public benefit corporation, and our focus on our public benefit company purpose may negatively impact our financial performance.
• Our status as a public benefit corporation could make our acquisition, which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult.
• As a public benefit corporation, we may be subject to increased derivative litigation concerning our duty to balance stockholder interests and the PBC Purpose, the

occurrence of which may have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.
• As a public benefit corporation, we are required to comply with various new reporting requirements, which, even if complied with, could result in harm to our reputation.
• Our only material assets are our direct and indirect interests in BRCC LLC, and we are accordingly dependent upon distributions from BRCC LLC to pay dividends and

taxes and other expenses.
• Delaware law, the Charter and the Bylaws contain certain provisions, including anti- takeover provisions that limit the ability of stockholders to take certain actions and

could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.
• The Charter designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated

by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees.
• Certain significant stockholders and Authentic Brands’ members whose interests may differ from those of our public stockholders following the Business Combination

have the ability to significantly influence our business and management.

Risks Related to an Investment in Our Securities
• We may issue additional shares of our Class A Common Stock or other equity securities without your approval, which would dilute your ownership interests and may

depress the market price of your shares.
• A significant portion of our shares of Class A Common Stock are available for immediate resale by certain existing shareholders and may be sold into the market in the

future. Sales of our Class A Common Stock by our existing shareholders may cause the market price of our Class A Common Stock to drop significantly, even if our
business is doing well.

• We are an emerging growth company within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if we take advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements available to
emerging growth companies, this could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to compare our performance with other public
companies.

• We are subject to rules and regulations regarding our internal control over financial reporting. Failure to establish and maintain effective internal controls in accordance
with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material adverse effect on our business.

• We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of NYSE rules and, as a result, we qualify for exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements. Our
stockholders do not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to such requirements.

• Our management has limited experience in operating a public company.
• Because there are no current plans to pay cash dividends on our Class A Common Stock for the foreseeable future, you may not receive any return on investment unless

you sell your Class A Common Stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.
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Part I
Item 1. Business

When used in this report, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “BRCC,” “Black Rifle Coffee,” “Black Rifle Coffee Company,” and the “Company” mean BRC Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries, collectively, unless the context requires otherwise.

Company Overview

Black Rifle Coffee Company is a rapidly growing Veteran-controlled and led coffee and media company that operates through three channels: Wholesale, Direct to
Consumer, and our Outposts. Our business started with a loyal and quickly expanding community of consumers through our DTC channel and we now have more than 225,800
active Coffee Club subscribers as of December 31, 2023. We are now experiencing rapid growth in our Wholesale channel as we have continued our expansion into grocery
stores, specialty stores, and other intermediaries. We have also experienced growth in our Outpost channel as we opened additional company owned stores and franchises in
2023.

At Black Rifle Coffee, we develop our roast profiles with the same mission focus we learned as military members serving our country. We produce creative and engaging
cause-related media content to inform, inspire, entertain, and build our community. We also sell Black Rifle Coffee-brand apparel, coffee brewing equipment, and outdoor and
lifestyle gear that our consumers proudly wear and use to showcase our brand. At the heart of everything we do is our commitment to supporting active duty military, Veterans,
first responders, and those who love America.

We utilize a three-pronged approach to craft a unique brand that resonates with our customer base and enhances brand loyalty: Inform, Inspire, and Entertain. We want our
audience to love coffee as much as we do, so we strive to inform them on all the awesome facets of coffee. Every day we work to inspire our customers; we take pride in the
coffee we roast, the Veterans we employ and the causes we support. We give back to the community and are committed to support those who serve.

To support our premium quality product, we own one roasting facility focused on large and small batch roasting. Our coffee beans are primarily roasted in-house and 100%
in the United States to ensure consistency and quality of product. Our coffee beans are sourced only from the highest quality suppliers. Our state-of-the-art equipment guarantees
freshness and offers significant capacity for expansion.

We continue to experience strong revenue growth. Revenue increased to $395.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $301.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022, and from $233.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing growth of 31.3% and 29.3%, respectively. Growth in 2023 was primarily
driven by expansion of our customer base, which was primarily due to increasing points of distribution in Wholesale, and new Outpost openings. Our entry into the Food, Drug
and Mass (“FDM”) market in collaboration with Walmart unlocks significant incremental opportunity to build brand awareness and ensures customers can purchase our
products in more places where they shop.

We are a digitally native brand with an established omnichannel business model, reaching our customers through one reportable segment that is comprised of three
channels. Our Wholesale channel includes products sold to an intermediary such as grocery stores, including the FDM customer set, such as Walmart, Specialty Retailers, such
as Bass Pro, and convenience stores which primarily sell our Ready-to-Drink (“RTD”) products, such as 7-Eleven. Our DTC channel includes our e-commerce business,
through which consumers order our products online and products are shipped to them. Our Outpost channel includes revenue from our Company-operated and franchised Black
Rifle Coffee retail coffee shop locations.

To meet the increasing popularity of our RTD, rounds, and bagged coffee, we rely on co-manufacturers to provide us with a portion of our production capacity.
Maintaining these relationships enables us to quickly scale the production of our products to meet consumer demands.

We also continue to expand by adding a number of partnership programs, including partnerships with social media influencers and sports teams. In July 2022, we
announced a partnership with the Dallas Cowboys that includes product placement at AT&T Stadium and in February 2024, we announced a three-year marketing partnership
with UFC.

Our Mission and Community

Our mission at BRCC is to serve premium coffee and content to active military, Veterans, first responders, and those who love America. We began with a simple premise 
— to provide a quality product while giving back to the Veteran, active military, and first responder communities through direct hiring, inspiring stories told through our media
channels
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and charitable donations. As a business founded and led by combat Veterans of the Global War on Terror, we are mission-driven: everything we do, every decision we make, is
in service of our mission which is intrinsically entwined with growth and maintenance of shareholder value.

BRCC was founded with a commitment to give back, which guided our decision to convert into a public benefit corporation. Unlike a traditional corporation, which
focuses upon maximizing shareholder value above all else, a public benefit corporation balances the shareholder interests for profit, against both the intended public benefit
purpose, and the interests of any stakeholders that are materially affected by the corporation’s conduct (i.e. employees, customers, and suppliers). At BRCC, our public benefit
purpose is to support the underserved active military, Veteran and first-responder communities.

In order to support such a broad public benefit purpose, we established several objectives: create meaningful post-service career opportunities for Veterans, first responders
and their families; donate resources to charities that support the needs of active military, Veterans, and first-responders; donate to charities focusing on mental health issues in
the Veteran community; inspire Veterans to become entrepreneurs through various programs and donations; and provide quality products and media relating to these
communities.

A large part of Black Rifle Coffee’s success is due to the outstanding work ethic and discipline of our Veteran employees. As a Veteran-founded and Veteran-controlled
company, we are committed to hiring Veterans and military spouses. We strive to provide opportunities to the military community that helped build us. This objective is
intended to help other service-members successfully transition from the military into private industry and in turn, contributes to a strong and cohesive culture at Black Rifle
Coffee Company dedicated to our people. Our aim is to have half of our new hires be Veterans and military spouses as we continue to expand our operations.

Our corporate giving is bolstered by our ability to donate directly to charities aligned with our public benefit purpose, coupled with our ability to donate directly from The
BRCC Fund to individuals and other organizations. The BRCC Fund is our 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization and its focus is on Veteran-related causes important to Black Rifle
Coffee.

Our Business

Black Rifle Coffee Company is a rapidly growing Veteran-controlled and led, coffee and media company that operates through three channels: Wholesale, DTC, and our
Outposts. Evan Hafer founded the Company in 2014 with a one-pound roaster in his garage, roasting, packaging, and shipping bagged coffee direct to consumers. Today, Black
Rifle Coffee operates out of facilities and offices in Salt Lake City, Utah; Manchester, Tennessee; and San Antonio, Texas, and offers over 20 varieties of roasted whole bean
and ground coffee, in addition to our RTD, single-serve, and instant coffee. Our historical performance reflects the scale and growth of our Company.

At Black Rifle Coffee, we develop our roast profiles with the same mission focus we learned as military members serving our country. We produce creative and engaging,
cause-related media content to inform, inspire, entertain, and build our community. We also sell BRCC-brand apparel, coffee brewing equipment, and outdoor and lifestyle gear
that our consumers proudly wear and use to showcase our brand. At the heart of everything we do is commitment to supporting active-duty military, Veterans, first responders,
and those who love America.

Our DTC platform has been the core of our business from day one starting with www.blackriflecoffee.com. It has enabled us to quickly become a large, recognizable, and
fast-growing beverage brand in the United States, while also allowing us to better understand our consumers and their preferences.

Our Wholesale channel complements our DTC sales. In our Wholesale channel, we sell packaged coffee at Walmart and FDM and RTD coffee in leading convenience,
grocery, and FDM merchandise retailers including Casey’s General Store, Circle K, Kum & Go, Speedway, 7-Eleven, Publix, HEB, Walmart, and Sam’s Club. We also sell
coffee, apparel, and gear through leading outdoor, DIY, and lifestyle retailers, including Bass Pro Shops, Scheels, and Ace Hardware, as well as other specialty retailers. Our
Wholesale channel generated $225.1 million of sales for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $119.4 million over the corresponding period in 2022, representing an
increase of 88.6%.

We offer a subscription service, our Coffee Club, through which DTC consumers can receive ground, whole bean, single serve, or apparel shipped to their home or office
as frequently as every fourteen days. Our Coffee Club subscribers have grown over the past five years to 225,800 as of December 31, 2023. We also sell coffee, apparel, instant
and RTD coffee, and gear online for individual purchase on a non-subscription basis. Our DTC channel generated $143.2 million of sales for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to $159.0 million over the corresponding period in 2022, representing a decrease of 9.9%. More than 60% of our 2023 DTC channel revenue came from
recurring subscriptions.
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We also operate and franchise Outposts. We believe our Outposts redefine the typical coffee shop experience, offering consumers an immersive environment in which to
enjoy a freshly brewed cup of high-quality coffee, stock up on Black Rifle Coffee merchandise and bagged coffee, and connect with members of the local community. We
opened our first Company-operated Outpost in 2020 in San Antonio, Texas. We are in the early stages of our nationwide growth, with thirty-six Outposts, of which eighteen
were Company-operated and eighteen were franchised across ten states, including Texas, Utah, Tennessee, Georgia, Virginia, Arizona, Oklahoma, Florida, South Carolina, and
Louisiana as of December 31, 2023. Our Outpost channel generated $27.3 million of sales for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $22.9 million over the
corresponding period in 2022 representing an increase of 19.2%.

Product Supply

The majority of our green coffee beans come from Colombia, Nicaragua, and Brazil, but since 2020, we have also sourced green coffee beans from over ten countries in
Latin America, Africa, and Asia to diversify our supply chain and offer our customers specialty and limited-time-only roasts. Quality control is also a critically important part of
our manufacturing and supply chain operations. Our coffee beans are primarily roasted in-house and 100% is roasted in the United States. A licensed, Coffee Quality Institute-
certified grader and former Green Beret leads cupping, grading, scoring, and sourcing of our coffees.

Competition

We are uniquely positioned to compete in the $45.0 billion coffee market across our at-home, RTD, and out-of-home coffee products and channels and against other high-
growth consumer businesses. Competition in our markets is based on factors such as product quality, roasting methods, brand recognition, and technology. We believe that we
have been able to compete successfully on the basis of our superior product, powerful media platform, emphasis on a mission-led lifestyle, a loyal customer base, and scalable
omnichannel strategy with a strong subscriber base. We roast the majority of our coffee beans in-house, and we consider our roasting methods essential to the quality of our
products. We believe that we serve a more attractive customer base than the broader coffee market, as our customers are more engaged with our brand. Our customers
consistently buy our branded merchandise in addition to coffee, proudly wear Black Rifle Coffee apparel, display Black Rifle Coffee banners and decals and proactively
recommend us to their friends, family, and others through social media and by word-of-mouth. We believe the emotional connection and brand advocacy of our consumers
helps fuel our growth and grants us the opportunity to expand our product offering.

In the RTD category we compete against established, well-known brands like Monster, private-label brands like Orinoco, and high-growth food and beverage companies
such as Celsius. The RTD and retort dairy businesses are highly competitive, with high barriers to entry, such as production and distribution.

In the out-of-home coffee category we compete against both well-known brands and also small local coffee shops. Longer-established out-of-home coffee competitors may
have greater brand recognition, and have substantially greater financial, technological, roasting, sale, distribution, and other resources. However, our entry into the FDM market
unlocks significant incremental opportunity to build brand awareness and ensures customers can purchase our products in more places where they shop. Our customers spend
more than the typical coffee buyer on a per-purchase basis due to merchandise and bagged coffee sales. This drives an attractive average order value of approximately $12 to
$13 at our Outposts.

Seasonality

Our business is subject to moderate seasonal fluctuations. The first quarter typically will experience lower revenues. In our DTC and Outpost revenue channels, we tend to
have higher revenues and cash flow during the holiday season in the fourth quarter. Results for any quarter will not necessarily be indicative of the results for a full fiscal year.

Human Capital

We have built a strong and cohesive culture centered around our mission of serving coffee and content, and our culture to active military, Veterans, first responders, and
those who love America. We are Veteran-controlled, and approximately 42% of our employees are Veterans or military spouses. Our goal is to maintain our current level of
Veteran hires as we expand our operations and further develop our omni-channel business model.

As of December 31, 2023, we employed 630 employees across locations in the United States. Of the 630 employees, 19 are focused in manufacturing, 345 are in corporate
or other administrative roles, and 266 are in roles at Outposts. In addition, we employ part-time and seasonal workers. We will continue to focus on hiring Veterans and first
responders and training our employees to provide the authentic Black Rifle Coffee Company experience in our Outpost locations.
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Employee Wellness

We promote health, wellness, and safety through a variety of means which include, but are not limited to, onsite employee training modules, external support such as
employee assistance programs and crisis counseling, and universal escalation procedures as it pertains to safety protocols.

Employee Development and Training

We believe that employee development and training is a shared relationship between the employee, their leadership team, and their HR business partner. As this is typically
not a one-size fits all approach, training and development plans are unique to the employee and their overall business unit.

Total Rewards Package

Our Total Rewards Package is comprehensive in the fact that it addresses each milestone of the employee life cycle. Those rewards include but are not limited to medical,
dental, vision, and voluntary coverages, as well as a variety of compensation rewards.

Intellectual Property

We own many registered trademarks and service marks in the United States, including the trademark for “Black Rifle Coffee Company,” and our word marks have been
registered in multiple classes of goods and services. We own a more limited subset of registered trademarks in jurisdictions outside the United States. Our most important
trademark might be our “BRCC” logo, which immediately identifies the brand. We believe that the Black Rifle Coffee Company name and all of its associated marks are of
significant value and importance to our business. As a general policy, we pursue registration and monitor the use of our marks in the United States and challenge unauthorized
users.

We license the use of our marks to franchise partners, third-party vendors, and others through franchise agreements, vendor agreements, and licensing agreements. These
agreements typically restrict third parties’ activities with respect to use of the marks and impose brand standards requirements. We require licensees to inform us of any
potential infringement of the marks.

We own a variety of copyrighted materials, chiefly in the form of original artwork presented on our bagged coffee. We rely on the protection of the United States Copyright
Act for the protection of our copyrighted works, and challenge unauthorized users both within and outside of the U.S.

Government Regulations

We are subject to extensive federal, state, and local government regulation, including those relating to, among others, public health and safety, food labeling and
advertising, food safety and manufacturing, zoning and fire codes, and franchising. Failure to comply with these regulations would adversely affect our activities manufacturing
and selling food. Failure to obtain or retain licenses and registrations or exemptions would adversely affect the operation of our Outposts and other properties. Although we have
not experienced and do not anticipate experiencing any significant problems obtaining required licenses, permits, or approvals, any difficulties, delays, or failures in obtaining
such licenses, permits, registrations, exemptions, or approvals could delay or prevent the opening of, or adversely impact the viability of, an Outpost shop in a particular area.
The development and construction of additional Outposts will be subject to compliance with the applicable zoning, land use, and environmental regulations.

Our franchising activities are subject to the rules and regulations of the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) and various state laws regulating the offer and sale of
franchises. The FTC’s franchise rules and various state laws require that we furnish a franchise disclosure document (“FDD”) containing certain financial information to
prospective franchise partners in a number of states. Additionally, certain states require registration of the FDD with state authorities. Substantive state laws that regulate the
franchise or franchise relationship exist in a substantial number of states, and bills have been introduced in Congress from time to time that would provide for federal regulation
of the franchisor-franchisee relationship. The state laws often limit, among other things, the duration and scope of non-competition provisions, the ability of a franchisor to
terminate or refuse to renew a franchise, and the ability of a franchise partner to designate sources of supply. We believe our FDD complies in all material aspects with both the
FTC franchise rules and all applicable state laws regulating franchising in those states in which we have franchises.

We are also subject to the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 and various federal and state laws governing such matters such as
minimum wage, overtime, employment tax rates, workers compensation rates, citizenship requirements, and other working conditions. A significant number of our personnel
are paid
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at rates related to the federal minimum wage. We are also subject to the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), which prohibits discrimination on the basis of a disability and
public accommodations in employment, which may require us to design or modify our facilities to make reasonable accommodations for disabled persons.

See Item 1A. Risk Factors. Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation for further information.

Environmental

We believe federal and state environmental regulations have not had a material effect on operations, but more stringent and varied requirements of local government bodies
with respect to zoning land use and environmental factors could delay construction and increase development costs for new facilities.

Business Combination and Organizational Structure

On February 9, 2022, we consummated a business combination (the “Business Combination”) by which BRC Inc. became the parent company of Authentic Brands,
pursuant to a business combination agreement dated November 21, 2021 and amended January 4, 2022 (the “Business Combination Agreement”). Authentic Brands is the direct
parent of Black Rifle Coffee Company, a Delaware limited liability company (“BRCC LLC”).

Following the completion of the Business Combination, our organizational structure is what is commonly referred to as an umbrella partnership C corporation (or Up-C)
structure. This organizational structure allows certain owners of Authentic Brands to retain their equity ownership in Authentic Brands, an entity that is classified as a
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, in the form of Common Units and Restricted Units of Authentic Brands. Each continuing owner of Authentic Brands also
holds a number of shares of Class B Common Stock in the Company equal to the number of Common Units held by such owner, which shares of Class B Common Stock have
no economic value, but which entitles the holder thereof to one vote per share at any meeting of our shareholders.

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly and current reports and other documents with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) that are publicly available free of charge on the
Investor Relations section of our website at https://ir.blackriflecoffee.com as soon as reasonably practicable after these materials are filed with or furnished to the SEC or at
www.sec.gov. The information on our website (or any webpages referenced in this Annual Report) is not part of this or any other report we file with, or furnish to, the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual
Report and other public statements we make are described below. Based on the information currently known to us, we believe that the matters discussed below identify the
material risk factors affecting our business. However, the risks and uncertainties we face are not limited to those described below. Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial, but that could later become material, may also adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our brand, including the quality of media content and active participation in the Veteran community, is core to our success, and damage to our brand or reputation and
negative publicity could negatively impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our reputation and the quality of our brand are critical to our business and success in existing markets and will be critical to our success as we enter new markets. Our brand
and authenticity in supporting the Veteran and military community is a core driver of our success. We promote our brand via media content and active participation in the
Veteran community through events, donations, and hiring commitments, but the continued success of such promotions cannot be guaranteed.

We have historically faced, and may from time to time be faced, with negative publicity, regardless of its accuracy, relating to our brand; our founders and our mission; our
charitable activities; our marketing; product quality; the safety, sanitation, and welfare of our facilities; customer complaints or litigation alleging illness or injury; health
inspection scores; integrity of our or our suppliers’ food processing, employment practices, and other policies, practices and procedures; employee relationships and welfare or
other matters; or public statements by our founders or other key employees and persons associated with our brand, including paid brand partners. Negative publicity may
adversely affect us, regardless of whether the allegations are substantiated or whether we are held to be responsible.
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Our brand has been in the past, and may be in the future, associated with controversial actions of certain customers of ours. For example, we have occasionally received
negative publicity from leading national media arising out of the presence of, among others, our logos and brands on apparel worn at certain publicized events, even when such
individuals were otherwise unaffiliated with us. The negative publicity and our reaction and communication related to such events has in the past resulted in losses to our direct-
to-consumer subscription service, the loss of investors, and the loss of Wholesale channel partners. There is no assurance that any such negative publicity will not occur again in
the future and harm our brand and reputation, regardless of our involvement in the publicized events.

Moreover, information posted on social media platforms may be adverse to our interests and/or may be inaccurate, each of which may harm our performance, prospects, or
business. The harm may be immediate without affording us an opportunity for redress or correction. Our brand has been viewed as polarizing, and we may be subject to
boycotts or other negative publicity by members of the public, investors, or other corporations who disagree with our mission or branding.

Furthermore, the negative impact of adverse publicity relating to one facility or retail coffee shop may extend far beyond the location involved, to affect some or all of our
other Outposts, including our franchise partner Outposts. The risk of negative publicity is particularly great with respect to our franchise partner Outposts because we are limited
in the manner in which we can regulate them, especially on a real-time basis, and negative publicity from our franchise partners’ Outposts may also significantly impact
Company-operated Outposts. A similar risk exists with respect to wholesale retail partners if customers mistakenly associate third party issues with our operations.

Employee claims against us based on, among other things, wage and hour violations, discrimination, harassment, or wrongful termination may also create not only legal
and financial liability, but also negative publicity that could adversely affect us and divert our financial and management resources that would otherwise be used to benefit the
future performance of our operations. These types of employee claims could also be asserted against us, on a co-employer theory, by employees of our franchise partners. A
significant increase in the number of these claims or an increase in the number of successful claims could harm our business.

Our content creation team often produces videos and other media depicting risky or dangerous activities, showcasing stunts and activities with firearms, skydiving,
motorsports, handling of explosives, military vehicles, “extreme” sports, marksmanships, and other themes pursuing the lifestyle associated with our brand and sometimes
involving certain of our employees and executive officers. While we take precautions to ensure the safety of all involved in creating this content, the activities carry an inherent
risk that cannot be eliminated. If any individual were to suffer serious harm while involved with one of our productions, this could lead to negative publicity and harm to the
brand and subject us to legal proceedings, for which we may not be adequately insured. See also “We depend on our founder, executive officers, and other key employees, and
the loss of one or more of these employees or an inability to attract and retain other highly skilled employees could harm our business.”

Additionally, there has been a marked increase in the use of social media platforms and similar devices, including blogs, social media websites, and other forms of internet-
based communications that provide individuals with access to a broad audience of consumers and other interested persons. The availability of information on social media
platforms is virtually immediate as is its impact. Many social media platforms immediately publish the content their subscribers and participants can post, often without filters
or checks on accuracy of the content posted. Information concerning us, whether accurate or not, may be posted on such platforms at any time. Our founders often appear in
unscripted and un-reviewed online publications, such as podcasts, over which we have little curation. Our founders have not had a history of appearing on podcasts while
representing a public company, and their statements on these public media platforms may change public perception about the brand and affect our market value.

Ultimately, the risks associated with any such negative publicity or incorrect information cannot be completely eliminated or mitigated and may harm our business.

Failure to maintain or enhance the value and reputation of our brand, including our support of the Veteran community, could have a negative impact on our financial
results.

We strongly believe that the authenticity of our brand and our mission is key to our customer affinity. Failure to maintain our brand or the authenticity of that brand,
including quality of media content and active participation in the Veteran community, could adversely impact our consumer resonance, brand perception, and financial
performance.

Business incidents, whether isolated or recurring and whether originating from us or our business partners, that erode consumer trust can significantly reduce brand value,
potentially trigger boycotts of our Outposts, or result in civil or criminal liability and can have a negative impact on our financial results. Most importantly, if our customers
perceive that we have abandoned or decreased the priority of our mission and our authenticity, in particular with respect to our support of the Veteran and military communities,
we could lose significant portions of our customer base and experience substantial harm to our reputation and our operating results. Other such incidents that could adversely
affect our business
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include actual or perceived breaches of privacy, contaminated products, employees or customers infected with communicable diseases such as COVID-19, product recalls,
controversial actions of persons identified with the brand, or other potential incidents discussed in this risk factors section. The impact of such incidents may be exacerbated if
they receive considerable publicity, including rapidly through social or digital media (including for malicious reasons) or result in litigation. Consumer demand for our products
and our brand equity could diminish significantly if we, our employees, franchise partners, or other business partners fail to preserve the quality of our products, act or are
perceived to act in an unethical, illegal, racially-biased, unequal, or socially irresponsible manner, including with respect to the sourcing, content or sale of our products, service
and treatment of customers at our Outposts, or the use of customer data for general or direct marketing or other purposes.

If we fail to comply with laws and regulations, publicly take controversial positions or actions, or fail to deliver a consistently positive consumer experience in each of our
markets, including by failing to invest in the right balance of wages and benefits to attract and retain employees that represent the brand well, our brand value may be
diminished. Additionally, if our in-house or contracted content creation platforms were to generate public controversy and a negative public response, this could result in a loss
of existing customers, difficulty attracting new customers, loss of business partnerships, and other adverse effects on us.

Moreover, our success depends in large part upon our ability to maintain our corporate reputation. For example, the reputation of our brand could be damaged by claims or
perceptions about the quality or safety of our ingredients or merchandise, the quality or reputation of our suppliers, distributors, or franchise partners, or by claims or perceptions
that we, our franchise partners, or other business partners have acted or are acting in an unethical, illegal, racially-biased, or socially irresponsible manner or are not fostering an
inclusive and diverse environment, regardless of whether such claims or perceptions are substantiated. Our corporate reputation could also suffer from negative publicity or
consumer sentiment regarding Company action or inaction or brand imagery, a real or perceived failure of corporate governance, or misconduct by any officer or any employee
or representative of us or a franchise partner. Any such incidents (even if resulting from actions of a competitor or franchise partner) could cause a decline directly or indirectly
in consumer confidence in, or the perception of, our brand and/or our products and reduce consumer demand for our products, which would likely result in lower revenue and
profits.

There has been an increased public focus, including from the United States federal and state governments, on environmental sustainability matters, including with respect
to climate change, greenhouse gases, water resources, packaging and waste, animal health and welfare, deforestation, and land use. We endeavor to conduct our business in a
manner which reflects our priority of sustainable stewardship, including with respect to environmental sustainability matters, and we are working to manage the risks and costs
to us, our franchise partners, and our supply chain associated with these types of environmental sustainability matters. In addition, as the result of such heightened public focus
on environmental sustainability matters, we may face increased pressure to provide expanded disclosure, make or expand commitments, set targets, or establish additional goals
and take actions to meet such goals, in connection with such environmental sustainability matters. These matters and our efforts to address them could expose us to market,
operational, reputational, and execution costs or risks.

Our growth strategy depends on the successful execution of our strategic initiatives, and our limited operating history may make it difficult to evaluate future risks and
challenges.

We were founded as a digitally native coffee brand in 2014, and have expanded into a number of growth channels, including, but not limited to, wholesale retailers,
merchandise sales, franchised and Company-operated retail locations, and RTD products. Sales in our Wholesale channel increased to $225.1 million in 2023 from $119.4
million in 2022. As several of these growth channels are still in the early stages of development, it may be difficult to anticipate risks, including, but not limited to, those
associated with the following: revenue generation and key operating expenses; customer retention and acquisition; evolving or changing consumer preferences; product
development and innovation; logistics and supply chain management; and all laws and regulations that may apply to each business line. Additionally, we have historically
prioritized, and may in the future continue to prioritize, growth over profitability.

As part of our long-term strategy, we intend to grow our market share and revenue through various initiatives, including, but not limited to: continued growth of our direct
to consumer sales through online channels; growth of our Wholesale and RTD channel including expansion of distribution channels, velocity growth, and product innovation;
and growth of our Outpost business including opening new Company-operated and franchised Outposts, driving sales growth at existing Outpost locations, and developing new
digital platforms such as digital ordering and loyalty programs for customers at our Outpost locations. If we are unable to execute our strategic initiatives, our growth may slow
or stop, and our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

Even if we are successful in growing the market share of new channels, those new channels could cannibalize the market share of our existing channels, resulting in lower
growth than anticipated. For example, over the last few years we have added a significant number of Wholesale doors, including through our entry into the FDM market in
collaboration
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with Walmart, and a portion of our customer base that previously purchased our products through our DTC channel now purchase our products through our retail partners.
Depending on the terms of our arrangements with our retail partners, our margins may be lower on sales through the Wholesale channel as compared to the DTC channel.
Conversely, more aggressive discounts, loyalty programs or online advertising for our DTC channel may result in our customers making more of their purchases through our
DTC channel, but at a lower margin compared to our Wholesale and Outpost channels. There can be no assurance that sales cannibalization will not occur or become more
significant in the future as we increase our presence in existing markets.

We have already invested, and intend to further invest, significant resources to support the entry into and rapid growth of these and other new revenue channels. These
investments have significantly reduced our short-term profitability. In addition to product development and innovation costs, we have incurred significant expense to expand the
number of retailers carrying our products. We believe that these investments will support growth in our business lines and generally enhance the products we can provide to our
consumers. However, there can be no guarantee that these investments will provide substantial improvement to our operations or profitability, and failure to recognize
improvement from these investments would result in significant outlays of resources without realizing substantial benefits.

We have a limited operating history, and our past financial results may not be indicative of our future performance. Further, our revenue growth rate may slow as our
business matures.

We have a limited history of generating revenue, in particular with respect to our largest Wholesale partners, RTD products and our Outpost locations. As a result of our
short operating history, we have limited financial data that can be used to evaluate our current business. Therefore, our historical revenue growth should not be considered
indicative of our future performance. Estimates of future revenue growth are subject to many risks and uncertainties and our future revenue may differ materially from our
projections.

To effectively manage and capitalize on our growth, we must continue to expand our sales and marketing, focus on innovative product and content development, upgrade
our information management systems and other processes, and continue to hire and retain employees. Our continued growth could strain our existing resources, and we could
experience ongoing operating difficulties in managing our business across numerous jurisdictions, including difficulties in hiring, training, and managing a diffuse and growing
employee base. Failure to scale and preserve our company culture with growth could harm our future success, including our ability to retain and recruit personnel and to
effectively focus on and pursue our corporate objectives. We cannot be sure that we will be successful in addressing these and other challenges we may face in the future, and
our business may be adversely affected if we do not manage these risks successfully. In addition, we may not achieve sufficient revenue to attain or maintain positive cash flows
from operations or profitability in any given period, or at all.

Our marketing programs may not be successful, resulting in harm to our financial results.

Attracting new end users, and retaining existing end users, is important to the success of our business. We incur costs and expend other resources in our marketing efforts
on new products or merchandise and advertising campaigns to raise brand awareness and attract and retain customers. Our approach to marketing, advertising, and branding is
often novel and some campaigns may be significantly more successful than others. If any initiatives do not succeed, we may incur expenses without the benefit of higher
revenue.

Additionally, some of our competitors have greater financial resources than we do, which enables them to spend significantly more on marketing and advertising and other
initiatives than we can. Should our competitors increase spending on marketing and advertising and other initiatives or our marketing funds decrease for any reason, or should
our advertising, promotions, and new menu items be less effective than our competitors, there could be an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Failure to attract new or retain existing customers, or failure to do so in a cost-effective manner, may result in an inability to increase sales and financial harm to our
business.

Our new products or merchandise may not generate increased sales or profits.

We have devoted, and will continue to devote in the future, significant resources to launch and promote new products to serve broader customer demand, adapt to changes
in markets trends, and account for shifts in customer preferences. However, certain of our product launches have not been adopted by our customers as readily as anticipated,
and we may not be successful in implementing our distribution strategy, developing innovative new products, or creating products that are successful with consumer
preferences. To the extent that we are not able to effectively gauge the direction of our key markets and successfully identify, develop, and promote new or improved products
in the changing market, our operating results could suffer. These risks extend to the implementation of new lines of business or product categories.
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Failure to properly expand into new channels or introduce different product types could result in significant expenditures without increased revenue.

Developing new products and introducing them into wholesale retailers, convenience stores, and our direct to consumer platforms is an expensive and time-consuming
process. Not only are research and development expensive investments, there is also no guarantee that our co-manufacturing partners or distribution networks will fully
cooperate in producing or promoting our new products. Launching new products at commercial convenience stores, for example, requires lead time. Long lead times may make
it more difficult for us to respond rapidly to new or changing product trends or consumer preferences. Launching a new product, or an existing product to new stores, may also
require initial “free fills” of shelves, which increases the costs of introducing new products and could adversely impact our operating results if the new product is not successful.

The loss of one or more of our primary Wholesale partners, or a significant adverse change in a primary Wholesale partner’s financial position, could negatively impact
our net sales and profitability.

We generate a material percentage of our Wholesale sales, which was 57% of our net sales in 2023, from a few primary Wholesale partners. Our largest primary Wholesale
partner represented 26% of our consolidated net sales in 2023, and the failure to increase or maintain our sales with this primary Wholesale partner would have a negative
impact on our growth prospects and any decrease or loss of this primary Wholesale partner’s business could result in a decrease in our net sales and operating income if we are
unable to capture these sales through our DTC operations or other Wholesale accounts. Over the last several years, large retailers have faced increased competition from online
competitors, declining sales and profitability and tightened credit markets, resulting in store closures, bankruptcies and financial restructurings. Restructuring of our primary
Wholesale partner’s operations, store closures or increased direct sourcing by consumers could negatively impact our net sales and profitability.

We also extend credit to most of our primary Wholesale partners without requiring collateral, which results in a large amount of receivables from just a few Wholesale
partners. A significant adverse change in a primary Wholesale partner’s financial position or ability to satisfy its obligations to us could cause us to limit or discontinue business
with that Wholesale partner, in some cases after we have already made product purchase commitments for inventory; require us to assume greater credit risk relating to that
Wholesale partner’s receivables; or limit our ability to collect amounts related to shipments to that Wholesale partner. In addition, a decision by one or more of our primary
Wholesale partners to terminate its relationship with us or to reduce its purchases, whether motivated by competitive considerations, a change in desired product assortment,
quality issues, financial difficulties, economic conditions or otherwise, could also adversely affect our business.

We are subject to risks associated with using social media as a primary form of advertisement and customer engagement.

Our in-house content creation platform represents a significant portion of our marketing. Our content creation team primarily uses third party social media platforms
mentioned below to engage with customers. In addition to company accounts and accounts associated with key employees, such as our founder and co-founder, Evan Hafer and
Mat Best, respectively, we rely on key non-employee influencers to drive online traffic and promote our brand. These relationships and agreements with non-employee
influencers are often informal and cannot be closely controlled, and uncompensated individuals with whom we have no formal or informal relationship often support our brand
publicly, which support is important to our reputation. Any actions or any public statements or social media posts about us or our products by non-employees that are contrary
to our values, are critical of our brand, or create public controversy could negatively affect consumer perception of our brand and adversely affect our business. Furthermore, if
non-employees cease publishing content supporting us on their social media platforms for any reason, our online presence may decrease and our operating results may suffer.

Additionally, we rely on third party social media platforms, such as Facebook, Instagram, YouTube, Google, and others, to generate new customers and to engage with
existing customers. As existing social media platforms evolve and new platforms develop, we must continue to maintain a presence on current and emerging platforms. If we
are unable to cost-effectively use social media platforms as marketing tools, our ability to acquire new customers may suffer. Moreover, social media and other online
platforms often revise their algorithms and introduce new advertising products. If one of the platforms upon which we rely for customer engagement were to modify its general
methodology for how it displays our advertisements or keyword search results, resulting in fewer customers clicking through to our websites or coming across our content, our
business may suffer.

For example, in 2021, Apple made certain changes to its products and data use policies in connection with changes to its iOS operating system that reduce our ability to
target and measure advertising. Because of these changes, the efficacy of our digital and social channels has decreased and may decrease further in the future, increasing our
cost to acquire
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customers. We may not be able to acquire customers in an as cost effective manner as a result of these changes and other competitive factors, which could adversely affect our
financial results.

Furthermore, our advertising, including claims made by sponsored third parties, must be truthful and not misleading, and such parties are required to disclose the sponsored
nature of their post in accordance with the guidance from the FTC. As laws and regulations governing the use of these platforms evolve, any failure by us or third parties acting
at our direction to abide by applicable laws and regulations in the use of these platforms could subject us to regulatory investigations, class action lawsuits, liability, fines,
suspension or removal from such platform, or other penalties and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results. An increase in the use of social media
for product promotion and marketing may cause an increase in the burden on us to monitor compliance of such content and increase the risk that such content could contain
problematic product or marketing claims in violation of applicable regulations.

If we fail to offer a high-quality customer experience, our business and reputation will suffer.

Numerous factors may impact a customer’s experience which may in turn impact the likelihood of such customer returning. Those factors include customer service,
convenience, taste, price, quality, location of our Outposts, and brand image. In addition to providing high quality products, we place a strong emphasis on supporting the
Veteran and military community and providing inspiring and entertaining media. Any failure to meet customer expectations concerning our Veteran and military support by our
retail coffee locations, managers, and other employees may result in negative customer experiences that adversely affect customer retention.

Our current operations are highly dependent on the financial performance of our DTC and Wholesale channels, and reliance on third party logistics, as well as other risks,
could negatively impact our business.

Our financial performance is highly dependent on our DTC and Wholesale channels, with the DTC channel providing approximately 36.2% and 52.8% of our revenue in
2023 and 2022, respectively, and our Wholesale channel providing approximately 56.9% and 39.6% of our revenue in 2023 and 2022, respectively. If the DTC revenue trends
continue to slow or decline or if the Wholesale channel revenue trends slow or decline, our other sources of revenues may be unable to make up any significant shortfall and our
business and financial results could be adversely affected.

We experienced a decrease in revenue from our DTC channel in 2023 compared to 2022 as customer acquisition costs significantly increased and we shifted marketing
investments into other channels with greater returns. Revenue from our DTC channel may continue to decline as customer acquisition costs remain high and locations to
purchase our products increase from the expansion in other channels. Any significant slowdown or decline in our DTC business could result in reduced cash flows.

Our business and revenue growth is dependent on our ability to continuously attract and retain subscribers, and we cannot be sure that we will be successful in these efforts,
or that subscriber retention levels will not materially decline. Furthermore, in the future, we may offer new subscription products, implement promotions, or replace or modify
current subscription models, any of which could result in additional costs. It is unknown how our subscribers will react to price increases or new models and whether the costs
or logistics of implementing these models will adversely impact our business. If the adoption of new revenue models adversely impacts our subscriber relationships, then
subscriber growth, subscriber engagement, and our business, financial condition, and operating results could be harmed.

Our DTC and Wholesale business’ success depends on third party logistics. We currently work with parties in the United States to store, ship, and otherwise support our
distribution of products to our customers and retail partners. Our ability to meet customer and retail partner expectations, manage inventory, complete sales, and achieve
objectives for operating efficiencies and growth depends on the proper operation of these third parties’ distribution facilities, the development or expansion of additional
distribution capabilities, and the timely performance of services by third parties. If we continue to add third party logistics providers, require them to expand their fulfillment,
distribution, or warehouse capabilities, expand to new locations, add products categories with different fulfillment requirements, or change the mix of products we sell, our
logistics and distribution network will become increasingly complex and its operation will become more challenging for us and our third party logistics providers. Additionally,
as part of our Wholesale channel model, we rely on a network of brokers and distributors to grow and manage our sales. These networks assist in expanding our brand’s reach
and ensuring the efficient distribution of our products to our retail partners. If these networks, for any reason, cannot properly or efficiently support our products distribution,
our operating results and business may suffer. The third party logistics providers and distribution networks that we rely upon could be interrupted by issues beyond our control,
including, but not limited to, information technology problems, natural disasters, pandemics, government regulation, or supply chain issues. Any significant failure in our third
party logistics providers to operate effectively could adversely affect our business. In addition, we may be required to expand our capacity sooner than we anticipate. If we are
unable to expand existing or secure new third party logistics providers to meet our future needs, our order fulfillment and shipping times may be delayed and our business,
financial condition, and operating results may suffer.
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Our business relies on co-manufacturer and third party suppliers to supply our products, and loss of our co-manufacturer, our failure to identify new co-manufacturers, or
inability to accurately forecast and contract for our co-manufacturing and raw materials needs could harm our business and impede our growth.

We rely on co-manufacturers to provide us with a significant portion of our production capacity, in particular with our RTD products, and certain suppliers to supply
various components of co-manufactured products, such as dairy and aluminum cans, and to a lesser extent our at-home coffee products, such as whole bean and ground bagged
coffee. Our co-manufacturers have been integral in the development of our products, and we have recently in-housed the sales and marketing efforts concerning RTD products.
Failure by us to maintain our relationship with our co-manufacturers or failure to successfully in-house our sales and marketing efforts for these products could adversely affect
our operating results. The terms of our co-manufacturing agreements vary, and some of these arrangements are short-term or based on purchase orders, while others do and will
in the future commit us to significant purchases over a number of years. Volumes produced under these agreements can fluctuate significantly based upon the product’s life
cycle, product promotions, alternative production capacity, and other factors, none of which are under our direct control. The terms of an expired agreement with our broker are
currently being negotiated in the context of historical arrangements, about which there are certain disagreements. Any dispute with our broker could result in further litigation in
the future. An adverse outcome to any such dispute could harm our business.

If, for any reason, our co-manufacturer or raw material suppliers cannot fulfill their obligations, our co-manufacturer faces an enforcement action by FDA or is otherwise
unable to manufacture our products, or a contract with a co-manufacturer is terminated, or if our needs are less than we have contracted for, our business may suffer. We have
historically experienced meaningful variability of our needs for co-manufacturing and various components of co-manufactured goods, and if we do not effectively manage those
arrangements or if our forecasting is not accurate, we may experience expiring stock of co-manufactured products, or excess commitments to purchase co-manufactured
finished goods and/or components of co-manufactured goods, including aluminum cans and perishable ingredients, resulting in either excess inventory or “take or pay”
payments, which we have historically experienced. Any charges related to the write off of excess inventories could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating
results, and financial condition. The Company is negotiating with suppliers to amend or terminate certain purchase agreements. The Company has incurred losses during 2023
and if negotiations to amend or terminate the agreements are not successful, the Company may incur losses in future periods, including during 2024.

In addition, we may face risks related to payment terms, arrangements, and due dates with respect to our co-manufacturer, suppliers, or other vendors due to liquidity
concerns or restrictive covenants imposed by our credit facilities. In the event that we are unable to timely pay our co-manufacturer, suppliers, or other vendors we may damage
the relationship with such third parties, and may suffer future harm to business operations in the event that such third parties terminate their service arrangements with the
Company. The loss of our co-manufacturer, suppliers, or other vendors could disrupt our business and affect our quality, cost, and availability of products, which could have an
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

If we need to replace a co-manufacturer or supplier of goods for co-manufactured products, there can be no assurance that additional capacity will be available in a timely
manner and in the quantities required, that our quality control requirements will be met, that we will be able to utilize the product formulas or other intellectual property
developed with the co-manufacturer, or that the commercial terms of a replacement will be favorable. If we fail to replace a co-manufacturer or supplier, we may be required to
reduce our overall production, or increase our production by a smaller amount than forecasted, which could result in loss of sales and reputational harm. Further, an interruption
in, or the loss or reduction of operations at, our co-manufacturing facility, which may be caused by work stoppages, contamination, disease outbreaks, terrorism, natural
disasters, regulatory restrictions or enforcement, or any other reason, could delay, postpone, or reduce production of our products, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business until such time as such interruption is resolved or an alternate source of production is secured.

We believe there are a limited number of high-quality co-manufacturers and suppliers that can meet our pricing requirements and quality control standards. As we seek to
obtain additional or alternative co-manufacturing arrangements in the future, there can be no assurance that we would be able to do so on satisfactory terms, in a timely manner,
or at all. The loss of our co-manufacturer, any disruption or delay at our co-manufacturer, or any failure to identify and engage co-manufacturers to increase production
capacity, could delay or postpone the production of our products or reduce our overall production capacity, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
operating results, and financial condition.

We strongly rely upon our Wholesale channel partners. If we cannot maintain good relationships with customers and distributors, our Wholesale revenue channel may be
harmed.

Our wholesale relationships are important to our operations. We sell our coffee products, merchandise, and other products through outlets, dealers, and distributors, such as
Walmart, Bass Pro Shop, Scheels, Ace Hardware, and other
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retailers. Certain wholesale locations may include significant signage and advertising for our brand, and we rely on these locations to effectively advertise and present our
products. Our business could be adversely impacted if our Wholesale channel partners face declines in customer traffic, declines in consumer spending, litigation, temporary or
sustained store closures, or other business disruptions, including but not limited to supply chain disruptions or inventory management issues. Our business could also be
adversely impacted if we fail to grow sales of our RTD, coffee, and merchandise products through Wholesale channels, including flat or declining number of outlets and
retailers offering our products, flat or declining sales velocity in these channels, and failure to expand through new retail partnerships and outlets selling our products or newly
launched products. Further, the purchasing power of current or potential large Wholesale channel partners is significant, and they have the ability to command concessions,
which have and may in the future reduce our profitability substantially and expose us to greater liability under the terms of our agreements with such partners. There can be no
assurance that the distributors and retailers will purchase our products or provide our products with adequate levels of promotional and merchandising support. The need to
make significant concessions to retain one or more such Wholesale channel partners or the failure to maintain or further develop these business relationships could result in
harm to our business and results of operations.

Additionally, we may not be able to fully control the actions of our Wholesale channel partners. Unsatisfactory service or misconduct by our Wholesale channel partners,
or their failure to comply with statutory or regulatory requirements, may harm our business or brand reputation. Unilateral decisions by our Wholesale channel partners to
discontinue carrying all or any of our products that they are carrying at any time, restrict the range of our products they carry, impose restrictions or limitations on the sale of
our products, or devote less resources to the sale of our products could also cause our business to suffer. Our Wholesale channel partners may also not fulfill their obligations
under our agreements, adversely affecting our business.

Interruption of our supply chain of coffee, store supplies, or merchandise could affect our ability to produce or deliver our products and could negatively impact our
business and profitability.

We roast the majority of our self-produced coffee beans in-house at our Manchester, TN facility. We use our co-manufacturer for certain outsourced coffee roasting. We
also contract with other suppliers and manufacturers to procure supplies, equipment, and other materials and products. Any material interruption in our supply chain, such as
material interruption of the supply of coffee beans, coffee machines and other restaurant equipment, merchandise, apparel, or packaging for our proprietary products could have
a negative material impact on our business and our profitability. Disruptions could occur due to the casualty loss of our roasting plant, interruptions in service by our third party
logistics service providers or common carriers that ship goods within our distribution channels, trade restrictions, such as increased tariffs, quotas, or placement of a foreign
supplier on an FDA import alert, increased prices to postage and shipping, embargoes or customs restrictions, pandemics, social or labor unrest, weather or natural disasters,
political disputes and military conflicts, or other potential incidents. Additionally, we rely on our domestic and international business partners to provide high quality products
and to comply with applicable laws. If production at our Manchester, TN facility is disrupted, we would have to leverage our co-manufacturing network in order to make up for
this lost capacity. We also do not have sufficient agreements in place with third parties to roast our coffee in the event that our Manchester, TN facility were to become
inoperable and we would have to negotiate for additional capacity to cover any potential lost capacity. We are currently in the process of expanding our Manchester, TN facility,
and failure to successfully implement that expansion could have a negative impact on our business.

Increases in the cost of high-quality coffee beans or other commodities or decreases in the availability of high-quality coffee beans or other commodities could have an
adverse impact on our business and financial results.

The availability and prices of coffee beans and other commodities are subject to significant volatility. We purchase, roast and sell high-quality whole bean coffee beans and
related coffee products. The high-quality coffee we seek tends to trade on a negotiated basis at a premium above the “C” price. This premium depends upon the supply and
demand at the time of purchase and the amount of the premium can vary significantly. Increases in the “C” coffee commodity price increase the price of high-quality coffee and
also impact the pricing of our fixed-price purchase commitments. We frequently enter into supply contracts whereby the quality, quantity, delivery period and other negotiated
terms are agreed upon, but the base “C” coffee commodity price component has not yet been established and will be determined per the coffee commodity calendar.

The supply and price of coffee we purchase can also be affected by multiple factors in the producing countries, such as weather (including the potential effects of climate
change), natural disasters, crop disease, general increase in farm inputs and costs of production, inventory levels, political and economic conditions, and the actions of certain
organizations and associations that have historically attempted to influence prices of green coffee through agreements establishing export quotas or by restricting coffee
supplies. Speculative trading in coffee commodities can also influence coffee prices. Because of the significance of coffee beans to our operations, combined with our ability to
only partially mitigate future price risk through purchasing practices, increases in the cost of high-quality coffee beans could have a material adverse impact on our profitability.
In addition, if we are not able to purchase sufficient quantities of green coffee due to any of the
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above factors or to a worldwide or regional shortage, our ability to find other green coffee with the same profiles that deliver the same experience to our consumers may be
impacted, which could have a material adverse impact on our profitability.

Increases in the cost of dairy products and other commodities, such as petroleum which in turn may increase the cost of our packing materials, or lack of availability,
whether due to supply shortages, delays or interruptions in processing, or otherwise, especially in international markets, could harm our business.

We have entered into certain forward purchase contracts for coffee beans, which include fixed price arrangements with set time periods for market-based increases. By
entering into these commercial contracts, we attempt to mitigate the adverse effects of unexpected market-price increases. For example, we agreed to rates in 2023 that are lower
than the current future prices of green coffee beans. However, if future prices were to decline below our contracted prices, we are contractually obligated to pay the higher rates.

Our financial condition and results of operations are dependent upon consumer discretionary spending, and a number of economic or political conditions, largely outside
our control, may adversely affect that spending and as such our results may fluctuate significantly and may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business.

Our results of operations and key metrics may vary significantly in the future as they have in the past, and period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations and key
metrics may not be meaningful. Accordingly, the results of any one quarter should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance. Our results of operations are
subject to seasonal variations, and key metrics may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control, and thus, may not fully reflect the
underlying performance of our business. Fluctuations in results may negatively impact the value of our securities. Factors that may cause fluctuations in our results of
operations and key metrics include, without limitation, those listed elsewhere in this Risk Factors section and those listed below. Any one or more of the factors listed below or
described elsewhere in this section could harm our business:

• fluctuations in the cost and availability of real estate, labor, raw materials, equipment, shipping;
• pricing pressure;
• consumer preferences, including those described above;
• money available to consumers for discretionary purchases, which may be affected by job losses, inflation, higher taxes, changes in federal economic policy, or other

macroeconomic or political factors;
• severe weather or other natural or man-made disasters affecting a large market or several closely located markets that may temporarily but significantly affect our

business in such markets;
• especially in our large markets, labor discord or disruption, geopolitical events, social unrest, war, terrorism, political instability, acts of public violence, boycotts,

hostilities and social unrest and other health pandemics that lead to avoidance of public places or cause people to stay at home; and
• adverse outcomes of litigation.

Additionally, certain public entities have recently experienced extreme volatility in the market prices and trading volume of their common stock. This extreme volatility
seems to be unrelated to the underlying business of these entities, their market performance, or the macro or industry fundamentals of these entities. These extreme market
fluctuations have been accompanied by reports of strong and atypical retail investor interest, including on social media and online forums, and it is unclear how long this
volatility will last. Due to our customer base, online presence, and reputation, among other factors, our Class A Common Stock may be subject to similar market volatility in
the future not necessarily related to the performance of our business.

We may not be able to compete successfully with other producers and retailers of coffee. Intense competition in our markets could make it more difficult to expand our
business and could also have a negative impact on our operating results if customers favor our competitors or we are forced to change our pricing and other marketing
strategies.

The specialty coffee market is intensely competitive, including with respect to product quality, innovation, service, convenience, such as store location, delivery service,
mobile ordering, and price. We face significant and increasing competition in all these areas in each of our channels and markets. If we cannot compete successfully with other
entities in the market, we could lose customers and our revenue could decline. We expect competition in this market to continue to be intense as we compete on a variety of
fronts, including, without limitation, anticipating and responding to changing consumer demands in a timely manner; establishing and maintaining favorable brand-name
recognition; achieving and maintaining product quality; hiring and retaining key employees; maintaining and growing market share; developing quality and differentiated
products that appeal to consumers; establishing and maintain acceptable relationships with Wholesale customers; pricing products appropriately; optimizing roasting and supply
chain capabilities; and protecting intellectual property.
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Compared to us, some of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technological, roasting, sale, marketing, distribution, and other resources, have been in
business longer, have greater brand recognition, or are better established in the markets where our products are located or are planned to be located. Their greater capabilities in
these areas may enable them to compete more effectively on the basis of price, more quickly develop new products, and more easily withstand increasing costs. The general
availability of coffee roasting also allows new entrants easy access to the markets in which we compete, which may increase the number of competitors. Any of these
competitive factors may adversely affect our business.

Additionally, if our competitors begin to evolve their business strategies and adopt aspects of our business model, such as our subscription model and innovative content
and branding, including Veteran and first-responder-focused branding -- certain examples of which exist -- our customers may be drawn to those competitors for their beverage
needs and our business could be harmed.

Our growth strategy depends in part on opening new Outposts in existing and new markets. We may be unsuccessful in opening new Outposts or establishing new markets,
which could adversely affect our growth.

As of December 31, 2023, we have thirty-six Outposts across ten states, of which eighteen were Company-operated and eighteen were franchised. A component of our
growth strategy is opening new Outposts and operating them on a profitable basis. We opened our first Company-operated Outpost in 2020, with the remainder opening in 2021
through 2023. Our ability to open new Outposts is dependent upon a number of factors, many of which are beyond our control, including our and our franchise partners’ ability
to:

• identify available and suitable sites, specifically for drive-thru locations;
• compete for such sites;
• reach acceptable agreements regarding the lease of locations;
• obtain or have available the financing required to acquire and operate an Outpost, including construction and opening costs, which includes access to build-to-suit leases

and ground lease construction arrangements;
• respond to unforeseen engineering or environmental problems with leased premises;
• avoid the impact of inclement weather, natural disasters and other calamities;
• hire, train and retain the skilled management and other employees necessary to meet staffing needs;
• obtain, in a timely manner and for an acceptable cost, required licenses, permits and regulatory approvals and respond effectively to any changes in local, state or federal

law and regulations that adversely affect our and our franchise partners’ costs or ability to open new Outposts; and
• control construction and equipment cost increases for new Outposts and secure the services of qualified contractors and subcontractors in an increasingly competitive

environment.

There is no guarantee that a sufficient number of suitable sites for new Outposts will be available in desirable areas or on terms that are acceptable to us in order to achieve
our growth plan, and competition for high quality sites is significant. If we are unable to open new Outposts, or if existing franchise partners do not open new Outposts, or if
planned openings are significantly delayed, our revenue or earnings growth could be adversely affected and our business may be harmed.

As part of our medium term growth strategy, we may enter into geographic markets in which we have little or no prior operating experience. The challenges of entering new
markets include: adapting to local regulations or restrictions that may limit our ability to open new Outposts, restrict the use of certain branding or increase the cost of
development; difficulties in hiring experienced personnel; unfamiliarity with local real estate markets and demographics; consumer unfamiliarity with our brand; and different
competitive and economic conditions, consumer tastes and discretionary spending patterns that are more difficult to predict or satisfy than in our existing markets. Consumer
recognition of our brand has been important in the success of our Outposts in our existing markets, and we will need to build this recognition in new markets. Outposts we open
in new markets may take longer to reach expected sales and profit levels on a consistent basis and may have higher construction, occupancy and operating costs than existing
Outposts, thereby affecting our overall profitability. Any failure on our part to recognize or respond to these challenges may adversely affect the success of any new Outposts.

Due to brand recognition and logistical synergies, as part of our growth strategy, we also intend to open new Outposts in areas where we have existing Outposts. The
operating results and comparable Outpost sales could be adversely affected due to close proximity with our other Outposts and market saturation.

New Outposts, once opened, may not be profitable or may close, and the increases in average per Outpost revenue and comparable sales that we have experienced in the
past may not be indicative of future results.

Our results have been, and in the future may continue to be, significantly impacted by the timing of new Outpost openings, which is subject to a number of factors, many of
which are outside of our control, including: landlord delays; associated pre-opening costs and operating inefficiencies; and changes in our geographic concentration due to the
opening

21



Table of Contents

of new Outposts. We have typically incurred the most significant portion of pre-opening expenses associated with a given Outpost within the three months preceding the
opening of the Outpost. Our experience has been that labor and operating costs associated with a newly opened shop for the first several months of operation are materially
greater than what can be expected after that time, both in aggregate dollars and as a percentage of sales. Our new Outposts commonly take three months or more to reach
planned operating levels due to inefficiencies typically associated with new Outposts, including the training of new personnel, new market learning curves, inability to hire
sufficient qualified staff, and other factors. We may incur additional costs in new markets, particularly for transportation and distribution, which may impact sales and the
profitability of those Outposts. Accordingly, the volume and timing of new Outpost openings may have a material adverse impact on our profitability.

Although we target specified operating and financial metrics, we have experienced that new Outposts may never meet these targets or may take longer than anticipated to
do so. Any new Outpost we open may never become profitable or achieve operating results similar to those of our existing Outposts, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition, or results of operations.

Some of our Outposts open with an initial start-up period of higher than normal sales volumes and related costs, which subsequently decrease to stabilized levels. In new
markets, the length of time before average sales for new Outposts stabilize is less predictable and can be longer as a result of our limited knowledge of these markets and
consumers’ limited awareness of our brand. In addition, our volume and comparable sales may not increase at the rates achieved over the past several years. Our ability to
operate new Outposts profitably and increase average Outpost revenue and comparable Outpost sales will depend on many factors, some of which are beyond our control,
including:

• consumer awareness and understanding of our brand;
• general economic conditions, which can affect Outpost traffic, local labor costs, and prices we pay for the products and other supplies we use;
• consumption patterns and beverage preferences that differ from region to region;
• changes in consumer preferences and discretionary spending, including in connection with broader economic concerns;
• difficulties obtaining or maintaining adequate relationships with distributors or suppliers in new markets;
• increases in prices for commodities, including coffee, milk, and flavored syrups;
• inefficiency in our labor costs as the staff gains experience;
• competition, either from our competitors in the beverage industry or our other Outposts;
• temporary and permanent site characteristics of new Outposts;
• changes in government regulation; and
• other unanticipated increases in costs, any of which could give rise to delays or cost overruns.

If our new Outposts do not perform as planned or close, our business and future prospects could be harmed. In addition, an inability to achieve our expected average
Outpost revenue could harm our business.

Our failure to manage our growth effectively could harm our business and operating results.

We have experienced rapid growth and increased demand for our products. The growth and expansion of our business and products may place a significant strain on our
management, operational and financial resources. As we expand our business, it is important that we continue to maintain a high level of customer service and satisfaction
which may place a significant strain on our management, sales and marketing, administrative, financial, and other resources. We may not be able to respond in a timely basis to
all the changing demands that our planned expansion will impose on management and on our existing infrastructure, or be able to hire or retain the necessary management and
employees, which could harm our business. Failure to accurately forecast our results of operations and growth rate may also result in harm to our business. Further, if we are not
able to continue to provide high quality customer service as a result of these demands, our reputation, as well as our business, including a decline in financial performance,
could be harmed. If we experience a decline in financial performance, we may decrease the number of or discontinue new shop openings, or we may decide to close Outposts
that we are unable to operate in a profitable manner.

We are required to manage multiple relationships with various strategic partners, our franchise partners, customers, and other third parties. In the event of further growth of
our operations or in the number of our third party relationships, our existing management systems, financial and management controls and information systems may not be
adequate to support our planned expansion and we may face challenges of integrating, developing, training, and motivating a rapidly growing employee base in our various
Outposts and maintaining our culture across multiple offices and Outposts. Our ability to manage our growth effectively will require us to continue to enhance our systems,
procedures and controls and to locate, hire, train and retain management and employees, particularly in new markets which may require significant capital expenditures.
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We are increasingly dependent on information technology and our ability to process data in order to operate and sell our goods and services, and if we (or our vendors) are
unable to protect against software and hardware vulnerabilities, service interruptions, data corruption, cyber-based attacks, ransomware or security breaches, or if we fail
to comply with our commitments and assurances regarding the privacy and security of such data, our operations could be disrupted, our ability to provide our goods and
services could be interrupted, our reputation may be harmed and we may be exposed to liability and loss of customers and business.

We rely on information technology networks and systems and data processing (some of which are managed by third party service providers) to market, sell and deliver our
products and services, to fulfill orders, to collect, receive, store, process, generate, use, transfer, disclose, make accessible, protect, secure, dispose of and share (“Process” or
“Processing”) personal information, confidential or proprietary information, financial information and other information, to manage a variety of business processes and
activities, for financial reporting purposes, to operate our business, to process orders, for legal and marketing purposes, and to comply with regulatory, legal and tax
requirements (“Business Functions”).

These information technology networks and systems, and the Processing they perform, may be vulnerable to data security and privacy threats, cyber and otherwise.
Moreover, the risk of unauthorized circumvention of our security measures or those of third parties on whom we rely has been heightened by advances in computer and software
capabilities and the increasing sophistication of hackers who employ complex techniques, including, without limitation, “phishing” or social engineering incidents, ransomware,
extortion, account takeover attacks, denial or degradation of service attacks and malware. Further, incidents experienced by other companies may also be leveraged against us.
For example, credential stuffing attacks are becoming increasingly common and sophisticated actors can mask their attacks, making them increasingly difficult to identify and
prevent. Several years ago, one of our vendor’s technology systems was exploited, giving unauthorized access to certain of our customer data. The unauthorized third party who
obtained this data then made certain statements online regarding our online vulnerabilities, but we promptly remedied these identified vulnerabilities. We have technology
security initiatives in place to mitigate our risk to vulnerabilities and do from time to time detect and prevent attempted access or disruptions, but these security measures may
not be adequately designed or implemented to ensure that our operations are not disrupted or that other data security incidents do not occur. If our information technology
networks and systems or data processing suffers damage, security incidents, disruption or shutdown, and we do not effectively resolve the issues in a timely manner, they could
cause a material adverse impact to, our Business Functions and our business, reputation and financial condition.

An actual or perceived incident affecting of our security systems or those of our third party service providers may require notification under applicable data privacy
regulations or for customer relations or publicity purposes, which could result in reputational harm, costly litigation (including class action litigation), material contract
breaches, liability, settlement costs, loss of sales, regulatory scrutiny, actions or investigations, a loss of confidence in our business, systems and Processing, a diversion of
management’s time and attention, and significant fines, penalties, assessments, fees, and expenses.

The costs to respond to a security incident or to mitigate any security vulnerabilities that may be identified could be significant, and our efforts to address these problems
may not be successful. These costs include, but are not limited to, retaining the services of cybersecurity providers; compliance costs arising out of existing and future
cybersecurity, data protection and privacy laws and regulations; and costs related to maintaining redundant networks, data backups, and other damage-mitigation measures. We
could be required to fundamentally change our business activities and practices in response to a security incident or related regulatory actions or litigation, which could have an
adverse effect on our business. Additionally, most jurisdictions have enacted laws requiring companies to notify individuals, regulatory authorities, and others of security
incident involving certain types of data. Such mandatory disclosures are costly, could lead to negative publicity, may cause our customers to lose confidence in the effectiveness
of our security measures, and require us to expend significant capital and other resources to respond to or alleviate problems caused by the actual or perceived security incident.

Although we maintain insurance regarding cyber events, we may not have adequate insurance coverage for handling security incident related expenses or changes to our
insurance policies (including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements), which could harm our business. In addition, we cannot be
sure that our existing insurance coverage will continue to be available on acceptable terms or that our insurers will not deny coverage as to all or part of any future claim or loss.
Moreover, our privacy risks are likely to increase as we continue to expand, grow our customer base, and process, store, and transmit increasingly large amounts of personal
and/or sensitive data.

If the technology-based systems that give our consumers the ability to shop or interact with us online do not function effectively, our operating results, as well as our ability
to grow our digital commerce business globally or to retain our customer base, could be materially adversely affected.

Many of our consumers shop with us through our digital platforms. Increasingly, consumers are using mobile-based devices and applications to shop online with us and
with our competitors, and to do comparison shopping, as well as to
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engage with us and our competitors through digital services and experiences that are offered on mobile platforms. We are increasingly using social media and proprietary
mobile applications to interact with our consumers and as a means to enhance their shopping experience. Any failure on our part to provide attractive, effective, reliable, secure,
user-friendly digital commerce platforms that offer a wide assortment of merchandise with rapid delivery options and that continually meet the changing expectations of online
shoppers or any failure to provide attractive digital experiences to our customers could place us at a competitive disadvantage, result in the loss of digital commerce and other
sales, harm our reputation with consumers, have a material adverse impact on the growth of our digital commerce business globally and have a material adverse impact on our
business and results of operations. In addition, as use of our digital platforms continues to grow, we will need an increasing amount of technical infrastructure to continue to
satisfy our consumers' needs. If we fail to continue to effectively scale and adapt our digital platforms to accommodate increased consumer demand, our business may be
subject to interruptions, delays or failures and consumer demand for our products and digital experiences could decline. Risks specific to our digital commerce business also
include diversion of sales from our and our retailers' brick and mortar stores, difficulty in recreating the in-store experience through direct channels and liability for online
content. Our failure to successfully respond to these risks may adversely affect sales in our digital commerce business, as well as damage our reputation and brands.

We rely significantly on information technology and data to operate our business, including our supply chain and retail operations, and any failure, inadequacy,
compromise or interruption of that technology or data could lead to adverse consequences, including harm to our ability to effectively operate our business, claims that we
breached our data privacy security obligations, harm to our reputation and a loss of customers or sales.

In the ordinary course of our business, we may collect, store, use, transmit, disclose or otherwise process proprietary confidential and sensitive data, including personal
information, intellectual property, and trade secrets. We rely upon third parties (such as service providers) for our data processing-related activities.

We are heavily dependent on information technology systems and networks, including the Internet, third-party services and artificial intelligence, across our supply chain,
including product design, production, forecasting, ordering, manufacturing, transportation, sales, and distribution, as well as for processing financial information for external
and internal reporting purposes, retail operations and other business activities. These information technology systems are critical to many of our operating activities and our
business processes and may be negatively impacted by any service interruption or shutdown. For example, our ability to effectively manage and maintain our inventory and to
ship products to customers on a timely basis depends significantly on the reliability of these systems.

Over the last several years, we have been and continue to implement modifications and upgrades to our systems, including making changes to legacy systems, replacing
legacy systems with successor systems with new functionality and acquiring new systems with new functionality.

Our work to integrate, secure and enhance these systems and related processes in our operations is ongoing and we will continue to invest in these efforts. We cannot
provide assurance, however, that the measures we take to secure and enhance these systems will be sufficient to protect our information technology systems and prevent cyber-
attacks, system failures or data or information loss. Cyber-attacks, malicious internet-based activity and online and offline fraud are prevalent and continue to increase. In
addition to traditional computer “hackers,” threat actors, personnel (such as through theft or misuse), sophisticated nation-states and nation-state supported actors now engage in
attacks.

We may be subject to a variety of evolving threats, including but not limited to social engineering, such as phishing, malicious code (such as viruses and worms), malware
(including as a result of advanced persistent threat intrusions), denial-of-service attacks (such as credential stuffing), personnel misconduct or error, supply-chain attacks,
software bugs, server malfunctions and large-scale, complex automated attacks that can evade detection for long periods of time. Ransomware attacks, including those
perpetrated by organized criminal threat actors, nation-states and nation-state supported actors, are becoming increasingly prevalent and severe and can lead to significant
interruptions in our operations, loss of data and income, reputational harm and diversion of funds. Extortion payments may alleviate the negative impact of a ransomware attack,
but we may be unwilling or unable to make such payments due to, for example, applicable laws or regulations prohibiting such payments.

Any breach of our or our service providers' networks, or other vendor systems, may result in the loss of confidential business and financial data, misappropriation of our
consumers', users' or employees' personal information or a disruption of our business. Any of these outcomes could have a material adverse effect on our business, including
unwanted media attention, impairment of our consumer and customer relationships, damage to our reputation, resulting in lost sales and consumers, fines, lawsuits, government
enforcement actions (for example, investigations, fines, penalties, audits and inspections) or significant legal and remediation expenses. We also may need to expend significant
resources to protect against, respond to and/or redress problems caused by any breach.
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The failure of these systems to operate effectively, including as a result of the threats described above as well as a result of natural disasters, vendor business interruptions or
other causes, failure to properly maintain, protect, repair or upgrade systems, or problems with transitioning to upgraded or replacement systems could cause delays in product
fulfillment and reduced efficiency of our operations, could require significant capital investments to remediate the problem which may not be sufficient to cover all
eventualities, and may have an adverse effect on our reputation, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the increased use of employee-owned devices for
communications as well as work-from-home arrangements, such as those implemented in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, present additional operational risks to our
information technology systems, including, but not limited to, increased risks of cyber-attacks.

Our software or information technology systems, or that of third parties upon who we rely to operate our business, may have material vulnerabilities and, despite our
efforts to identify and remediate these vulnerabilities, our efforts may not be successful or we may experience delays in developing and deploying remedial measures designed
to address any such identified vulnerabilities. It may be expensive and time-consuming to remediate material vulnerabilities, and our operations, reputation, sales and financial
performance may be adversely impacted if we are not able to successfully and promptly remediate such vulnerabilities. Further, like other companies in the retail industry, we
have in the past experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, cyber-attacks, including phishing, and other attempts to breach, or gain unauthorized access, to our
systems.

We also use information technology systems to process financial information and results of operations for internal reporting purposes and to comply with regulatory
financial reporting, legal and tax requirements. If these systems suffer severe damage, disruption or shutdown and our business continuity plans, or those of our vendors, do not
effectively resolve the issues in a timely manner, we could experience delays in reporting our financial results, which could result in lost revenues and profits, as well as
reputational damage. Furthermore, we depend on information technology systems and personal information collection for digital marketing, digital commerce, consumer
engagement and the marketing and use of our digital products and services.

Additionally, we rely on our ability to engage in electronic communications throughout the world between and among our employees as well as with other third parties,
including customers, suppliers, vendors, and consumers. Any interruption in information technology systems may impede our ability to engage in the digital space and result in
lost revenues, damage to our reputation, and loss of users.

If we or our franchise partners are unable to protect our customers’ and employees’ personal, financial, or other confidential data, or if our information technology
systems are compromised, we could be exposed to data loss, litigation, liability and reputational damage.

Our business requires the collection, transmission, and retention of large volumes of customer and employee data, including credit and debit card numbers and other
personally identifiable information, in various information technology systems that we maintain and in those maintained by third parties with whom we contract to provide
services. The integrity and protection of that customer and employee data is critical to us. Further, our customers and employees have a high expectation that we and our service
providers will adequately protect their personal information. Our systems and technology may be vulnerable to damage, disruption, or interruption from, among other things,
physical damage, natural disasters, inadequate system capacity, system issues, security breaches, cyber-security attacks, computer viruses, power outages, and other failures or
disruptions outside of our control. Furthermore, the information security and privacy requirements imposed by governmental regulation are increasingly demanding. A material
breach of our or third parties’ information technology systems that results in authorized access, theft, use, or destruction of customer or employee confidential information could
result in fines, legal claims or proceedings, including regulatory investigations and actions, or liability for failure to comply with privacy and information security laws, which
could disrupt our operations, damage our reputation, and expose us to claims from customers and employees, any of which could harm our business.

We currently accept payments using credit cards and debit cards, for which we rely on third party servicers, and, as such, are subject to payment card association operating
rules and certification requirements, including the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, which is a security standard applicable to companies like ours that collect,
store or transmit certain data regarding credit and debit cards, holders and transactions. We are also subject to rules governing electronic funds transfers. Such rules could
change or be reinterpreted to make it difficult or impossible for us to comply. If we (or a third party processing payment card transactions on our behalf) suffer a security breach
affecting payment card information, we may have to pay onerous and significant fines, penalties and assessments arising out of the major card brands’ rules and regulations,
contractual indemnifications or liability contained in merchant agreements and similar contracts, and we may lose our ability to accept payment cards for payment for our goods
and services, which could materially impact our operations and financial performance.
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We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, including trademarks, trade names, and service marks, which, in turn, could harm the value of our
brand and adversely affect our business.

Our ability to implement our business plan successfully depends in part on our ability to further build brand recognition using our trademarks, service marks, proprietary
products, and other intellectual property, including our name and logos and the unique character and atmosphere of our Outposts. We rely on U.S. trademark, copyright, and
trade secret laws, as well as license agreements, nondisclosure agreements, and confidentiality and other contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property.

Nevertheless, our competitors may develop similar menu items and concepts, and adequate remedies may not be available in the event of an unauthorized use or disclosure
of our trade secrets and other intellectual property.

The success of our business depends on our continued ability to use our existing trademarks, trade names, and service marks to increase brand awareness and further
develop our brand as we expand into new markets. We have registered and applied to register trademarks and service marks in the United States and, to a lesser degree, certain
other jurisdictions. We may not be able to adequately protect our trademarks and service marks, and our competitors and others may successfully challenge the validity or
enforceability of our trademarks and service marks and other intellectual property. There can also be no assurance that pending or future U.S. trademark applications will be
approved in a timely manner or at all, or that such registrations will effectively protect our brand names and trademarks.

Additionally, the steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property in the United States may not be adequate. If our efforts to maintain and protect our intellectual
property are inadequate, or if any third party misappropriates, dilutes, or infringes on our intellectual property, the value of our brand may be harmed, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business and might prevent our brands from achieving or maintaining market acceptance. Even with our own franchise partners, whose activities
are monitored and regulated through our franchise agreements, we face risk that they may refer to or make statements about our brand that do not make proper use of our
trademarks or required designations, that improperly alter trademarks or branding, or that are critical of our brand or place our brand in a context that may tarnish our
reputation. This may result in dilution of, or harm to, our intellectual property or the value of our brand.

Moreover, we do not hold any patents for our roasting methods. We roast the majority of our coffee beans in-house, and we consider our roasting methods essential to the
quality of our products. Because we do not hold any patents for our roasting methods, competitors may be able to duplicate our process if such methods became known. If our
competitors copy our roasting methods, the value of our coffee products may decline, and we may lose customers to competitors.

We may also from time to time be required to institute litigation to enforce our trademarks, service marks, and other intellectual property. Such litigation could result in
substantial costs and diversion of resources and could negatively affect our sales, profitability, and prospects regardless of whether we can successfully enforce our rights.

Third parties may oppose our trademark and service mark applications, or otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks and service marks. In the event that these or other
intellectual property rights are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our products, which would result in loss of brand recognition and would require us to
devote resources to advertising and marketing new brands. Third parties may also assert that we infringe, misappropriate, or otherwise violate their intellectual property and
may sue us for intellectual property infringement. Even if we are successful in these proceedings, we may incur substantial costs, and the time and attention of our management
and other personnel may be diverted in pursuing these proceedings. If a court finds that we infringe a third party’s intellectual property, we may be required to pay damages or
be subject to an injunction. With respect to any third party intellectual property that we use or wish to use in our business (whether or not asserted against us in litigation), we
may not be able to enter into licensing or other arrangements with the owner of such intellectual property at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms.

Evolving consumer preferences and tastes, including public or medical opinions about caffeine consumption, may adversely affect our business.

Our continued success depends on our ability to attract and retain customers. Our financial results could be adversely affected by a shift in consumer spending away from
our products, lack of customer acceptance of new products (including due to price increases necessary to cover the costs of new products or higher input costs), brand perception
(such as the existence or expansion of our competitors), or platforms (such as features of our mobile application and changes in our loyalty rewards programs and initiatives), or
customers reducing their demand for our current offerings as new products are introduced.

In addition, most of our products contain caffeine and our RTD products and many of the beverages made at our Outposts contain sugar, dairy products, and other
compounds, such as natural and artificial flavors, the health effects of which are the subject of public and regulatory scrutiny, including the suggestion of linkages to a variety of
adverse health effects. There is increasing consumer awareness of health risks that are attributed to caffeine and other ingredients we use,
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particularly in the United States, including obesity, increased blood pressure and heart rate, anxiety and insomnia, as well as increased consumer litigation based on alleged
adverse health impacts of consumption of various food and beverage products. An unfavorable report on the health effects of caffeine, sugar, or other ingredients in our products
or changes in public perception of these ingredients could significantly reduce the demand for our products. For example, recent unfavorable media regarding a caffeinated
lemonade beverage in a major US quick serve chain may change public perceptions of and demand for caffeinated beverages. A decrease in customer consumption as a result of
these health concerns or negative publicity could significantly reduce the demand for our products and could harm our business.

Food safety and quality concerns may negatively impact our brand, business, and profitability, our internal operational controls and standards may not always be met. Any
possible instances or reports, whether true or not, of food or beverage-borne illness or adulteration could reduce our sales.

Incidents or reports, whether true or not, of food-borne or water-borne illness or other food safety issues, food adulteration or tampering, employee hygiene and cleanliness
failures, or improper employee conduct at our Outposts could lead to product liability or other claims. Such incidents or reports could negatively affect our brand and reputation
as well as our business, revenue, and profits. Similar incidents or reports occurring at coffee and convenience shops unrelated to us could likewise create negative publicity,
which could negatively impact consumer behavior towards us. Our products may also be subject to food recalls or other regulatory warnings promulgated by the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration (“FDA”), state regulatory authorities, or other regulatory bodies. The FDA and states can take regulatory enforcement actions up to and including issuing
public warnings, seizing products, and suspending our or our co-manufacturer’s ability to operate the manufacturing facility. In addition, states and the FDA are increasingly
focused on chemical contamination in food and beverage products and packaging, including of heavy metals, per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (“PFAS”), and pesticide
residue. Failure to comply with these requirements could lead to a regulatory enforcement and negative publicity, as well as claims from private plaintiffs. Notably, California’s
Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act of 1986 (“Proposition 65”) permits private enforcement against companies for allegedly failing to provide adequate health
hazard warnings in the sale of consumer products containing certain chemicals, including contaminants. We have previously received, and may receive in the future, notice of
alleged violation threats of private enforcement. Consumer advocacy groups are known to test products for contaminants and publish the results, which can lead to private
enforcement efforts.

We cannot guarantee to customers that our internal controls and training will be fully effective in preventing all food-borne illnesses, contamination, or adulteration.
Undiscovered contamination of our coffee bean supplies could result in future claims about product safety. New illnesses resistant to our current precautions may develop in the
future, or diseases with long incubation periods could arise, potentially giving rise to claims or allegations on a retroactive basis. One or more instances of food-borne illness in
one of our Company-operated or franchised Outposts could negatively affect sales at all our Outposts if highly publicized. This risk exists even if it were later determined that
the illness was wrongly attributed to one of our Outposts. Additionally, even if food-borne illnesses were not identified at our Outposts, our sales could be adversely affected if
instances of food-borne illnesses at other coffee and beverage chains were highly publicized.

We are subject to the risks associated with leasing space subject to long-term non-cancelable lease and, with respect to the real property that we own, owning real estate.

Our Outpost leases generally have initial terms of 10 to 15 years with renewal options in 5-year increments. Outpost leases provide for a specified annual rent, with agreed
increases (typically a 10.0% base rent increase per 5-year time period). Generally, our leases are “net” leases, which require us to pay all the cost of insurance, taxes,
maintenance and utilities, which costs tend to increase each year. We generally cannot terminate these leases without incurring substantial costs. Additional future Outpost sites
that we lease are likely to be subject to similar long-term non-cancelable leases. If an existing or future Outpost is not profitable, and we decide to close it, we may nonetheless
be committed to perform our obligations under the applicable lease including, among other things, paying the base rent for the balance of the lease term, or until the lease is
either assigned by us to a third party, or the site is relet by the landlord. In addition, as each of our leases expire, we may fail to negotiate renewals, either on commercially
acceptable terms or at all, which could cause us to close Outposts in desirable locations. Also, because we sometimes purchase real property for certain Outpost locations and for
office, warehouse, and manufacturing facilities, we are subject to all the risks generally associated with owning real estate, including changes in the investment climate for real
estate, demographic trends, and supply or demand for the use of the Outposts, which may result from competition from similar restaurants in the area as well as strict, joint, and
several liability for environmental contamination at or from the property, regardless of fault.

Our operating results and growth strategies are partly dependent upon the success of our franchise partners, and we have limited control with respect to their operations.
Additionally, our franchise partners’ interests may conflict or diverge with our interests in the future, which could have a negative impact on our business.

As of December 31, 2023, approximately 50% of our Outposts were operated by our franchise partners. Our franchise partners are independent business operators and are
not our employees, and as such we have limited control over how our
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franchise partners run their businesses, and their inability to operate successfully could adversely affect our operating results.

We receive royalties, franchise fees, and collect franchisee contributions to a BRCC franchisee marketing fund that is dedicated to Outpost promotional initiatives.
Additionally, we sell proprietary products to our franchise partners at a markup over our cost to produce. We have established operational standards and guidelines for our
franchise partners; however, we have limited control over how our franchise partners’ businesses are run, including day to day operations. Even with these operation standards
and guidelines, the quality of franchised Outposts may be diminished by any number of factors beyond our control. Consequently, our franchise partners may not successfully
operate Outposts in a manner consistent with our standards and requirements, such as quality, service and cleanliness, or may not hire and train qualified Outpost managers,
employees, and other Outpost personnel or may not implement marketing programs and major initiatives such as Outpost remodels or equipment or technology upgrades, which
may require financial investment. Even if such unsuccessful operations do not rise to the level of breaching the related franchise documents, they may be attributed by
customers to our brand and could have a negative impact on our business.

Our franchise partners may not be able to secure adequate financing to open or continue operating our Outposts. If they incur too much debt or if economic or sales trends
deteriorate such that they are unable to repay existing debt, our franchise partners could experience financial distress or even bankruptcy. If a significant number of our
franchise partners become financially distressed, it could harm our operating results through reduced royalty revenue, marketing fees, and proprietary product sales and the
impact on our profitability could be greater than the percentage decrease in these revenue streams.

While we seek to continue supporting the success of our entire system of Outposts and for taking a longer term view with respect to system improvements, our franchise
partners have individual business strategies and objectives, which might conflict with our interests. Our franchise partners may and do, from time to time disagree with us and
our strategies and objectives regarding the business or our interpretation of our respective rights and obligations under the franchise agreement and the terms and conditions of
the franchise partner relationship. This has and may continue to lead to disputes with our franchise partners and we expect such disputes to occur from time to time in the future
as we continue to have franchises. For example, in the past we have agreed to provide certain operational and financial support in connection with the sale and shutdown of
certain stores managed by franchisees. Such disputes may result in legal action against us. To the extent we have such disputes, the attention, time and financial resources of our
management and our franchise partners will be diverted from our Outposts, which could harm our business even if we have a successful outcome in the dispute.

Actions or omissions by our franchise partners in violation of various laws may be attributed to us or result in negative publicity that affects our overall brand image, which
may decrease consumer demand for our products. Franchise partners may engage in online activity via social media or activity in their personal lives that negatively impacts
public perception of our franchise partners’ or our operations or our brand as a whole. This activity may negatively affect franchise partners’ sales and in turn impact our
revenue.

In addition, various state and federal laws govern our relationship with our franchise partners and our potential sale of a franchise. A franchise partner and/or a government
agency may bring legal action against us based on the franchisee/franchisor relationships that could result in the award of damages to franchise partners and/or the imposition of
fines or other penalties against us.

If we fail to maintain adequate operational and financial resources, particularly if we continue to grow rapidly, we may be unable to execute our business plan or maintain
high levels of service and customer satisfaction.

Our continuous growth and expansion has placed, and may continue to place, significant demands on our management and our operational and financial resources, and has
resulted in significant turnover throughout our organization. In connection therewith, our organizational structure is becoming more complex as we scale our operational,
financial, and management controls, as well as our reporting systems and procedures. As we continue to grow, we face challenges of integrating, developing, training, and
motivating a rapidly growing employee base in our various Outposts and maintaining our culture across multiple offices and Outposts. If we fail to manage our anticipated
growth and change in a manner that preserves the key aspects of our corporate culture, the quality of our products and services may suffer, which could negatively affect our
brand and reputation and harm our ability to attract users, employees, and organizations.

To manage growth in our operations and personnel, we will need to continue to grow and improve our operational, financial, and management controls and our reporting
systems and procedures. We will require significant capital expenditures and the allocation of valuable management resources to grow and change in these areas. We depend on
cash generated from our operations to support our growth, and we may need to raise additional capital, which may not always be available on acceptable terms or at all.
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In addition, as we expand our business, it is important that we continue to maintain a high level of customer service and satisfaction. As our customer base continues to
grow, we will need to expand our customer service and other personnel, which will require more complex management and systems. If we are not able to continue to provide
high levels of customer service, our reputation, as well as our business could be harmed.

Disruptions at the bank in which we deposit our funds could have an adverse impact on our business and financial condition.

We hold substantially all of our deposits with a single bank and the bank also serves as the lender under our senior credit facility. We rely on our deposits with the bank and
access to our senior credit facility to fund substantially all of our operations. Any disruption in the bank’s ability to process payments, maintain our deposits, or satisfy its
obligations under our senior credit facility, would significantly disrupt our business and could materially affect our operations and financial performance. In addition, under the
terms of our senior credit facility, we are required to maintain substantially all our deposits with the bank. As a result, we currently have cash and cash equivalents deposited in
excess of federally insured levels with the bank, and if the bank were to fail, we could lose our deposits over $250,000.

We may be adversely affected by the effects of inflation.

Consumer inflation, as measured by the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers was 3.4% as of December 31, 2023 and 6.5% as of December 31, 2022. Inflation
has the potential to adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial position and liquidity by increasing our overall cost structure, particularly if we are unable to
achieve commensurate increases in the prices we charge our customers. The existence of inflation in the economy has the potential to result in higher costs for the raw materials
we use to operate our business, higher interest rates and capital costs, supply shortages, increased costs of labor and other similar effects. As inflation increases, keeping wages
competitive and maintaining general operating expenses at their current levels may be difficult. Although we may take measures to mitigate the impact of this inflation through
pricing actions and efficiency gains, if these measures are not effective our business, results of operations, financial position and liquidity could be materially adversely
affected. Even if such measures are effective, there could be a difference between the timing of when these beneficial actions impact our results of operations and when the cost
inflation is incurred. Additionally, the pricing actions we may take could negatively impact our customer engagement, including our subscriber base, and decrease our market
share, and certain of our competitors, particularly our larger, more established competitors, may manage inflationary pressures better than we are able.

Authentic Brands’ debt obligations could impair our financial condition and adversely affect our business, and we may be unable to generate the cash flow to service such
debt obligations.

On August 10, 2023, Authentic Brands entered into (i) the Term Loan Credit Agreement, which provides for a $50.0 million senior secured term loan credit facility and a
$6.0 million bridge loan facility, and (ii) the ABL Credit Agreement, which provides for an asset-based revolving credit facility with committed maximum borrowing capacity
of $75.0 million. Such substantial indebtedness has important consequences for us, including:

• a significant portion of our cash flow will be used to service such indebtedness, thereby limiting the availability of our cash flow to fund future growth, capital
expenditures, working capital, business activities and other general corporate requirements;

• restrictive covenants in the debt agreements could prevent us from borrowing additional funds for working capital, capital expenditures, and debt service requirements,
which could result in an inability to fund our growth or result in a default under the debt agreements;

• an increase in interest rates, as experienced since 2022 or as we may experience in the future, could significantly increase the cost of the variable rate debt under the debt
agreements;

• any inability to service or refinance such indebtedness or the acceleration of such indebtedness could result in default which could result in all of the outstanding
indebtedness becoming due and payable, an inability to access the revolving credit facility (in whole or in part), foreclosure against the borrowers’ assets, and
bankruptcy or liquidation;

• such indebtedness increases our vulnerability to economic downturns and adverse industry conditions and reduces our flexibility to plan for, or react to, changes in our
business or industry; and

• our ability to capitalize on business opportunities and to react to competitive pressures, as compared to our competitors with less indebtedness, may be compromised due
to the indebtedness and the restrictive covenants in the debt agreements.

To the extent we incur additional indebtedness, the risks described above could increase.

We can provide no assurance that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations to service or repay the debt obligations, or that we will have the ability to
issue new debt, draw on the revolving credit facility, or find other
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alternative sources of funds to satisfy our obligations and working capital needs. Our ability to meet expenses and debt service obligations will depend on our future
performance, which could be affected by financial, business, economic and other factors. Our inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy the debt obligations, or to
refinance the indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at all, could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and
cash flows.

Authentic Brands’ debt agreements impose restrictions on our business.

Authentic Brands’ debt agreements contain, and any future indebtedness would likely contain, a number of covenants that impose significant operating and financial
restrictions on us, including restrictions on Authentic Brands’ and its subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things:

• incur additional debt or liens;
• pay dividends or make other distributions or restricted payments to BRC Inc.;
• make certain investments;
• consolidate, merge, sell, or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of their assets; and
• alter the businesses they conduct.

As a result of these covenants, we will continue to be limited in the manner in which we conduct our business, and we may be unable to engage in favorable business
activities or finance future operations or capital needs. To the extent we would wish to engage in any of the prohibited actions, we would need to obtain consent under the debt
agreements, which may not be timely forthcoming or at all.

In addition, the debt agreements require the borrowers to maintain (i) certain minimum consolidated EBITDA levels each quarter, (ii) a fixed charge coverage ratio of not
less than 1.10 to 1.00, measured quarterly following the satisfaction of certain conditions, and (iii) certain minimum liquidity levels. We cannot provide assurance that the
borrowers will satisfy these financial covenants. The borrowers’ ability to satisfy these financial covenants will depend on our ongoing financial and operating performance,
which, in turn, will be subject to economic conditions and to financial, market, and competitive factors, many of which are beyond our control.

A breach of any of these covenants could result in a default under the debt agreements, including as a result of cross default provisions and, in the case of the revolving
credit facility, permit the lenders thereunder to cease making loans to the borrowers. If a default event were to occur, we may not have sufficient available cash to repay such
outstanding debt obligations at the time they become due or be able to refinance such debt on acceptable terms or at all. Any of the foregoing limitations or events could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

Our barter arrangement may not provide the benefits we expect.

During the third quarter of 2023, we entered into a barter arrangement in which we have agreed to deliver products with a retail value of $41.6 million in exchange for an
equal value of advertising that we may use over the four-year term of the arrangement. For a variety of reasons, we may not receive the benefits we expect from the barter
arrangement. The counterparty is a firm that specializes in barter arrangements, rather than an advertising agency, and the quality and quantity of the advertising available under
the arrangement may not meet our expectations or may not be usable by us, in part or in whole. Any advertising credit that remains unused at the end of the four-year term will
expire, and we will not receive any compensation for the amount of the unused credit. The value of the advertising provided under the arrangement may be difficult to value, and
we are relying in significant part on the good faith of the counterparty to value the advertising accurately. The quantity of advertising available under the arrangement may also
decrease over the four-year term because of inflation or other factors that increase the cost of advertising. If we do not receive the expected benefits from the barter arrangement,
our sales may decline or we may be compelled to increase our marketing spend above our expectations, which would adversely affect our results of operations. In addition,
although the barter arrangement limits the locations in which the counterparty may sell our products, our revenue may decline as we compete for sales with the products we
deliver under the arrangement, and we may experience disruption in markets where we have exclusive agreements that may lead to fees or impair our relationships with existing
distributors.

We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting.

Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2023 and concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting. Specifically, management identified a material weakness relating
to the review procedures relating to disclosure of fixed asset activity in the Company's statement of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2023, which resulted in
(i) certain losses on the disposal of assets being improperly presented as a reduction to capital expenditures within investing activities and (ii) incorrect calculations of the non-
cash portion of capital expenditures
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removed from capital expenditures within investing activities. As a result, we have restated the interim statement of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2023,
which restatement is included in Note 19, Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited), in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included herein.

See Part II. Item 9A, Controls and Procedures, below for additional information about the material weakness.

While certain actions have been taken to implement a remediation plan to address this material weakness and to enhance our internal control over financial reporting, if this
material weakness is not remediated, it could adversely affect our ability to report our financial condition and results of operations in a timely and accurate manner, which could
negatively affect investor confidence in our Company, and, as a result, the value of our common stock could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to People and Culture

We depend on our founder, executive officers, and other key employees, and the loss of one or more of these employees, the failure of one or more of these employees to
dedicate adequate time to the Company’s affairs, or an inability to attract and retain other highly skilled employees could harm our business.

Our success depends partly upon the continued services of our founder and executive chairman, co-founders, chief executive officer, and other executive officers. We rely
on our leadership team in the areas of marketing, sales, customer experience, and administration. From time to time, there have been and may be changes in our executive
management team resulting from the hiring or departure of executives, which could disrupt our business. The loss of one or more of our executive officers or key employees
could harm our business. For example, in 2023, the Company experienced substantial turnover on the executive management team, which included the transition of Evan Hafer
and Tom Davin, our former CEO and Co-CEO, respectively, from their prior positions and now hold the positions of executive chairman of the Board and member of the
Board, respectively. On November 6, 2023, Christopher Mondzelewski, the Company former Chief Marketing Officer and President, was appointed to the position of President
and CEO, which appointment became effective on January 1, 2024. Further, on June 23, 2023, Gregory Iverson, our former CFO, informed the Company of his intent to leave
the Company. The Company appointed Mark Weinsten as interim CFO on June 28, 2023, who was later replaced by Stephen Kadenacy on September 6, 2023, to act as CFO on
a permanent basis going forward.

Further changes in our executive management team may also cause disruptions in, and harm to, our business.

In addition, certain of our executive officers may have pre-existing obligations or relationships with other businesses, which may result in a conflict of interest in allocating
their time between our operations and their other businesses. For example, Mr. Kadenacy, our Chief Financial Officer, also acts as the Co-Managing Member of SilverBox
Capital, an investment firm which he co-founded in 2017. Because certain of our executive officers will engage in operations independent of the Company, some of these
activities may conflict with those of the Company or detract from the time that such executive officers dedicate to the Company, which may also cause disruptions in, and harm
to, our business.

Mr. Hafer and Mr. Best, our founder and co-founder, are instrumental to our marketing and publicity strategy and are closely identified with both the brand and us in
general. They actively promote the brand through their large social media platforms and through various public appearances, and we believe that the unique personalities of our
founders are part of our success. Our founders’ public personas are more closely tied to our brand than other companies, and we believe that the continued engagement of our
founders with our customers will be a contributor to our growth.

Additionally, our founders and executive officers occasionally travel in small aircraft to remote locations, sometimes together. They also engage in outdoor recreational
activities that have known risks, such as bear hunting and mountain sports. These activities could put our founders at risk and cause potential harm to our business.

If the services of Mr. Hafer, Mr. Best, Mr. Mondzelewski or Mr. Kadenacy became unavailable to us for any reason, or do not devote adequate time to our business
operations, it may be difficult or impossible for us to find adequate replacements, which could cause us to be less successful in maintaining our brand and developing and
effectively executing on our strategies.

Changes in the availability of and the cost of labor could harm our business.

Our business could be harmed by increases in labor costs, including those increases triggered by regulatory actions regarding wages, scheduling and benefits, increased
health care, and workers’ compensation insurance costs, which, in a business such as ours, are significant and expected to grow as our headcount expands. In particular, certain
of our employees are paid wage rates at or based on the applicable federal or state minimum wage, and increases in the applicable minimum wage will increase labor costs.
From time to time, legislative proposals are made to increase the minimum wage at the federal or state level. As federal, state, or other applicable minimum wage rates increase,
we may be required to
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increase not only the wage rates of minimum wage employees, but also the wages paid to other hourly employees. We may not choose to increase prices in order to pass future
increased labor costs on to customers, in which case our margins would be negatively affected. If we do not increase prices to cover increased labor costs, the higher prices could
result in lower revenue, which may also reduce margins.

The successful operation of our business depends upon our franchise partners’ and our ability to attract, motivate, and retain a sufficient number of qualified employees.
From time to time, there may be a shortage of qualified employees in certain of the communities in which we operate or expand to. Shortages may make it increasingly difficult
and expensive to attract, train, and retain the services of a satisfactory number of qualified employees, which could delay the planned openings of new Company-operated and
franchised Outposts and adversely impact the operations and profitability of existing Outposts.

Furthermore, competition for qualified employees, particularly in markets where such shortages exist, could require us to pay higher wages, which could result in higher
labor costs. Accordingly, if we and our franchise partners are unable to recruit and retain sufficiently qualified individuals, our business could be harmed.

Additionally, the growth of our business can make it increasingly difficult to locate and hire sufficient numbers of key employees, to maintain an effective system of
internal controls for a dispersed chain, and to train employees to deliver consistently high-quality products and customer experiences, which could materially harm our business
and results of operations.

Our unique workplace atmosphere may produce specific challenges.

We have regularly articulated our goal to maintain current Veteran hiring levels. Failure to meet this goal, or perception that we have strayed from this goal in our hiring
practices, may adversely affect our employee relationships and our reputation towards our customers. Moreover, Veterans generally experience mental health issues, such as
post-traumatic stress disorder, at a higher rate than the average population, which could pose unique challenges in our workplace environment.

We maintain a policy of permitting employees and customers to carry firearms in the workplace and at our Outposts, subject to certain policy requirements. While we have
never experienced any significant acts of violence at any of our locations in the past, such policy creates certain inherent risks and any accidents related therewith may subject
us to liability.

Unionization activities may disrupt our operations and affect our profitability.

Although none of our employees are currently covered under collective bargaining agreements, our employees may elect to be represented by labor unions in the future. If
a significant number of our employees were to become unionized and collective bargaining agreement terms were significantly different from our current compensation
arrangements, it could adversely affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations. In addition, a labor dispute involving some or all of our employees may harm
our reputation, disrupt our operations, and reduce our revenue, and resolution of disputes may increase our costs. Further, if we enter into a new market with unionized
construction companies, or the construction companies in our current markets become unionized, construction and build out costs for new Outposts in such markets could
materially increase.

Risks Related to Regulation Litigation and Taxation

Litigation or legal proceedings could expose us to significant liabilities and have a negative impact on our reputation or business.

From time to time, we may be party to various claims and litigation proceedings, some of which we may institute ourselves, and some of which we may be defending
against. We evaluate these claims and litigation proceedings to assess the likelihood of unfavorable outcomes and to estimate, if possible, the nature and amount of potential
recoveries or losses. Based on these assessments and estimates, we may establish reserves, as appropriate. These assessments and estimates are based on the information
available to management at the time and involve a significant amount of management judgment. Actual outcomes, gains or losses may differ materially from our assessments
and estimates. We may also, from time to time, take certain positions in respect of contractual or other relationships with third parties which may result in a dispute, and,
ultimately, litigation. We are not currently party to any material litigation.

Even when not merited, the commencement or defense of these lawsuits may divert management’s attention, and we may incur significant expenses in pursuing or
defending these lawsuits. The results of litigation and other legal proceedings are inherently uncertain, and adverse judgments or settlements in some of these legal disputes may
result in adverse monetary damages, penalties or injunctive relief against us, which could negatively impact our financial position, cash
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flows or results of operations. Any claims or litigation, even if fully indemnified or insured, could damage our reputation and make it more difficult to compete effectively or to
obtain adequate insurance in the future.

Furthermore, while we maintain insurance for certain potential liabilities, such insurance does not cover all types and amounts of potential liabilities and is subject to
various exclusions as well as caps on amounts recoverable. Even if we believe a claim is covered by insurance, insurers may dispute our entitlement to recovery for a variety of
potential reasons, which may affect the timing and, if the insurers prevail, the amount of our recovery.

We are subject to many federal, state, and local laws with which compliance is both costly and complex.

Our industry is subject to extensive federal, state, and local laws and regulations, including those relating to the preparation, labeling, advertising, and sale of food and
beverages or consumption and those relating to building and zoning requirements. Such laws and regulations are subject to change from time to time. The failure to comply with
these laws and regulations could adversely affect our operating results. Typically, licenses, permits, and approvals under such laws and regulations must be renewed annually
and may be revoked, suspended, or denied renewal for cause at any time if governmental authorities determine that our conduct violates applicable regulations. Difficulties or
failure to maintain or obtain the required licenses, permits, and approvals could adversely affect our existing Outposts and delay or result in our decision to cancel the opening
of new Outposts, which would adversely affect our business.

The development and operation of Outposts depends, to a significant extent, on the selection of suitable sites, which are subject to unique permitting, zoning, land use,
environmental, traffic, and other regulations and requirements. We are also subject to licensing and regulation by state and local authorities relating to health, sanitation, safety,
and fire standards.

We are subject to the Fair Labor Standards Act and various other federal, state, and local laws that regulate the wages and hours of employees. These laws commonly apply
a strict liability standard so that even inadvertent noncompliance can lead to claims, government enforcement actions, and litigation. These laws vary from state to state and are
subject to frequent amendments and judicial interpretations that can require rapid adjustments to operations. Insurance coverage for violations of these laws is costly and
sometimes is not available. Changes to these laws can adversely affect our business by increasing labor and compliance costs. The failure to comply with these laws could
adversely affect our business as a result of costly litigation or government enforcement actions.

We are also subject to a variety of other employee relations laws including, but not limited to, the Family and Medical Leave Act and state leave laws, employment
discrimination laws, predictive scheduling laws, occupational health and safety laws and regulations, including regulations regarding firearms in the workplace, and the National
Labor Relations Act. Together, these many laws and regulations present a thicket of compliance obligations and liability risks. As we grow, we will need to continue to increase
our compliance efforts in these areas, which may affect our results from operations. Changes to these laws and regulations may increase these costs beyond our expectations or
predictions, which would adversely affect our business operations and financial results. Violations of these laws could lead to costly litigation or governmental investigation or
proceedings.

We are subject to compliance obligations of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FFDCA”), including Food Safety Modernization Act (“FSMA”) for our coffee
roasting and beverage manufacturing activities. FDA enforces regulations under FSMA that require us to implement, review, and assess new manufacturing and safety
compliance programs, including development of a Food Safety Plan. Noncompliance with these requirements can result in an enforcement action from FDA or recall of our
products. Our Outposts similarly are subject to state and local licensing and food safety requirements, which vary by location and which may require specific food safety
processes and training. Additionally, our suppliers may initiate or otherwise be subject to food recalls that may impact the availability of certain products, result in adverse
publicity, or require us to take actions that could be costly for us or otherwise impact our business.

We are also subject to state requirements regarding food manufacturing, labeling, ingredients, and packaging. In particular, a growing number of states have, and continue
to pass, laws regarding chemical contamination of consumer products, including food and food packaging. These include state laws restricting the presence of PFAS in food
packaging, as well as laws regarding recyclability of packaging and extended producer responsibility (“EPR”) programs for manufacturers of packaged foods and beverages.
They also include California’s Proposition 65, which covers both food and consumer products, such as merchandise. We have historically experienced immaterial disputes
regarding our compliance with California’s Proposition 65 as it applies to our food products and consumer products, such as our merchandise. Failure to comply with state laws
could adversely affect our business through state enforcement actions or, in some instances, form the basis of a claim by a private litigant.

We are subject to the ADA, which, among other things, requires our Outposts to meet federally mandated requirements for the disabled. The ADA prohibits discrimination
in employment and public accommodations on the basis of disability. Under the ADA, we could be required to expend funds to modify our Outposts to provide service to, or
make
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reasonable accommodations for the employment of, disabled persons. In addition, our employment practices are subject to the requirements of the Immigration and
Naturalization Service relating to citizenship and residency. We have historically experienced immaterial disputes regarding the ADA compliance of certain aspects of our
website.

We are subject to the Federal Trade Commission Act and regulations and policies promulgated by the FTC, including requirements for advertising of our products and our
advertising partners. Failure to comply with these advertising laws could result in federal or state enforcement actions and adverse publicity, or require us to take actions that
could be costly for us or otherwise impact our business.

In addition, our franchise activities are subject to laws enacted by a number of states and rules and regulations promulgated by the FTC. Failure to comply with new or
existing franchise laws, rules, and regulations in any jurisdiction or to obtain required government approvals could negatively affect our licensing sales and our relationships
with our licensees.

The impact of current laws and regulations, the effect of future changes in laws or regulations that impose additional requirements, and the consequences of litigation
relating to current or future laws and regulations, or our inability to respond effectively to significant regulatory or public policy issues, could increase our compliance and other
costs of doing business and, therefore, have an adverse effect on our results of operations. Failure to comply with the laws and regulatory requirements of federal, state, and
local authorities could result in, among other things, revocation of required licenses, administrative enforcement actions, fines, and civil and criminal liability. In addition,
certain laws, including the ADA, could require us to expend significant funds to make modifications to our Outposts if we failed to comply with applicable standards.
Compliance with all these laws and regulations can be costly and can increase our exposure to litigation or governmental investigations or proceedings.

We may be subject to liability for placing advertisements with content that is deemed inappropriate or misleading.

We are subject to a number of regulations applicable to the labeling and advertising of our products. The FDA places a number of restrictions and guidelines on food
labeling. We may incur significant costs to alter our existing labeling and packaging materials to comply with new FDA regulations, and new regulations may also negatively
impact consumption patterns by consumers. Furthermore, the FTC promulgates a number of regulations regarding marketing and advertising that are applicable to our products,
with which we, and our third parties advertising on our behalf, must comply.

The FDA and the FTC require any claim on products to be truthful and not misleading. Failure to comply with these requirements may be subject to regulatory penalties or
civil litigation. Our advertising often uses humor in conjunction with supportable facts about the products or their ingredients to engage with our customers and promote the
brand. While we have not faced any liability concerning our advertising, an adverse ruling or enforcement action that our branding is misleading could harm our marketing and
brand. We also sell certain products or merchandise labeled with an American flag even though they are not made in the United States, such as our coffee, which is roasted in
the United States but sourced in traditional coffee growing regions, such as Latin America. If a customer or regulatory agency were to file suit over misleading advertising
claims, whether or not they are successful, our business and brand reputation could be harmed. As part of its requirements for truth in advertising, FTC’s guidance also states
that endorsements by third parties, including influencers, must be truthful and not misleading. FTC also requires endorsers to make certain disclosures when posting sponsored
content. Failure by our third-party advertisers and sponsored influencers to adhere to these requirements could create liabilities for us.

We, as well as our vendors, are subject to stringent and changing laws, regulations, and industry standards related to data Processing, protection, privacy, and security. The
actual or perceived failure by us, our customers, or vendors to comply with such laws, regulations, and industry standards may harm our business, financial condition,
results of operations, and prospects.

We Process personal information, confidential information, and other information necessary to provide our products and service and ensure that they are delivered
effectively, to operate our business, for legal and marketing purposes, and for other business-related purposes.

Data privacy and regulation of privacy, information security, and Processing has become a significant issue in the United States. The legal and regulatory framework for
privacy and security issues is rapidly evolving and is expected to increase our compliance costs and exposure to liability. There are numerous federal, state, and local laws,
orders, codes, regulations, and regulatory guidance regarding privacy, information security, and Processing, the number and scope of which is changing, subject to differing
applications and interpretations, and which may be inconsistent among jurisdictions, or in conflict with other rules, laws, or Data Protection Obligations (defined below). We
expect that there will continue to be new Data Protection Laws and Data Protection Obligations, and we cannot yet determine the impact such future Data Protection Laws may
have on our business. Any significant change to Data Protection Laws and Data Protection Obligations, including without limitation, how the express or implied consent of
customers for Processing is obtained,
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could increase our costs and require us to modify our operations, possibly in a material manner, which we may be unable to complete and may limit our ability to store and
Process customer data and operate our business.

Changes in Data Protection Laws are, and are likely to remain, uncertain for the foreseeable future, and our actual or perceived failure to address or comply with these laws
could: increase our compliance and operational costs; limit our ability to market our products or services and attract new and retain current customers; limit or eliminate our
ability to Process; expose us to regulatory scrutiny, actions, investigations, fines, and penalties; result in reputational harm; lead to a loss of customers; reduce the use of our
products or services; result in litigation and liability, including class action litigation; cause us to incur significant costs, expenses, and fees (including attorney fees); cause a
material adverse impact to business operations or financial results; and otherwise result in other material harm to our business (“Adverse Data Protection Impact”).

We are or may also be subject to the terms of our external and internal privacy and security policies, codes, representations, certifications, industry standards, publications,
and frameworks (“Privacy Policies”) and contractual obligations to third parties related to privacy, information security, and Processing, including contractual obligations to
indemnify and hold harmless third parties from the costs or consequences of non-compliance with Data Protection Laws or other obligations (“Data Protection Obligations”).

We strive to comply with applicable Data Protection Laws, Privacy Policies, and Data Protection Obligations to the extent possible, but at times our efforts may be
inadequate, or perceived to be so. Moreover, despite our efforts, we may not be successful in achieving compliance if our employees, partners, or vendors do not comply with
applicable Data Protection Laws, Privacy Policies, and Data Protection Obligations. We may be subject to and suffer an Adverse Data Protection Impact if we fail (or are
perceived to have failed) to comply with applicable Data Protection Laws, Privacy Policies, and Data Protection Obligations, if our Privacy Policies are, in whole or part, found
to be inaccurate, incomplete, deceptive, unfair, or misrepresentative of our actual practices. In addition, any such failure or perceived failure could result in public statements
against us by consumer advocacy groups, the media, or others, which may cause us material reputational harm. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with Data Protection
Laws, Privacy Policies, and Data Protection Obligations could also subject us to litigation, claims, proceedings, actions, or investigations by governmental entities, authorities,
or regulators, which could result in an Adverse Data Protection Impact, including required changes to our business practices, the diversion of resources and the attention of
management from our business, regulatory oversights and audits, discontinuance of strategic Processing, or other remedies that adversely affect our business.

In the United States, these include rules and regulations promulgated under the authority of the FTC, the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, the Computer Fraud and
Abuse Act, the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”) and other state and federal laws relating to privacy and data security. The CCPA, among other things, establishes a
privacy framework for covered businesses, including an expansive definition of personal data and data privacy rights. The CCPA provides individual privacy rights for
California residents and places increased privacy and security obligations on covered businesses Processing personal data. The CCPA requires covered businesses to provide
new disclosures to California residents and provide such individuals with ways to opt-out of certain sales of personal data. The CCPA also provides a private right of action and
statutory damages for violations, including for data breaches. Compliance with the CCPA may impact our business activities by increasing our compliance costs and potential
liability with respect to personal information that we or third parties with whom we contract to provide services maintain about California residents. The CCPA was expanded
on January 1, 2023, when the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (“CPRA”) became operative. The CPRA, among other things, gives California residents the ability to limit
use of certain sensitive personal data, further restrict the use of cross-contextual advertising, establishes restrictions on the retention of personal data, expands the types of data
breaches subject to the CCPA’s private right of action, provide for increased penalties for CPRA violations concerning California residents under the age of 16, and establishes a
new California Privacy Protection Agency to implement and enforce the law. Compliance risks introduced by Data Protection Laws such as the CCPA and CPRA exemplify the
vulnerability of our business to the evolving regulatory environment related to personal data.

Moreover, across the United States, laws and regulations governing data privacy and security continue to develop and evolve. For example, Virginia enacted the Consumer
Data Protection Act (“CDPA”) that may impose obligations similar to or more stringent than those we may face under other Data Protection Laws. Compliance with the CPRA,
the CCPA, the CDPA, similar state laws in other states, and any newly enacted privacy and data security laws or regulations may be challenging and cost- and time-intensive,
and may require us to modify our data Processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs and potential liability in an effort to comply with such legislation. The
Data Protection Laws, Privacy Policies, and Data Protection Obligations to which we are subject may significantly affect our business activities and many of these obligations
may contain ambiguous provisions creating uncertainty. Compliance with the requirements imposed by such Data Protection Laws and Data Protection Obligations may require
us to revise our business practices, allocate more resources to privacy and security, and implement new technologies. Such efforts may result in significant costs to our business.
Noncompliance could result in Adverse Data Protection Impact, including proceedings against us by governmental and regulatory entities, collaborators, individuals, or others.
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We rely on a variety of marketing techniques and practices, including email and social media marketing, online targeted advertising, and cookie-based processing, to sell
our products and services and to attract new customers, and we, and our vendors, are subject to various current and future Data Protection Laws and Data Protection Obligations
that govern marketing and advertising practices. Governmental authorities continue to evaluate the privacy implications inherent in the use of third party “cookies” and other
methods of online tracking for behavioral advertising and other purposes, such as by regulating the level of consumer notice and consent required before a company can employ
cookies or other electronic tracking tools or the use of data gathered with such tools. Additionally, some providers of consumer devices, web browsers, and application shops
have implemented, or announced plans to implement, means to make it easier for Internet users to prevent the placement of cookies or to block other tracking technologies,
require additional consents, or limit the ability to track user activity, which could, if widely adopted, result in the use of third party cookies and other methods of online tracking
becoming significantly less effective. Laws and regulations regarding the use of these cookies and other current online tracking and advertising practices or a loss in our ability
to make effective use of services that employ such technologies could increase our costs of operations and limit our ability to acquire new customers on cost-effective terms,
which, in turn, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

We and our franchise partners are subject to extensive government regulations that could result in claims leading to increased costs and restrict our ability to operate
franchises.

We and our franchise partners are subject to extensive government regulation at the federal, state, and local government levels, including by the FTC, FDA, and state
authorities. These include, but are not limited to, regulations relating to the preparation and sale of beverages, menu and product labeling requirements, zoning and building
codes, franchising, land use, and employee, health, sanitation, and safety matters. We and our franchise partners are required to obtain and maintain a wide variety of
governmental licenses, permits, and approvals. Local authorities may suspend or deny renewal of our governmental licenses if they determine that our operations do not meet
the standards for initial grant or renewal. Difficulty or failure in obtaining them in the future could result in delaying or canceling the opening of new Outposts and thus could
harm our business. Any such failure could also subject us to liability from our franchise partners.

Additionally, Congress has a legislation proposal in process that could shift more liability for franchise partner employment practices onto franchisers. The Protecting the
Right to Organize Act would codify the Browning-Ferris decision that redefined joint employment to include a broader category of conduct by the franchisor, thereby increasing
the possibility of us being held liable for our franchise partners’ employment practices.

Our business, like many other beverage and restaurant companies, is subject to the risk of class action lawsuits and other proceedings that are costly, divert management
attention, and, if successful, could result in our payment of substantial damages or settlement costs.

Our business is subject to the risk of litigation by employees, customers, competitors, landlords, or neighboring businesses, suppliers, franchise partners, stockholders, or
others through private actions, class actions, administrative proceedings, regulatory actions, or other litigation. The outcome of litigation, particularly class action and regulatory
actions, is difficult to assess or quantify. In recent years, beverage and restaurant companies have been subject to lawsuits, including class action lawsuits, alleging violations of
federal and state laws regarding workplace and employment matters misleading food and beverage labeling and advertising, discrimination, and similar matters. A number of
these lawsuits have resulted in the payment of substantial damages by the defendants. Similar lawsuits have been instituted from time to time alleging violations of various
federal and state wage and hour laws regarding, among other things, employee meal deductions, overtime eligibility of assistant managers, and failure to pay for all hours
worked. While we have not been a party to any of these types of lawsuits in the past, there can be no assurance that we will not be named in any such lawsuit in the future or that
we would not be required to pay substantial expenses or damages.

Our customers may file complaints or lawsuits against us alleging that we are responsible for some illness or injury they suffered at or after a visit to one of our Outposts,
including actions seeking damages resulting from food-borne illness or accidents in our Outposts. We also could be subject to a variety of other claims from third parties arising
in the ordinary course of our business, including contract claims. The food and beverage and restaurant industries have also been subject to a growing number of claims,
including regarding restaurant menus and obesity, misleading advertising or labeling claims, claims regarding the presence of contaminants, and more.

Occasionally, we and our franchise partners may become involved in disputes with neighbors, government officials, and landlords over the lines of cars attempting to visit
our Outposts. These disputes could lead to the loss or changing of locations, changes to hours and operations, and costly litigation. If we are unable to reach agreement in future
disputes or to alleviate pressure on certain Outposts by building additional Outposts or making operational changes, we may be required to close locations or alter operations at
some locations. Lost sales and royalty payments caused by such closures or alterations, plus increased expenses from litigation, would harm our business.
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Our business also carries a unique risk of liability in our industry regarding personal injury to employees and contractors. Our content creation team often produces videos
and other media depicting risky or dangerous activities, showcasing stunts and activities with firearms, military vehicles, “extreme” sports, marksmanships, and other themes
pursuing the lifestyle associated with our brand. While we take precautions to ensure the safety of all involved in creating this content, the activities carry an inherent risk that
cannot be eliminated. If any individual were to suffer serious harm while involved with one of our productions, this could lead to litigation against us.

Regardless of whether any claims against us are valid or whether we are liable, claims may be expensive to defend and may divert time and money away from our
operations. In addition, they may generate negative publicity, which could reduce customer traffic and sales. Although we maintain what we believe to be adequate levels of
insurance, insurance may not be available at all or in sufficient amounts to cover any liabilities with respect to these or other matters. A judgment or other liability in excess of
our insurance coverage for any claims or any adverse publicity resulting from claims could harm our business.

Changes in statutory, regulatory, accounting, and other legal requirements, including changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, could
potentially impact our operating and financial results.

We are subject to numerous statutory, regulatory, and legal requirements including with respect to accounting practices and principles. Our operating results could be
negatively impacted by developments in these areas due to the costs of compliance in addition to possible government penalties and litigation in the event of deemed
noncompliance.

Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (”FASB”), the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the SEC, and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or
interpretations could have a significant effect on our reported financial results, and could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement of a change.

Legislation and regulations requiring the display and provision of nutritional information for our menu offerings, and new information or attitudes regarding diet and
health or adverse opinions about the health effects of consuming our menu offerings, could affect consumer preferences and negatively impact our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Government regulation and consumer eating habits may impact our business as a result of changes in attitudes regarding diet and health or new information regarding the
health effects of consuming our menu offerings. These changes have resulted in, and may continue to result in, the enactment of laws and regulations that impact the ingredients
and nutritional content of our menu offerings, or laws and regulations requiring us to disclose the nutritional content of our food offerings.

For example, a number of states, counties, and cities have enacted menu labeling laws requiring multi-unit restaurant operators to disclose certain nutritional information to
customers, or have enacted legislation restricting the use of certain types of ingredients in food sold at restaurants. Furthermore, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act
of 2010 (“PPACA”) established a uniform federal requirement for certain restaurants to post certain nutritional information on their menus. Specifically, the PPACA amended
the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act to require certain chain restaurants to publish the total number of calories of standard menu items on menus and menu boards, along
with a statement that puts this calorie information in the context of a total daily calorie intake. The PPACA also requires covered restaurants to provide to consumers, upon
request, a written summary of detailed nutritional information for each standard menu item, and to provide a statement on menus and menu boards about the availability of this
information. The PPACA further permits the FDA to require covered restaurants to make additional nutrient disclosures, such as disclosure of trans-fat content. An unfavorable
report on, or reaction to, our menu ingredients, the size of our portions, or the nutritional content of our menu items could negatively influence the demand for our offerings.

We cannot make any assurances regarding our ability to effectively respond to changes in consumer health perceptions or our ability to successfully implement the nutrient
content disclosure requirements and to adapt our menu offerings to trends in drinking and consumption habits. The imposition of menu-labeling laws could have an adverse
effect on our results of operations and financial position, as well as the beverage industry in general.

Following the Business Combination, we have incurred significant increased expenses and administrative burdens as a public company, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

As a public company, we now face increased legal, accounting, administrative and other costs and expenses as a public company that BRCC did not incur as a private
company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), including the requirements of Section 404, as well as rules and regulations subsequently implemented
by the SEC, the

37



Table of Contents

Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the rules and regulations promulgated and to be promulgated thereunder, the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (“PCAOB”) and the securities exchanges, impose additional reporting and other obligations on public companies. Compliance with public company
requirements will increase costs and make certain activities more time-consuming. A number of those requirements require us to carry out activities BRCC had not done
previously. For example, we have created new board committees and adopted new internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures. In addition, additional expenses
associated with SEC reporting requirements will be incurred. Furthermore, if any issues in complying with those requirements are identified (for example, if the auditors
identify a material weakness or significant deficiency in the internal control over financial reporting), we could incur additional costs rectifying those issues, and the existence of
those issues could adversely affect our reputation or investor perceptions of it. It may also be more expensive to obtain director and officer liability insurance. Risks associated
with our status as a public company may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on the board of directors or as executive officers.

The additional reporting and other obligations imposed by these rules and regulations will increase legal and financial compliance costs and the costs of related legal,
accounting and administrative activities. These increased costs will require us to divert a significant amount of money that could otherwise be used to expand the business and
achieve strategic objectives. Advocacy efforts by stockholders and third parties may also prompt additional changes in governance and reporting requirements, which could
further increase costs.

Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure

The Tax Receivable Agreement with the Unitholders of Authentic Brands requires us to make cash payments to them in respect of certain tax benefits to which we may
become entitled, and we expect that the payments we will be required to make could be substantial.

In connection with the consummation of our initial public offering, we entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement with the Unitholders of Authentic Brands. Pursuant to the
TRA, we will be required to make cash payments to such Unitholders of Authentic Brands equal to 85% of the tax benefits, if any, that we actually realize, or, in some
circumstances, are deemed to realize, as a result of (1) the increase in our wholly owned subsidiary’s proportionate share of the existing tax basis of the assets of Authentic
Brands and an adjustment in the tax basis of the assets of Authentic Brands reflected in that proportionate share as a result of any future exchanges of Units held by the
Unitholders of Authentic Brands for shares of our Class A Common Stock or cash, and (2) certain other tax benefits related to payments we make under the TRA. Due to the
uncertainty of various factors, we cannot estimate the likely tax benefits we will realize as a result of Unit exchanges, and the resulting amounts we are likely to pay out to
Unitholders of Authentic Brands pursuant to the TRA; however, we estimate that such payments may be substantial. Payments under the TRA will be based on the tax reporting
positions that we determine, which tax reporting positions will be based on the advice of our tax advisors. Any payments made by us to the Unitholders of Authentic Brands
under the TRA will generally reduce the amount of overall cash flow that might have otherwise been available to us. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under
the Tax Receivable Agreement, such payments generally will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid. Nonpayment for a specified period, however, may constitute a
breach of a material obligation under the TRA and therefore accelerate payments due under the TRA, unless, generally, such nonpayment is due to a lack of sufficient funds.
Furthermore, our future obligation to make payments under the TRA could make us a less attractive target for an acquisition, particularly in the case of an acquirer that cannot
use some or all of the tax benefits that may be deemed realized under the TRA. The payments under the TRA are also not conditioned upon the Unitholders of Authentic Brands
maintaining a continued ownership interest in Authentic Brands. The actual amount and timing of any payments under the TRA will vary depending upon a number of factors,
including the timing of exchanges by the Unitholders of Authentic Brands, the amount of gain recognized by such Unitholders of Authentic Brands, the amount and timing of
the taxable income we generate in the future and the federal tax rates then applicable.

The amounts that we may be required to pay under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be accelerated in certain circumstances and may also significantly exceed the
actual tax savings that it ultimately realizes.

Unless waived by the Agent under the TRA, where applicable, the TRA provides that if certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combination, or other changes
of control were to occur, if we were to breach any of its material obligations under the TRA, if certain events relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceedings with
respect to us were to occur, or if, at any time, we elect an early termination of the TRA (with the consent of a majority of its disinterested directors and of the Agent under the
TRA), then the TRA will terminate and its obligations, or its successor’s obligations, to make future payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement would accelerate and
become due and payable in a lump-sum amount representing the present value of all forecasted future payments that would have otherwise been made under the TRA. The
amount due and payable in those circumstances is determined based on certain assumptions, including an assumption that we would have sufficient taxable income to fully
utilize all potential future tax benefits that are subject to the TRA and may substantially exceed the actual tax savings that we will realize. We may need to incur debt to finance
payments under the TRA to the extent our cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under the TRA
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as a result of timing discrepancies or otherwise. In these situations, our obligations under the TRA could have a substantial negative impact on its liquidity and could have the
effect of delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combination, or other changes of control. There can be no assurance that we will
be able to finance its obligations under the TRA.

We are a public benefit corporation, and our focus on our public benefit company purpose may negatively impact our financial performance.

Unlike traditional corporations, which have a fiduciary duty to focus exclusively on maximizing stockholder value, our directors have a fiduciary duty to balance the
pecuniary interests of stockholders, the best interests of those materially affected by our conduct and our public benefit company purpose (the “PBC Purpose”). Therefore, we
may take actions that it believes will be in the best interests of those stakeholders materially affected by our conduct and/or pursuant to the PBC Purpose even if those actions do
not maximize our financial results. Our public benefit designation and obligation to provide an overall net benefit to us and our stakeholders and promote the PBC Purpose
could cause us to make decisions and take actions without seeking to maximize the income generated from our business, and hence available for distribution to our
stockholders. Our pursuit of longer-term or non-pecuniary benefits may not materialize within the timeframe we expect or at all, yet may have an immediate negative effect on
any amounts available for distribution to our stockholders. Accordingly, being a public benefit corporation could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition, which in turn could cause the price of our stock to decline.

While we generally believe our pursuit of our PBC Purpose creates value for our brand as well as the individuals and organizations we serve, there is no assurance that we
will be able to achieve the PBC Purpose or that the expected positive impact from being a public benefit corporation will be realized, which could have a material adverse effect
on our reputation, which in turn may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Additionally, while directors of traditional corporations are required to make decisions they believe to be in the best interests of their stockholders, directors of a public
benefit corporation have a fiduciary duty to consider not only the stockholders’ interests, but also the PBC Purpose and the interests of other stakeholders affected by the
Company’s actions. Under Delaware law, directors are shielded from liability for breach of these obligations if they make informed and disinterested decisions that serve a
rational purpose. Thus, unlike traditional corporations which must focus exclusively on stockholder value, our directors are not merely permitted, but are obligated, to consider
the PBC Purpose and the interests of other stakeholders. In the event of a conflict between the interests of our stockholders and the interests of the PBC Purpose or our other
stakeholders, our directors must only make informed and disinterested decisions that serve a rational purpose. Therefore, there is no guarantee such a conflict would be resolved
in favor of our stockholders, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition, which in turn could cause the price of our
stock to decline.

Our status as a public benefit corporation could make our acquisition, which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult.

Our status as a public benefit corporation could make it more difficult for another party to obtain control of the Company. While Delaware case law, as established in
Revlon, Inc. v. MacAndrews & Forbes Holdings, Inc., 506 A.2d 173 (Del. 1986), and related cases, imposes upon directors of a traditional corporation a duty to maximize short-
term stockholder value in certain ‘sale of the company’ transactions, a public benefit corporation board’s decision-making would not be subject to those same constraints. Our
Board could reject a bid to acquire us in favor of pursuing the PBC Purpose, to the detriment of stockholders. Consideration of these competing interests would not preclude our
Board from accepting a bid that maximizes short-term stockholder value. Rather, our Board could weigh the merits of accepting the short-term value offered by a bid against
other options that may generate greater long-term value, be in the best interests of those materially affected by our conduct and/or better promote the PBC Purpose and, if
appropriate, could accept a bid that does not maximize the financial return to stockholders. Any of the foregoing provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing
to pay in the future for shares of our capital stock, and deter potential acquirers of the Company, thereby reducing the likelihood that you would receive a premium for your
stock in an acquisition.

Further, public benefit corporations may not be attractive targets for activists or hedge fund investors because new directors would still have to consider and give
appropriate weight to the public benefit along with stockholder value, and stockholders committed to the public benefit can enforce this through derivative suits. By requiring
that board of directors of public benefit corporations consider additional constituencies other than maximizing stockholder value, Delaware public benefit corporation law could
potentially make it easier for our Board to reject a hostile bid, even where the takeover would maximize the financial return to stockholders.

As a public benefit corporation, we may be subject to increased derivative litigation concerning our duty to balance stockholder interests and the PBC Purpose, the
occurrence of which may have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.
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Stockholders of a Delaware public benefit corporation, if they, individually or collectively, own at least 2.0% of its outstanding capital stock or at least $2.0 million in
market value, are entitled to file a derivative lawsuit claiming that its directors failed to balance stockholder and public benefit interests. This potential liability does not exist
for traditional corporations. Therefore, we may be subject to the possibility of increased derivative litigation, which would require the attention of management and, as a result,
may adversely impact management’s ability to effectively execute our strategy. Any such derivative litigation may be costly and have an adverse impact on our financial
condition and results of operations.

As a public benefit corporation, we are required to comply with various new reporting requirements, which, even if complied with, could result in harm to our reputation.

As a public benefit corporation, we are required to publicly disclose a report at least biennially on our overall public benefit performance and success in achieving our
specific public benefit purpose. If we are not able to provide this report in a timely manner or at all, or if the report is not viewed favorably by parties doing business with us or
regulators or others reviewing our credentials, our reputation and status as a public benefit corporation may be harmed and the value of our stock could decrease as a result.

Our only material assets are our direct and indirect interests in BRCC LLC, and we are accordingly dependent upon distributions from BRCC LLC to pay dividends and
taxes and other expenses.

We are a holding company and have no material assets other than our managing member interest in Authentic Brands and direct and indirect limited liability company
interests in BRCC LLC. We have no independent means of generating revenue. We intend to cause our subsidiaries (including Authentic Brands and BRCC LLC) to make
distributions in an amount sufficient to cover all applicable taxes and other expenses payable and dividends, if any, we declare. The terms of any credit agreements or other
borrowing arrangements we or our subsidiaries have entered into or may enter into in the future may impose restrictions on the ability to pay us dividends. To the extent that we
need funds, and any of our direct or indirect subsidiaries are restricted from making such distributions under these debt agreements or applicable law or regulation, or are
otherwise unable to provide such funds, it could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.

Delaware law, the Charter and the Bylaws contain certain provisions, including anti- takeover provisions that limit the ability of stockholders to take certain actions and
could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

The Charter, the Bylaws and Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”) contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying, or
preventing an acquisition deemed undesirable by our Board and therefore depress the trading price of our Class A Common Stock. These provisions could also make it difficult
for stockholders to take certain actions, including electing directors who are not nominated by the current members of our Board or taking other corporate actions, including
effecting changes in management. Among other things, the Charter and Bylaws include provisions regarding:

• a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a majority of our Board;
• the ability of our Board to issue shares of preferred stock, including “blank check” preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares, including

preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;
• the limitation of the liability of, and the indemnification of, our directors and officers;
• the right of our Board to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our Board or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents

stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our Board;
• the requirement that directors may only be removed from our Board for cause, upon the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66-2/3% of the voting power of all of

then outstanding shares of the voting stock, voting together as a single class;
• the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by our Board, the chairman of our Board or our chief executive officer, which could delay the

ability of stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;
• controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of our Board and stockholder meetings;
• the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of (i) (a) at least 66-2/3%, in case of certain provisions or (b) a majority, in case of other provisions, of the voting

power of all of then outstanding shares of the voting stock, voting together as a single class, to amend, alter, change or repeal certain provisions of the Charter; and (ii)
(a) at least 66-2/3%, in case of certain provisions, or (b) a majority, in case of other provisions, of the voting power of all of then outstanding shares of the voting stock,
voting together as a single class, to amend, alter, change or repeal certain provisions of the Bylaws, which could preclude stockholders from bringing matters before
annual or

40



Table of Contents

special meetings of stockholders and delay changes in our Board and also may inhibit the ability of an acquirer to effect such amendments to facilitate an unsolicited
takeover attempt;

• the ability of our Board to amend the Bylaws, which may allow our Board to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an
acquirer to amend the Bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

• advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our Board or to propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting,
which could preclude stockholders from bringing matters before annual or special meetings of stockholders and delay changes in our Board and also may discourage or
deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the
Company.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our Board or management.

In addition, as a Delaware public benefit corporation, we are generally subject to provisions of Delaware law, including the DGCL. Although we elected not to be governed
by Section 203 of the DGCL, certain provisions of the Charter, in a manner substantially similar to Section 203 of the DGCL, prohibit certain of our stockholders (other than
Evan Hafer) who hold 15% or more of our outstanding capital stock from engaging in certain business combination transactions with us for a specified period of time unless
certain conditions are met.

Any provision of the Charter, the Bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control could limit the opportunity for stockholders to
receive a premium for their shares of our capital stock and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our common stock.

In addition, the provisions of the Investor Rights Agreement, as described below, provide the stockholders party thereto with certain board rights which could also have the
effect of delaying or preventing a change in control.

The Charter designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by
our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees.

The Charter provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company,
(ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our current or former directors, officers, other employees, agents or stockholders to the Company
or our stockholders, or any claim for aiding and abetting such alleged breach, (iii) any action asserting a claim against the Company or any of our current or former directors,
officers, other employees, agents or stockholders (a) arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, the Charter (as it may be amended or restated) or the Bylaws or (b) as to
which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Delaware Court of Chancery or (iv) any action asserting a claim against the Company or any of our current or former directors,
officers, other employees, agents or stockholders governed by the internal affairs doctrine of the law of the State of Delaware shall, as to any action in the foregoing clauses (i)
through (iv), to the fullest extent permitted by law, be solely and exclusively brought in the Delaware Court of Chancery; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not apply
to any claim (a) as to which the Delaware Court of Chancery determines that there is an indispensable party not subject to the jurisdiction of the Delaware Court of Chancery
(and the indispensable party does not consent to the personal jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery within ten days following such determination), (b) which is vested in the
exclusive jurisdiction of a court or forum other than the Delaware Court of Chancery, or (c) arising under federal securities laws, including the Securities Act as to which the
federal district courts of the United States of America shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provisions of the Charter do not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act, or any other claim
for which the federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the sole and exclusive forum. While Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction
for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, Section 27 of the Exchange
Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the forum
provisions in the Charter. If any action the subject matter of which is within the scope of the forum provisions is filed in a court other than a court located within the State of
Delaware (a “foreign action”) in the name of any stockholder, such stockholder shall be deemed to have consented to: (x) the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal courts
located within the State of Delaware in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce the forum provisions (an “enforcement action”); and (y) having service
of process made upon such stockholder in any such enforcement action by service upon such stockholder’s counsel in the foreign action as agent for such stockholder.
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This choice-of-forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers,
stockholders, agents or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits. We note that there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce this provision, and the
enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ charter documents has been challenged in legal proceedings. Further, investors cannot waive
compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. It is possible that a court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or
unenforceable, and if a court were to find this provision of the Charter inapplicable or unenforceable with respect to one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings,
we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations and result in a diversion of the time and resources of our management and board of directors.

Certain significant stockholders and Authentic Brands’ members whose interests may differ from those of our public stockholders following the Business Combination
have the ability to significantly influence our business and management.

Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement that we have entered into at the consummation of the Business Combination (the “Closing”) on February 9, 2022 in connection
with the Business Combination, we agreed to nominate two designees by Engaged Capital, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and member of SilverBox Engaged
Sponsor LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, (the “Sponsor”), and its affiliates (“Engaged Capital”) (on behalf of certain affiliates of Engaged Capital (the “Engaged
Equityholders”)) and three designees by Evan Hafer (including himself) to serve on our Board for so long as each of them and their respective affiliates and specified family
members beneficially own certain specified percentages of certain economic interests in the Company and Authentic Brands held as of the Closing, without duplication. In
addition, until the fifth anniversary of the Closing, the Sponsor, the Engaged Equityholders and certain other equityholders party to the Investor Rights Agreement have agreed
to vote all of their voting stock with respect to election and removal of directors as directed by Evan Hafer. Separately, certain specific actions shall be approved by two-thirds
of the directors then in office. As a result, Evan Hafer effectively controls a majority of the votes on director elections and removals. Accordingly, Evan Hafer is able to
significantly influence the approval of actions requiring our Board’s approval through its voting power. Evan Hafer retains significant influence with respect to our
management, business plans and policies, including the appointment and removal of our officers. In particular, Evan Hafer could influence whether acquisitions, dispositions
and other change of control transactions are approved.

Risks Related to an Investment in Our Securities

We may issue additional shares of our Class A Common Stock or other equity securities without your approval, which would dilute your ownership interests and may
depress the market price of your shares.

We may issue additional shares of our Class A Common Stock or other equity securities of equal or senior rank in the future in connection with, among other things, future
acquisitions, repayment of outstanding indebtedness or under our incentive plans, without stockholder approval, in a number of circumstances.

Our issuance of additional shares of our Class A Common Stock or other equity securities of equal or senior rank could have the following effects:

• your proportionate ownership interest in the Company will decrease;
• the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding share of common stock may be diminished; or
• the market price of your shares of our Class A Common Stock may decline.

A significant portion of our shares of Class A Common Stock are available for immediate resale by certain existing shareholders and may be sold into the market in the
future. Sales of our Class A Common Stock by our existing shareholders may cause the market price of our Class A Common Stock to drop significantly, even if our
business is doing well.

A significant portion of our outstanding shares of common stock are available for immediate resale under the Rule 144 exemption promulgated under the Securities Act
(subject to applicable limitations) and/or an effective resale registration statement. The market price of shares of our Class A Common Stock could decline as a result of
substantial sales of our Class A Common Stock by holders thereof, including Evan Hafer, or the perception in the market that holders of a large number of shares intend to sell
their shares. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A Common Stock in the public market could occur at any time.

In addition, certain holders of our shares of common stock purchased their securities at different prices, some at prices significantly below the current trading price of such
securities and some received their shares without any cash consideration. Such holders may potentially make a significant profit with the sale of their shares of common stock
depending on the trading price of the Company’s common stock at the time of a sale and the purchase price of such
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common stock by such holders. While the selling holders may experience a positive rate of return based on the trading price of the Company’s common stock, the public
holders of the Company’s common stock may not experience a similar rate of return on the common stock they purchased due to differences in the applicable purchase price
and trading price.

We are an emerging growth company within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if we take advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements available to
emerging growth companies, this could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to compare our performance with other public
companies.

We are designated as an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (“JOBS Act”), and
we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies
including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in the periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive
compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. As a result, our stockholders may not have access to certain information
they may deem important. We could be an emerging growth company for up to five years, although circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier, including if the
market value of our Class A Common Stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any June 30 before that time, in which case we would no longer be an emerging
growth company as of the following December 31. We cannot predict whether investors will find our securities less attractive if we rely on these exemptions. If some investors
find our securities less attractive as a result of our reliance on these exemptions, the trading prices of our securities may be lower than they otherwise would be, there may be a
less active trading market for our securities and the trading prices of our securities may be more volatile.

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards until
private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the Exchange
Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period
and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such an election to opt out is irrevocable. We have elected not to opt out of such
extended transition period which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as an emerging
growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of our financial statements
with another public company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition period
difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accountant standards used.

We are subject to rules and regulations regarding our internal control over financial reporting. Failure to establish and maintain effective internal controls in accordance
with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material adverse effect on our business.

As a public company, we are required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which require management to certify
financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. To
comply with the requirements of being a public company, we are required to provide attestation on internal controls. Likewise, our independent registered public accounting
firm will be required to provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting at such time as we cease to be an emerging growth
company.

We expect to incur costs to enhance our internal control environment in upcoming years. If we identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting
or if we are unable to comply with the demands placed upon us as a public company, including the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, in a timely manner,
we may be unable to accurately report our financial results, or report them within the timeframes required by the SEC. We also could become subject to sanctions or
investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities. In addition, if we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our
independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, when required, investors
may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, we may face restricted access to the capital markets and our stock price may be adversely
affected.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of NYSE rules and, as a result, we qualify for exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements. Our
stockholders do not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to such requirements.

Our founder, Evan Hafer, beneficially owns approximately 63% of the combined voting power of our voting securities. As a result, we are a “controlled company” within
the meaning of the NYSE corporate governance standards. Under these corporate governance standards, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power in the election
of
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directors is held by an individual, group or another company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements. For
example, controlled companies:

• are not required to have a board that is composed of a majority of “independent directors,” as defined under the NYSE rules;
• are not required to have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors; and
• are not required to have director nominations be made, or recommended to the full board of directors, by its independent directors or by a nominations committee that is

composed entirely of independent directors.

Accordingly, our stockholders will not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of
the NYSE.

Our management has limited experience in operating a public company.

Certain of our executive officers and certain directors have limited experience in the management of a publicly traded company. Our management team may not
successfully or effectively manage our transition to a public company that is subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under federal securities laws.
Their limited experience in dealing with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies could be a significant disadvantage in that it is likely that an increasing
amount of their time may be devoted to these activities which will result in less time being devoted to the management and growth of the Company. It is possible that we will be
required to expand our employee base and hire additional employees to support our operations as a public company which will increase our operating costs in future periods.

Because there are no current plans to pay cash dividends on our Class A Common Stock for the foreseeable future, you may not receive any return on investment unless
you sell your Class A Common Stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.

The Company intends to retain future earnings, if any, for use in the Company’s business operations and there are no current plans to pay any cash dividends for the
foreseeable future. The declaration, amount and payment of any future dividends on shares of Class A Common Stock will be at the sole discretion of the Board. The Board may
take into account general and economic conditions, our financial condition and results of operations, our available cash and current and anticipated cash needs, capital
requirements, contractual, legal, tax, and regulatory restrictions, implications on the payment of dividends by us to our stockholders or by our subsidiaries to us and such other
factors as our Board may deem relevant. As a result, stockholders must rely on their sales of Class A Common Stock after appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way
to realize any future gains on their investments.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

The Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) recognizes the critical importance of maintaining the trust and confidence of our customers, clients, business partners, and
employees. Together with Executive management, the Board is actively involved in oversight of the Company’s risk management program, and cybersecurity represents an
important component of the Company’s overall approach. The Company seeks to address cybersecurity risks through a comprehensive, cross-functional approach that is
focused on preserving the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the information that the Company collects and stores by identifying, preventing, and mitigating
cybersecurity threats and effectively responding to cybersecurity incidents when they occur.

Risk Management and Strategy

As one of the critical elements of the Company’s strategy, the Company’s cybersecurity program is focused on the following key areas:

• Governance: As discussed in more detail under the heading “Governance,” the Board’s oversight of cybersecurity risk management is supported by the Audit Committee
of the Board, which regularly interacts with members of senior management tasked with various risk management functions.

• Collaborative Approach: The Company has implemented a comprehensive, cross-functional approach to identifying, preventing, and mitigating cybersecurity threats and
incidents, while also implementing controls and procedures that provide for the prompt escalation of certain cybersecurity incidents so that decisions regarding the public
disclosure and reporting of such incidents can be made by management promptly.
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• Technical Safeguards: The Company deploys technical safeguards that are designed to protect the Company’s information systems from cybersecurity threats, including
firewalls, intrusion prevention and detection systems, anti-malware functionality, and access controls, which are evaluated and improved through vulnerability
assessments and cybersecurity threat intelligence.

• Incident Response and Recovery Planning: The Company has established and maintains comprehensive incident response and recovery plans that fully address the
Company’s response to a cybersecurity incident, and such plans are tested and evaluated regularly.

• Education and Awareness: The Company provides regular, mandatory training for personnel regarding cybersecurity threats as a means to equip the Company’s
personnel with effective tools to address cybersecurity threats, and to communicate the Company’s evolving information security policies, standards, processes, and
practices.

The Company engages in the periodic assessment and testing of the Company’s policies, standards, processes, and practices that are designed to address cybersecurity
threats and incidents. These efforts include a wide range of activities, including assessments, tabletop exercises, vulnerability testing, and other exercises focused on evaluating
the effectiveness of our cybersecurity measures and planning. The Company also engages third parties to perform assessments on our cybersecurity measures.

Governance

The Board, in coordination with the Audit Committee, oversees the Company’s management of risks arising from cybersecurity threats. The Board and the Audit
Committee each receive quarterly presentations and reports on cybersecurity risks, which address a wide range of topics including recent developments, evolving standards,
vulnerability assessments, third-party and independent reviews, the threat environment, technological trends, and information security considerations arising with respect to the
Company’s peers and third parties. The Board and the Audit Committee also receive prompt and timely information regarding any cybersecurity incident that meets established
reporting thresholds, as well as ongoing updates regarding any such incident until it has been addressed.

The Company relies on its Executive management and internal technical experts to implement a program designed to protect the Company’s information systems from
cybersecurity threats and to promptly respond to any cybersecurity incidents in accordance with the Company’s incident response and recovery plans. To facilitate the success
of the Company’s cybersecurity risk management program, dedicated personnel are deployed with the expertise to address cybersecurity threats and to respond to cybersecurity
incidents if and as they occur. The expertise of such dedicated personnel is primarily derived from prior employment and training in the information technology and/or
cybersecurity space. Members of the Security leadership team have served in various leadership roles across the security, intelligence, and cybersecurity domains for over 20
years. Their previous experience spans across the military and private sector, previously leading global cybersecurity intelligence & defensive operations at a fortune 500
enterprise. They hold various security credentials, certifications, and memberships in cybersecurity leadership organizations. Their professional education includes business
management, computer science, and computer applications expertise. Through ongoing communications with these teams, members of management monitor the prevention,
detection, mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity threats and incidents in real-time, and report such threats and incidents to the Audit Committee when appropriate.

Cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have not materially affected or are reasonably likely to affect the Company, including
its business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition.

Item 2. Properties

The material properties used by the Company in connection with its roasting, manufacturing, warehousing, distribution and corporate administrative operations are as
follows:

Property Location Approximate Size (sq. ft.) Function Owned/Leased
Salt Lake City, UT 30,295 HQ and Corporate Owned
Manchester, TN 65,000 Corporate and Manufacturing Owned

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 18 Company-operated stores, most of which are leased. In addition to the locations listed above, we hold inventory at various
locations managed by third-party warehouses. We believe our existing facilities, both owned and leased, are in good condition and suitable for the conduct of our business.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are and may become involved in legal proceedings relating to claims arising from the ordinary course of business as well as other matters. Except as
described below, our management believes that there are currently no claims or actions pending against us, the ultimate disposition of which could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

On April 28, 2022, Tang Capital Partners, LP (“Tang Capital”) filed a lawsuit in federal district court in New York against the Company, Tang Capital Partners, LP v.
BRC Inc., Case 22-CV-3476 (RWL) (Southern District of New York). The complaint alleges that the Tang Capital suffered damages arising from the Company’s refusal on two
alleged occasions to permit Tang Capital to exercise warrants. On March 8, 2023, the court granted the Company’s motion to dismiss a claim for declaratory judgment but
denied the Company’s motion to dismiss a breach of contract claim. The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the claim asserted against it and will defend itself
vigorously in these proceedings; however, there can be no assurances that it will be successful in its efforts.

On June 22, 2023, John Brian Clark, JBC Structured Products LLC, and Marathon Capital LLC (collectively, “Clark”) filed a complaint against BRC Inc. and Black Rifle
Coffee Company LLC: John Brian Clark, et al. v. BRC Inc., et al., Case 1:23-CV-5340 (RWL) (Southern District of New York). Clark alleges a breach of contract and is
seeking a declaratory judgment. The complaint alleges that Clark suffered damages arising from the Company’s refusal to allow Clark to exercise warrants. The lawsuit seeks
unspecified general and compensatory damages, attorneys’ fees, and other reasonable costs and disbursements. The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the
causes of action asserted against it and will defend itself vigorously in these proceedings; however, there can be no assurances that it will be successful in its efforts. Currently
the case is stayed through the resolution of the Tang Capital matter, but Clark has the option to end the stay at any time after the end of June 2024 or a summary judgment
decision in Tang Capital, whichever comes first. The Company is not able at this time to determine or predict the ultimate outcome of this lawsuit or provide a reasonable
estimate or range of estimates of the possible outcome or loss, if any, in this matter.

On February 3, 2023, Strategy and Execution, Inc. ("SEI") filed a lawsuit in federal district court in Texas against one of the Company's wholly owned subsidiaries:
Strategy and Execution, Inc. v. Black Rifle Coffee Company LLC, Case 23-CV-00135 (FB) (Western District of Texas). The complaint alleges that SEI, a former consultant to
the Company, is owed certain disputed royalties from the Company. On April 4, 2023, the Company filed a partial motion to dismiss several of the claims which is currently
pending. The Company maintains all royalties expire upon expiration of the parties’ contract on December 31, 2023, and prior to such expiration, only SKUs manufactured at
co-manufacturers SEI introduced the Company to, are subject to such royalty. Through December 31, 2023, the Company has expensed all royalties for co-manufacturers which
SEI introduced.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Information About Our Executive Officers

The following is a list of names, ages and backgrounds of our current executive officers:

Name Age Position(s) Held

Evan Hafer 47 Founder, Executive Chairmen
Mat Best 37 Chief Branding Officer
Stephen Kadenacy 55 Chief Financial Officer
Christopher Mondzelewski 50 President and CEO, Director
Andrew McCormick 38 General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Evan Hafer founded the Company in 2014 and was Chief Executive Officer from its inception until Mr. Mondzelewski’s appointment on January 1, 2024. He is a director
and served as Chairman of the Board from our inception to July 2022, and resumed such role as Executive Chairman on January 1, 2024. Prior to founding the Company, Mr.
Hafer had fifteen years of service in the U.S. military and worked as a contractor for the CIA. As a member of the military, he served as a Green Beret with the 19th Special
Forces Group and was deployed overseas multiple times. Mr. Hafer attended the University of Idaho and has been roasting coffee since 2006.

Mat Best co-founded the Company with Mr. Hafer and has served as the Company’s Chief Branding Officer since the Company’s inception. Prior to co-founding the
Company, he founded Article 15 Clothing, and created multiple brands, such as Leadslingers Spirits and the Drinkin’ Bros Podcast. When serving in the U.S. military, Mr. Best
deployed five times to Iraq and Afghanistan, serving under the 2nd Ranger Battalion, 75th Ranger Regiment. After his military service, he did contract work for the CIA for five
years. Mr. Best holds a B.L.A. from Ashford University.
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Christopher Mondzelewski has served as the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board since January 1, 2024. Prior to his
appointment as Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Mondzelewski has served as the President of the Company from June 28, 2023 and began his time with the Company on May 1,
2023, when he was appointed to the position of Chief Marketing Officer. Mr. Mondzelewski brings over 20 years of consumer marketing, business and leadership experience,
most recently serving as the Chief Growth Officer of Mars’ $12B+ Global Petcare business. Throughout Mr.  Mondzelewski’s almost 12-year tenure at Mars, he consistently
grew his responsibilities, holding multiple marketing and business development leadership roles in which he led transformative growth and operational improvement strategies
across numerous brands. Prior to joining Mars, Mr. Mondzelewski held marketing roles at Kraft Foods, where he launched several successful campaigns. Before his business
career, Mr. Mondzelewski was a Marine for five years, deploying in support of Operation Desert Freedom.

Stephen Kadenacy, has served as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer since September 18, 2023. Mr Kadenacy, who is the former Chief Financial Officer of AECOM,
is a significant shareholder and has deep familiarity with BRCC’s operations and financial profile, having played an integral role in the business combination of BRCC and
SilverBox, including serving as Chief Executive Officer of SilverBox Engaged Merger Corp until its merger with BRCC in February 2022. Mr. Kadenacy is a seasoned
investment professional and former Fortune 200 operating executive with expertise in managing, building and growing global public organizations, most recently serving as
Co-Managing Member of SilverBox Capital, an investment firm which he co-founded in 2017. With experience spanning over three decades, Mr. Kadenacy was also the CEO
of Boxwood Merger Corp until its merger with Atlas Technical Consulting and then remained on the Board. Previously, Mr. Kadenacy held leadership roles at AECOM, a
global engineering and technical services company, including serving as President, Chief Operating Officer, and Chief Financial Officer. Prior to his corporate career, Mr.
Kadenacy was a Partner at KPMG in the Economic Consulting Practice and served as a member of the Board of Directors of ABM Industries, a provider of facility management
services. Mr. Kadenacy also served on the Board of the YMCA of Greater Los Angeles and the Board of Trustees for UCLA’s Anderson School of Business. Mr. Kadenacy
holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from UCLA and an MBA from USC.

Andrew McCormick joined the Company as General Counsel and Corporate Secretary in September 2021. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. McCormick served as
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of Laird Superfood from February 2019 to September 2021. Mr. McCormick previously worked as a senior associate at Hogan
Lovells US LLP from 2014 to 2019 and as an associate at Latham & Watkins (London), LLP from 2011 to 2013. In 2010, Mr. McCormick completed a civilian clerkship with
US Army JAG in Seoul, South Korea. Mr. McCormick graduated from Hendrix College with a B.A. with distinction, and holds a J.D. from Columbia University and an LL.M.
from the London School of Economics.

Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our Class A Common Stock began trading on the NYSE under the symbol “BRCC” on February 10, 2022, in connection with the Closing.

The Company's authorized capital stock consists of 2,802,500,000 shares, including 2,500,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, 300,000,000 shares of Class B
Common Stock, 1,500,000 shares of Class C Common Stock, and 1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock.

In May 2022, the Company redeemed all of its outstanding warrants in accordance with a warrant agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and
SilverBox. Following the redemption, the Company has no warrants outstanding. In connection with the redemption, the warrants ceased trading on the NYSE and were
delisted.

Holders

As of February 29, 2024, there were 60 holders of record of our Class A Common Stock, 63 holders of record of our Class B Common Stock and no holders of record of
our Class C Common Stock and Preferred Stock. The number of record holders does not include persons who held our securities in nominee or “street name” form, whose
shares of record are held by banks, brokers, and other financial institutions.

Dividends

It is the present intention of the Board to retain all earnings, if any, for use in the Company’s business operations and, accordingly, the Board does not anticipate declaring
any dividends in the foreseeable future. The payment of cash
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dividends in the future will be dependent upon the Company’s revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any cash
dividends is within the discretion of the Board. Further, the ability of the Company to declare dividends may be limited by the terms of financing or other agreements entered
into by it or its subsidiaries from time to time.

Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Unless the context otherwise requires, references to “we”, “us”, “our”, “Black Rifle Coffee”, “Black Rifle Coffee Company”, “BRCC” and the “Company” in this section
are to the business and operations of BRC Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the audited annual
consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included in Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data in this Annual Report. In addition to
historical information, this discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that could cause BRCC’s actual results to differ
materially from management’s expectations. Factors which could cause such differences are discussed herein and set forth in Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors in this Annual
Report.

Overview

Black Rifle Coffee Company is a rapidly growing Veteran-controlled and led coffee and media company that operates through three channels: Wholesale, Direct to
Consumer, and our Outposts. Our business started with a loyal and quickly expanding community of consumers through our DTC channel and we now have more than 225,800
active Coffee Club subscribers as of December 31, 2023. We are now experiencing rapid growth in our Wholesale channel as we have continued our expansion into grocery
stores, specialty stores, and other intermediaries. We have also experienced growth in our Outpost channel as we opened additional company owned stores and franchises in
2023.

At Black Rifle Coffee, we develop our roast profiles with the same mission focus we learned as military members serving our country. We produce creative and engaging
cause-related media content to inform, inspire, entertain, and build our community. We also sell Black Rifle Coffee-brand apparel, coffee brewing equipment, and outdoor and
lifestyle gear that our consumers proudly wear and use to showcase our brand. At the heart of everything we do is our commitment to supporting active duty military, Veterans,
first responders, and those who love America.

We utilize a three-pronged approach to craft a unique brand that resonates with our customer base and enhances brand loyalty: Inform, Inspire, and Entertain. We want our
audience to love coffee as much as we do, so we strive to inform them on all the awesome facets of coffee. Every day we work to inspire our customers; we take pride in the
coffee we roast, the Veterans we employ and the causes we support. We give back to the community and are committed to support those who serve.

To support our premium quality product, we own one roasting facility focused on large and small batch roasting. Our coffee beans are primarily roasted in-house and 100%
in the United States to ensure consistency and quality of product. Our coffee beans are sourced only from the highest quality suppliers. Our state-of-the-art equipment guarantees
freshness and offers significant capacity for expansion.

We are a digitally native brand with an established omnichannel business model, reaching our customers through one reportable segment that is comprised of three
channels. Our Wholesale channel includes products sold to an intermediary such as grocery stores, including the FDM customer set, such as Walmart, Specialty Retailers, such
as Bass Pro, and convenience stores which primarily sell our RTD products, such as 7-Eleven. Our DTC channel includes our e-commerce business, through which consumers
order our products online and products are shipped to them. Our Outpost channel includes our Company-operated and franchised Black Rifle Coffee retail coffee shop
locations.

We continue to experience strong revenue growth. Revenue increased to $395.6 million and $301.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively,
representing growth of 31.3% year over year. This growth was primarily driven by our entry into the FDM market for bagged coffee and rounds products, and increases in RTD
product sales, both of which are included in the Wholesale channel.
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The Business Combination

In February 2022, we completed the Business Combination and as a result of the consummation of a series of mergers in connection therewith, Authentic Brands became a
subsidiary of BRC Inc., with BRC Inc. acting as sole managing member of Authentic Brands as a public benefit corporation. The Business Combination was accounted for as a
reverse acquisition and a recapitalization of Authentic Brands. Accordingly, the Business Combination was reflected as the equivalent of Authentic Brands issuing stock for the
net assets of SilverBox, accompanied by a recapitalization. Under this method of accounting, SilverBox is treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes.
The net assets of SilverBox are stated at historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. This accounting treatment was determined as the individual
controlling Authentic Brands prior to the Business Combination also controlled the combined company post business combination.

Trends

Certain trends affecting our business within the respective sales channels are as follows:

• Wholesale channel revenue has increased as we have added new customers and we continue to grow our presence in the FDM market. We expect to see increased
revenue within this channel as we increase investment to obtain new customers and expand in the FDM market.

• DTC revenue growth has slightly declined as a result of our decision to redirect investments to other growing areas of the business as we continue to experience elevated
DTC customer acquisition costs.

• Outpost channel revenue has increased as we continue to open additional stores during 2023. We anticipate limited growth in this channel during 2024.

Key Factors Affecting Our Performance

Our Ability to Increase Brand Awareness

Our ability to promote and maintain brand awareness and loyalty is critical to our success. We believe we have created a highly efficient marketing strategy that provides us
the ability to increase brand awareness and drive consumer interaction. Consumer appreciation of our brands is primarily reflected in the increase of our sales across our three
channels over the last few years. We expect to continue to develop and implement forward-looking brand strategies that leverage social media and employ targeted digital
advertising to expand the reach of our brand.

Our Ability to Grow Our Customer Base in Our Wholesale Channel

We are currently growing our customer base through our Wholesale channel. Our products are also sold through a growing number of physical retail channels. Wholesale
customers include large national retailers, regional retailers, distributors, and dealers.

Our Ability to Acquire and Retain Customers at a Reasonable Cost

We believe our ability to consistently acquire and retain new customers at a reasonable cost will be a key factor affecting our future performance. While we have a strong
presence in major markets, we still have the opportunity to grow brand awareness, with 29% estimated aided awareness in any region of the country. To accomplish this goal,
we intend to grow our brand awareness through various avenues such as national television and streaming advertising, and through select sponsorship and partnership
opportunities. In addition, we will strive to strengthen our social media footprint across various platforms such as Facebook, Google, and YouTube. Our digital capabilities
provide a distinct advantage and enable us to form direct relationships with our customers and capture valuable customer data and insights. We will continue to utilize
marketing measurement to ensure our advertising is effective while expanding our brand reach.

Our Ability to Drive Repeat Usage of Our Products

We gain substantial economic value from repeat users of our products who consistently re-order our products. The pace of our growth rate will be affected by the repeat
usage dynamics of existing and newly acquired customers.

Our Ability to Expand Our Product Line

Our goal is to continue to expand our product line over time to increase our growth opportunity and reduce product-specific risks through diversification into multiple
products each designed around daily use. Our pace of growth will be partially affected by the cadence and magnitude of new product launches over time. As an example, we
launched RTD coffee products in March 2020 with two 11-ounce SKUs. We have since added another 11-ounce SKU and three high-caffeine, boldly-flavored 15-ounce SKUs.
Four of these SKUs have grown to become top-35 products in the RTD coffee
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category both in units and dollars in 2023 and can be found in more than 86,840 locations across the country. Moving forward, we believe that it is important to our business
that we continue innovating with new products and flavors and continue to explore the world to find the highest quality beans possible to deliver to our customers.

Our Ability to Manage Our Supply Chain

Our ability to grow and meet future demand will be affected by our ability to properly plan for and source inventory from a variety of suppliers and co-manufacturers
located inside and outside the United States. The majority of our green coffee beans come from Colombia, Nicaragua, and Brazil, and since 2020, we have also sourced green
coffee beans from over ten countries in Latin America, Africa, and Asia to diversify our supply chain and offer our customers specialty and limited-time-only roasts. Quality
control is also a critically important part of our manufacturing and supply chain operations. 100% of our coffee is roasted in the United States. Our licensed, Coffee Quality
Institute-certified grader and former Green Beret, leads cupping, grading, scoring, and sourcing of our coffees. We also must effectively manage our co-manufacturers and
suppliers.

Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue, net

We sell our products both directly and indirectly to our customers through a broad set of physical and online platforms. Our revenue, net reflects the impact of product
returns, as well as discounts and fees for certain sales programs, trade spend, promotions, and loyalty rewards.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold primarily includes raw material costs, labor costs directly related to producing our products, including wages and benefits, shipping costs, and other
overhead costs related to certain aspects of production, warehousing, fulfillment, shipping, and credit card fees.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of marketing and advertising expenses related to brand marketing campaigns through various online platforms, including email, digital, website,
social media, search engine optimization, as well as performance marketing efforts, including retargeting, paid search and product advertisements, as well as social media
advertisements and sponsorships. Operating expenses also consist of salaries, wages, and benefits of payroll and payroll related expenses for labor not directly related to
producing our products. Payroll expenses include both fixed and variable compensation. Variable compensation includes bonuses and stock-based compensation. Also included
are other professional fees and services, and general corporate infrastructure expenses, including utilities and depreciation and amortization.

Interest Expense

Interest expense consists of interest on our borrowing arrangements, the amortization of debt discounts and deferred financing costs. For the year ended December 31,
2023, interest expense also included the extinguishment of debt costs.

Income Tax Provision

The Company accounts for income taxes pursuant to the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred income tax assets and liabilities related to the
expected future tax consequences arising from temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities based on enacted statutory tax rates
applicable to the periods in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. Any effects of changes in income tax rates or laws are included in income tax expense in
the period of enactment. The Company reduces the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets (“DTAs”) by a valuation allowance if, based on the evidence available, it is more
likely than not that such assets will not be realized. In making the assessment under the more likely than not standard, appropriate consideration must be given to all positive
and negative evidence related to the realization of the DTAs. The assessment considers, among other matters, the nature, frequency and severity of current and cumulative
losses, forecasts of future profitability, the duration of statutory carry forward periods by jurisdiction, the Company's experience with loss carryforwards not expiring unutilized,
and all tax planning alternatives that may be available. A valuation allowance is recognized if under applicable accounting standards the Company determines it is more likely
than not that its deferred tax assets would not be realized.

In accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, the Company evaluates the technical merits of its income tax positions and establishes unrecognized income tax benefits for
uncertain tax positions when deemed appropriate. The Company evaluates and accounts for uncertain tax positions using a two-step approach: Step 1. Recognition – occurs
when the
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Company concludes that a tax position, based solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustainable upon examination. Step 2. Measurement – determines the
amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information.
Derecognition of a tax position that was previously recognized would occur when the Company subsequently determines that a tax position no longer meets the more likely-
than-not threshold of being sustained. See Note 16, Income Taxes for additional information.

Results of Operations

This discussion and analysis pertains to comparisons of material changes in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. For the
comparisons of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, see the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Part II, Item
7 of our 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following table represents the selected results of operations for BRCC for the periods indicated (amounts in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Revenue, net $ 395,623 $ 301,313 
Cost of goods sold 270,175 202,134 

Gross profit 125,448 99,179 
Operating expenses

Marketing and advertising 30,794 38,169 
Salaries, wages and benefits 71,054 64,286 
General and administrative 71,613 64,486 
Other operating expense, net 2,198 — 

Total operating expenses 175,659 166,941 
Operating loss (50,211) (67,762)
Non-operating income (expenses)

Interest expense, net (6,330) (1,593)
Other income, net 10 339 
Change in fair value of earn-out liability — (209,651)
Change in fair value of warrant liability — (56,675)
Change in fair value of derivative liability — (2,335)

Total non-operating expenses (6,320) (269,915)
Loss before income taxes (56,531) (337,677)
Income tax expense 185 367 
Net loss $ (56,716) $ (338,044)
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Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2023 to the year ended December 31, 2022 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Revenue, net $ 395,623 $ 301,313 $ 94,310 31 %
Cost of goods sold 270,175 202,134 68,041 34 %
Gross profit 125,448 99,179 26,269 26 %
Gross margin 31.7 % 32.9 %

Total operating expenses $ (175,659) $ (166,941) 8,718 5 %

Gross margin is calculated as gross profit as a percentage of revenue, net

Revenue, net

We sell our products both directly and indirectly to our customers through a broad set of physical and online platforms. Our revenue, net reflects the impact of product
returns as well as discounts and fees for certain sales programs, trade spend, promotions, and loyalty rewards.

Net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023 increased $94.3 million, or 31.3%, to $395.6 million as compared to $301.3 million for the corresponding period in
2022.

The increase was primarily driven by new products sold, increased points of distribution in the Wholesale channel including entry into FDM, and the opening of new
Company-owned Outposts, partially offset by a lower number of subscribers in the DTC channel.

The following table summarizes net sales by channel for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Wholesale $ 225,059 $ 119,360 $ 105,699 89 %
Direct to Consumer 143,232 159,022 (15,790) (10) %
Outpost 27,332 22,931 4,401 19 %

Total net sales $ 395,623 $ 301,313 $ 94,310 31 %

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net revenue from our Wholesale channel increased $105.7 million, or 88.6%, to $225.1 million as compared to $119.4 million for
the corresponding period in 2022. The Wholesale channel performance was primarily driven by entry into, and growth in, the FDM market along with continued distribution
and innovation in our RTD product line.

DTC channel net revenue decreased by $15.8 million, or 9.9%, to $143.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to $159.0 million for the
corresponding period in 2022 primarily due to lower customer acquisition as we strategically shifted advertising spend to other areas with higher returns.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net revenue for our Outpost channel increased $4.4 million, or 19.2%, to $27.3 million as compared to $22.9 million for the
corresponding period in 2022 primarily due to increased store openings in 2023. We opened a total of three new Company-operated Outposts in Texas in 2023. In addition, we
added seven franchise stores.

(1)

(1)
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Cost of goods sold

Cost of goods sold primarily includes raw material costs, labor costs directly related to producing our products including wages and benefits, shipping costs, and other
overhead costs related to certain aspects of production, warehousing, fulfillment expense, and credit card fees.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, cost of goods sold increased $68.0 million, or 33.7%, to $270.2 million as compared to $202.1 million over the corresponding
period in 2022. Gross margin decreased 120 basis points to 31.7% for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to 32.9% for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
decrease in gross margin was as a result of product mix shift, as RTD has higher product costs and lower margins as compared to bagged coffee, an increase in our inventory
reserve as a result of excess RTD inventory, and inflation in raw materials and finished goods.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses consist of marketing and advertising expenses related to brand marketing campaigns through various online platforms, including email, digital, website,
social media, search engine optimization, as well as performance marketing efforts including retargeting, paid search and product advertisements, as well as social media
advertisements and sponsorships. Operating expenses also consist of salaries, wages, and benefits of payroll and payroll related expenses for labor not directly related to
producing our products. Payroll expenses include both fixed and variable compensation. Variable compensation includes bonuses and equity-based compensation. General and
administration costs include other professional fees and services, and general corporate infrastructure expenses, including utilities and depreciation and amortization.

Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 increased $8.7 million, or 5.2%, to $175.7 million as compared to $166.9 million for the corresponding period in
2022.

The following table summarizes operating expenses for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Marketing and advertising $ 30,794 $ 38,169 $ (7,375) (19)%
Salaries, wages and benefits 71,054 64,286 6,768 11%
General and administrative 71,613 64,486 7,127 11%
Other operating expense, net 2,198 — 2,198 100%

Total operating expenses $ 175,659 $ 166,941 $ 8,718 5%

In 2023, we continued to strengthen our marketing and advertising capabilities, but focused our spend on areas and activities with higher returns. This resulted in decreased
marketing and advertising expenses of $7.4 million, or 19.3%, to $30.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $38.2 million for the corresponding period
in 2022. Salaries, wages and benefits increased $6.8 million, or 10.5%, to $71.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $64.3 million for the corresponding
period in 2022 primarily as a result of severance expense incurred during the year, while the savings of the headcount reduction was not fully realized during 2023, as the
majority of these reductions occurred later in the year. In addition, General and administrative expenses increased $7.1 million, or 11.1%, to $71.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 as compared to $64.5 million for the corresponding period in 2022. The increase was due to growth of corporate infrastructure primarily in information
technology software, as well as, professional services to help facilitate the expansion of new and existing sales channels and product lines. The increase in other operating
expenses during the year was primarily as a result of the loss on disposal of assets during the year as well as costs incurred in connection with certain disputes regarding a small
number of franchised Outposts. For further discussion around the costs incurred related to this dispute, see Note 18, Commitments and Contingencies.
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Components of Our Non-Operating Income (Expenses)

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2023 to the year ended December 31, 2022 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Non-operating income (expenses)
Interest expense, net $ (6,330) $ (1,593) $ 4,737 297 %
Other income, net 10 339 (329) 97 %
Change in fair value of earn-out liability — (209,651) 209,651 100 %
Change in fair value of warrant liability — (56,675) 56,675 100 %
Change in fair value of derivative liability — (2,335) 2,335 100 %

Total non-operating expenses $ (6,320) $ (269,915) $ 263,595 (98)%

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 increased $4.7 million, or 297.4%, to $6.3 million as compared to $1.6 million for the corresponding period in 2022.
The increase was primarily attributable to the increase in average debt balance and higher interest rates under our new term loan facility. The increase in interest rate is a result
of our refinancing in the third quarter of 2023, whereby we entered into a new $75.0 million senior credit facility and a $50.0 million term loan facility with interest rates of
term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 2.60% to 3.10%, based on average excess availability of the borrowing base and term SOFR plus 8.50%, respectively.
This is compared to the interest rate under our previous senior credit facility of Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield (“BSBY”) plus 2.00% to 2.25%, based on average excess
availability of the borrowing base.

Other income, net consists of miscellaneous income and expense items such as bank and credit card fees. The decrease for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared
to the prior year was due to the receipt of a credit card rebate of $0.3 million and a $0.1 million grant in 2022.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized losses from the change in fair value of earn-out liabilities, warrant liabilities and derivative liabilities. The losses
were recorded for the year ended December 31, 2022, each representing the following:

• Upon the closing of our Business Combination on February 9, 2022, we recognized earn-out liabilities of $218.7 million as a result of certain stockholders being entitled
to receive up to 21,241,250 earn-out shares, in the form of Common Units of Authentic Brands and Class A Common Stock of the Company, if certain milestones were
satisfied. A total of 50.0% of the earn-out shares were issuable (“First Tier Vesting Event”), in the aggregate, if the volume weighted average trading price of our Class
A Common Stock was $15.00 or greater for any 20 trading days within a period of 30 trading days prior to the fifth anniversary of the Closing. The remaining 50.0% of
the earn-out shares were issuable (“Second Tier Vesting Event”), in the aggregate, if the volume weighted average trading price of our Class A Common Stock was
$20.00 or greater for any 20 trading days within a period of 30 trading days prior to the seventh anniversary of the Closing. The First Tier Vesting Event occurred in
March 2022, and as a result, we remeasured the respective liability to the fair value and recorded a realized loss of $60.0 million. The Second Tier Vesting Event
occurred in April 2022, and as a result, we remeasured the respective liability to the fair value and recorded a realized loss of $149.6 million. The change in fair value of
the earn-out liabilities was primarily a result of the increase of the closing price of our Class A Common Stock listed on the NYSE from February 9, 2022 to April 5,
2022.

• Upon the Closing on February 9, 2022, we recognized warrant liabilities of $36.5 million. In connection with the redemption of our public and private warrants in May
2022, the warrant liabilities were remeasured to the fair value and a realized loss of $56.7 million was recorded. The change in fair value of the warrant liabilities was
primarily a result of the increase of the closing price of our Class A Common Stock listed on the NYSE from February 9, 2022 to May 4, 2022.

• Upon the Closing on February 9, 2022, we recognized a derivative liability of $9.7 million. In connection with the vesting applicable premium that was payable to
unitholders of Authentic Brands in May 2022, the derivative liability was remeasured to the fair value and a realized loss of $2.3 million was recorded. The change in fair
value of the derivative liability was primarily a result of the increase of the closing price of our Class A Common Stock listed on the NYSE from February 9, 2022 to
May 4, 2022.
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Income Tax Provision (dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Income tax expense $ 185 $ 367 
Effective income tax rate 0.33 % 0.11 %

For further detail of income tax matters, see Note 16, Income Taxes, within the audited consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Income tax expense was $0.2 million and $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 respectively, representing effective tax rates of 0.33% and 0.11%. In
addition, the tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2023 reflects the impact of our assessment that we will not be able to record the benefit of certain current year deferred
tax assets for which a valuation allowance is expected.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity Overview

Our principal use of cash is to support the growth of our business including increasing working capital requirements related to inventories and, accounts receivable, and
general and administrative expenses. Furthermore, we use cash to fund our debt service commitments, capital equipment acquisitions, Outpost build outs and other growth-
related needs.

Our primary sources of cash are (1) cash on hand, (2) cash provided by operating activities, and (3) net borrowings from our credit facilities. As of December 31, 2023, our
cash and cash equivalents were $12.4 million, our working capital was $23.6 million, and under our credit facilities, we had $15.7 million of available borrowings, after the
consideration of the $15.0 million reduction required before the Availability Block Release Date, the date on which we have maintained a fixed charge coverage ratio of not less
than 1.10 to 1.00 for two consecutive fiscal quarters following August 10, 2023, and no defaults or events of default are then continuing. Our ability to draw from the credit
facilities is subject to a borrowing base and other covenants. We believe that these sources of liquidity will be sufficient to fund our working capital requirements and to meet
our commitments in the ordinary course of business and under the current market conditions for at least the next twelve months.

See Note 8, Long-Term Debt, to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of Part II of this 10-K for information regarding our Credit Agreements.

Cash Flows from Operating, Investing and Financing Activities

The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Cash flows provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ (24,967) $ (116,190)
Investing activities $ (21,508) $ (30,404)
Financing activities $ 21,398 $ 167,250 

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2023 to the year ended December 31, 2022

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $25.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to net cash used in operating activities of $116.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease in cash used in operating activities was due to a decrease in net loss of $281.3 million from $338.0 million in 2022 to $56.7
million in 2023 as well as cash inflows from inventory of $48.1 million as a result of inventory reductions during the current year compared to a build in inventory in the prior
year, and a $27.7 million increase in cash inflows due to accounts payable. These decreases were offset by non-cash adjustments to net income as a result of the change in fair
value of warrants, earn-outs and derivatives of $268.7 million in 2022 which did not occur in 2023.
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Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $21.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to net cash used in investing activities of $30.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022. The $8.9 million decrease in net cash used in investing activities was primarily due to a decrease in capital expenditure projects for our Outpost
locations, roasting facilities, and software and other information technology investments, as well as proceeds of $5.7 million from the sale of the land, buildings and
improvements of a Company owned Outpost and a corporate office location during 2023.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $21.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $167.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease of $145.9 million in cash inflows due to financing activities is primarily as a result of the cash flows associated with the
Business Combination during 2022 which provided net cash inflows of $154.7 million. This was partially offset by an increase in proceeds from long-term debt net of
repayment and debt issuance costs paid of $9.5 million from a cash inflow of $12.5 million in 2022 to a cash inflow of $22.0 million in 2023.

Commitments

The Company has entered into manufacturing and purchase agreements to purchase and produce coffee product from third-party suppliers. These purchase agreements are
typically obligations to purchase minimum volumes with fixed pricing if the volume terms are not fulfilled, in the form of a take-or-pay provision. The minimum purchase
amounts are based on quantity and, in the aggregate, are expected to be approximately $21.0 million for 2024, $26.1 million for 2025 and $30.0 million for 2026.

Liabilities relating to operating leases that have commenced as of December 31, 2023 have been reported on the balance sheet as operating lease liabilities. As of
December 31, 2023, we have entered into operating leases that have not yet commenced which primarily relate to real estate leases. These leases will commence between fiscal
year 2024 and fiscal year 2025 with lease terms of 15 years. Payments on leases are expected to be approximately $3.8 million in the next twelve months, and approximately
$47.1 million beyond twelve months through 2043.

Capital Expenditures

Future capital requirements will vary materially from period to period and will depend on factors such as adding additional roasting capacity, expansion of our corporate
and information technology infrastructure relating to growth initiatives and expansion and growth by opening additional Company-operated Outposts. We currently expect to
fund our material capital requirements with borrowings from our credit facilities, but we may also seek additional debt or equity financing.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Critical accounting estimates are those that management believes are the most important portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and require the most
difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. These estimates are
developed based on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Critical accounting estimates are accounting
estimates where the nature of the estimates are material due to the levels of subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for highly uncertain matters or the susceptibility of
such matters to change and the impact of the estimates on financial condition or operating performance is material.

The methods, assumptions, and estimates that we use in applying our accounting policies may require us to apply judgements regarding matters that are inherently
uncertain. We consider an accounting policy to be a critical estimate if (1) we must make assumptions that were uncertain when the judgment was made, and (2) changes in the
estimate assumptions, or selection of a different estimate methodology could have a significant impact on our financial position and the results that we report in our unaudited
consolidated financial statements. While we believe that our estimates, assumptions and judgements are reasonable, they are based on information available when the estimate
was made.

Our significant accounting estimates are discussed in more detail in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements included in
Item 8 of Part II of this 10-K. The critical accounting estimates, assumptions, and judgments that we believe have the most significant impact on our consolidated financial
statements are described below.
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Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 606. Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of products or services in an
amount that reflects the consideration which we received, or expect to receive, in exchange for those goods or services. We are required to identify our contracts with customers,
identify the performance obligations in a contract, determine the transaction price, allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract and recognize
revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The majority of our revenue is derived from the sale of our products. In determining the transaction price, we evaluate whether the price is subject to refund or adjustment to
determine the net consideration to which we expect to be entitled.

Revenue is recognized when control of the product is transferred to the customer (i.e., when our performance obligation is satisfied), which is defined by the commercial
terms of each purchase but typically occurs at the date of delivery of the merchandise to the customer. As such, customer orders are recorded as deferred revenue prior to
delivery of products. In determining whether control has transferred, we considered whether risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the customer. We estimate
which shipments have been delivered and recognize corresponding revenue at the end of the period. Delivery date estimates are based on average transit times calculated based
on factors such as the type of carrier, the fulfillment source, the delivery destination and historical transit time experience. Actual shipping times may differ from our estimates.

Loyalty Rewards Program

We have a loyalty points rewards program (the “Loyalty Program”) that is primarily a spend-based program. Customers can earn points based on the tier level. BRCC
reserves the right in its sole discretion to modify, change, add, or remove activities which can be accomplished to earn points at any time. Under the Loyalty Program,
customers may redeem rewards as they reach minimum thresholds per reward. Loyalty points will expire if there is no account activity (i.e., if there is no new purchase made or
order placed) in a period of twelve months. Conversion of rewards are non-changeable after redemption, have no cash value, and are non-transferable.

The Company defers revenue associated with the points earned through purchases that are expected to be redeemed, net of estimated unredeemed loyalty points. Loyalty
points that are estimated to be unredeemed is based on a historical percentage of expired points. When a customer redeems an earned reward, the Company recognizes revenue
for the redeemed product and reduces the related deferred revenue liability. The deferred revenue liability is included in deferred revenue and gift card liability on the
consolidated balance sheets.

For those points that are earned through other activities, the Company recognizes the redemption of these points as a discount to the transaction price at time of sale.

Equity-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation. Equity-based awards are mainly awarded
to employees and members of our Board and measured at fair value at each grant date. We calculate the fair value of stock options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. We calculate the fair value of restricted stock units on the date of grant based on the closing price of our Class A Common Stock. We calculate the fair
value of performance-based restricted stock units on the date of grant using the Monte Carlo pricing model. We recognize expense over the requisite service period for awards
expected to vest using the straight-line method and recognize forfeitures as they occur. See Note 14, Equity-Based Compensation within the audited consolidated financial
statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding the accounting for stock-based awards.

Before the Business Combination, the Company engaged a third-party appraiser (the “Appraiser”) to assist management in estimating the fair value of the incentive units.
The Appraiser considered all three valuation approaches to value the Company’s total equity: the income approach, market approach and cost approach but typically relied
primarily on the income and market approaches. The Appraiser then weighed the selected approaches considering the reliability of each approach as of the grant date.
Subsequently, the Appraiser allocated the total equity value to the classes of shares. Discounts for lack of marketability were considered based on the facts and circumstances of
the class of shares at each grant date.

Applying these valuation and allocation approaches involves the use of estimates, judgment and assumptions that are highly complex and subjective, such as those
regarding the Company’s expected future revenue, expenses and cash flows, as well as discount rates, valuation multiples, the selection of comparable public companies and
comparable transactions and the probability of future events. Changes in any or all of these estimates and assumptions, or the relationships between these assumptions, impact
the Company’s valuation as of each valuation date and may have a material impact on the
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valuation of the Company’s equity and equity awards. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and, if different assumptions had been used, equity-based compensation
expense could have been materially different from the amounts recorded.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of Part II of this 10-K for more information about recent
accounting pronouncements, the timing of their adoption, and our assessment, to the extent it has made one, of their potential impact on our consolidated financial statements.

JOBS Act

The JOBS Act contains provisions that, among other things, relax certain reporting requirements for qualifying public companies for up to five years or until we are no
longer an emerging growth company. We qualify as an “emerging growth company” and under the JOBS Act are allowed to comply with new or revised accounting
pronouncements based on the effective date for private (not publicly traded) companies. We are electing to delay the adoption of new or revised accounting standards, and as a
result, we may not comply with new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for non-emerging growth companies.
As a result, the consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to those of companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public
company effective dates.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Commodity Risks

Our profitability is dependent on, among other things, our ability to anticipate and react to changes in costs of key operating resources. Commodity price risk is our primary
market risk, which is affected by purchases of coffee beans, dairy products, aluminum cans and other materials and commodities. We purchase and roast quality coffee beans
that can be subject to significant volatility. Increases in the “C” coffee commodity price increase the price of high-quality coffee. We generally enter into fixed price purchase
commitments for the green coffee we roast.

The supply and price of coffee we purchase can also be affected by multiple factors in the producing countries, such as weather (including the potential effects of climate
change), natural disasters, crop disease, inventory levels, and political and economic conditions. Because of the significance of coffee beans to our operations, combined with
our ability to only partially mitigate future price risk through purchasing practices, increases in the cost of high-quality coffee beans could have a material adverse impact on our
profitability.

Interest Rate Risk

Our Term Loan Facility bears interest at a rate per annum equal to either (i) a base rate plus 7.50% or (ii) term SOFR plus 8.50%. Borrowings under our ABL Facility bear
interest at a rate per annum of either (i) the Base Rate (as defined below) plus a margin ranging from 1.50% to 2.00% or (ii) term SOFR plus a margin ranging from 2.60% to
3.10%. "Base Rate" means, for any day, the base commercial lending rate of PNC as publicly announced to be in effect from time to time. We seek to manage exposure to
adverse interest rate changes through our normal operating and financing activities. As of December 31, 2023, we had $50.0 million outstanding on our Term Loan Facility and
$23.9 million outstanding on our ABL Facility with available borrowings of $15.7 million. The carrying value of the variable interest rate debt approximates its fair value as the
borrowings are based on market interest rates. A hypothetical increase of interest rates of 5% on our outstanding variable rate borrowings would result in additional interest
expense annually of approximately $3.7 million.

Inflation

Inflationary factors such as increases in the cost of our products, overhead costs and parcel freight costs have had an impact on our operating results. While we have begun
to partially offset inflation and other changes in costs of essential operating resources by slightly increasing prices, along with more efficient purchasing practices and
productivity improvements, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to do so in the future. From time to time, competitive conditions could limit our pricing
flexibility. There can be no assurance that future cost increases can be offset by increased prices or that increased prices will be fully absorbed by our customers without any
resulting change to their purchasing patterns. In addition, there can be no assurance that we will generate overall revenue growth in an amount sufficient to offset inflationary or
other cost pressures. The cost of constructing our Outposts is subject to inflation, which could increase the costs of labor and materials. An increasing rate of inflation in the
future may have a material adverse effect on our ability to maintain current levels of gross profit and operating expenses, if the selling prices of our products do not increase
with these increased costs.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of BRC Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of BRC Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders' deficit, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.

San Antonio, Texas
March 6, 2024

60



Table of Contents

BRC Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and par value amounts)

December 31,
2023 2022

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,448 $ 38,990 
Restricted cash 1,465 — 
Accounts receivable, net 25,207 22,337 
Inventories, net 56,465 77,183 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 12,153 6,783 

Total current assets 107,738 145,293 
Property, plant and equipment, net 68,326 59,451 
Operating lease, right-of-use asset 36,214 20,050 
Identifiable intangibles, net 418 225 
Other 23,080 315 

Total assets $ 235,776 $ 225,334 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity/(Deficit)
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 33,564 $ 12,429 
Accrued liabilities 34,911 36,660 
Deferred revenue and gift card liability 11,030 9,505 
Current maturities of long-term debt, net 2,297 2,143 
Current operating lease liability 2,249 1,360 
Current maturities of finance lease obligations 58 95 

Total current liabilities 84,109 62,192 
Non-current liabilities:

Long-term debt, net 68,683 47,017 
Finance lease obligations, net of current maturities 23 221 
Operating lease liability 35,929 19,466 
Other non-current liabilities 524 502 

Total non-current liabilities 105,159 67,206 
Total liabilities 189,268 129,398 

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 18)
Stockholders’ equity/members’ deficit:

Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding — — 
Class A Common Stock, $0.0001 par value, 2,500,000,000 shares authorized; 65,637,806 and 57,661,274 shares issued and outstanding

as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively 6 5 
Class B Common Stock, $0.0001 par value, 300,000,000 shares authorized; 146,484,989 and 153,899,025 shares issued and outstanding

as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively 15 16 
Class C Common Stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,500,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and

2022 — — 
Additional paid in capital 133,728 129,508 
Accumulated deficit (120,478) (103,733)

Total BRC Inc.’s stockholders’ equity 13,271 25,796 
Non-controlling interests 33,237 70,140 

Total stockholders’ equity 46,508 95,936 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 235,776 $ 225,334 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BRC INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Revenue, net $ 395,623 $ 301,313 $ 233,101 
Cost of goods sold 270,175 202,134 143,414 

Gross profit 125,448 99,179 89,687 
Operating expenses

Marketing and advertising 30,794 38,169 36,358 
Salaries, wages and benefits 71,054 64,286 38,746 
General and administrative 71,613 64,486 26,162 
Other operating expense, net 2,198 — — 

Total operating expenses 175,659 166,941 101,266 
Operating loss (50,211) (67,762) (11,579)
Non-operating income (expenses)

Interest expense, net (6,330) (1,593) (2,033)
Other income (expense), net 10 339 (55)
Change in fair value of earn-out liability — (209,651) — 
Change in fair value of warrant liability — (56,675) — 
Change in fair value of derivative liability — (2,335) — 

Total non-operating expenses (6,320) (269,915) (2,088)
Loss before income taxes (56,531) (337,677) (13,667)
Income tax expense 185 367 178 
Net loss $ (56,716) $ (338,044) $ (13,845)

Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest (39,971) (255,138)
Net loss attributable to BRC Inc. $ (16,745) $ (82,906)

Net loss per share attributable to Class A Common Stock
Basic and diluted $ (0.27) $ (1.62)

Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding
Basic and diluted 60,932,225 51,246,632 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net loss per share of Class A Common Stock and weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding is representative of the period from February 9,
2022 through December 31, 2022, the period following the Business Combination, as defined in Note 1 - Organization and Nature of Business . For more information, refer to Note 17 - Net Loss per Share .

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

(1)

(1)

(1)
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BRC INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(in thousands, except for number of shares) 
Shares

Members’
Interest

Class A Common
Stock

Class B Common
Stock

Class C Common
Stock

Class A
Common Stock

Class B
Common Stock

Class C
Common Stock

Additional
Paid-In Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Non-
Controlling

Interest

Total
Stockholders’

Equity (Deficit)

Balance at January 1, 2021 $ (96,727) — — — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ (6,151) $ — $ (102,878)
Equity-based compensation 3,204 — — — — — — — — — 3,204 
Non-Employee equity-based
compensation 1,492 — — — — — — — — — 1,492 
Series A Preferred Discount
Amortization (34,511) — — — — — — — — — (34,511)
Repurchase of restricted member
units (2,953) — — — — — — — — — (2,953)
Net loss — — — — — — — — (13,845) — (13,845)

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ (129,495) — — — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ (19,996) $ — $ (149,491)
Equity-based compensation prior to
Business Combination 308 — — — — — — — — — 308 
Non-employee equity-based
compensation prior to Business
Combination 241 — — — — — — — — — 241 
Series A preferred discount
amortization prior to Business
Combination (6,621) — — — — — — — — — (6,621)
Repurchase of member units prior
to Business Combination (1,599) — — — — — — — — — (1,599)
Net loss prior to Business
Combination — — — — — — — — (2,691) — (2,691)
Effect of Business Combination 137,166 44,009,874 139,106,323 1,388,125 4 14 — (103) (831) (83,319) 52,931 
Equity-based compensation after
Business Combination — — — — — — — 820 — 3,217 4,037 
Non-employee equity-based
compensation after Business
Combination — — — — — — — — — 608 608 
First Tier vesting event — 694,062 9,926,563 (694,062) — 1 — 38,783 — 133,589 172,373 
Second Tier vesting event — 694,063 9,926,562 (694,063) — 1 — 60,803 — 195,154 255,958 
Warrant redemption — 6,376,346 — — 1 — — 24,924 — 68,235 93,160 
Applicable premium vesting — 6,196 820,310 — — — — 3,153 — 8,922 12,075 
Common Unit redemption — 5,880,733 (5,880,733) — — — — 1,128 — (1,128) — 
Net loss after Business
Combination — — — — — — — — (80,215) (255,138) (335,353)

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ — 57,661,274 153,899,025 — $ 5 $ 16 $ — $ 129,508 $ (103,733) $ 70,140 $ 95,936 
Equity-based compensation — — — — — — — 2,148 — 4,826 6,974 
Common Unit redemption — 7,414,036 (7,414,036) — — — — 1,758 — (1,758) — 
Employee stock purchase plan — 157,044 — — — — — 673 — — 673 
Vesting of stock awards, net of
shares withheld for taxes — 405,452 — — 1 (1) — (359) — — (359)
Net loss — — — — — — — — (16,745) (39,971) (56,716)

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ — 65,637,806 146,484,989 — $ 6 $ 15 $ — $ 133,728 $ (120,478) $ 33,237 $ 46,508 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

63



Table of Contents

BRC Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands) 
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Operating activities
Net loss $ (56,716) $ (338,044) $ (13,845)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 7,263 4,383 2,895 
Equity-based compensation 6,974 6,079 3,204 
Amortization of debt issuance costs 549 317 358 
Loss on disposal of assets 4,763 — 70 
Other 311 849 2,167 
Change in fair value of earn-out liability — 209,651 — 
Change in fair value of warrant liability — 56,675 — 
Change in fair value of derivative liability — 2,335 — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net (2,766) (14,895) (3,761)
Inventories, net (8,183) (56,311) (4,831)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 654 (184) (5,283)
Accounts payable 21,557 (6,146) 4,646 
Accrued liabilities (1,811) 15,986 3,636 
Deferred revenue and gift card liability 1,525 2,171 2,719 
Operating lease liability 891 776 — 
Other liabilities 22 168 334 

Net cash used in operating activities (24,967) (116,190) (7,691)
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (27,220) (30,404) (19,287)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 5,712 — — 

Net cash used in investing activities (21,508) (30,404) (19,287)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of discount 294,508 51,593 38,740 
Debt issuance costs paid (4,333) (279) (338)
Repayment of long-term debt (268,230) (38,761) (20,058)
Repayment of and restricted cash for capital lease obligations — — (1,663)
Financing lease obligations (173) 3 — 
Repayment of promissory note (1,047) — — 
Issuance of stock from the Employee Stock Purchase Plan 673 — — 
Payment of Series A preferred dividends — — (7,001)
Distribution and redemption of Series A preferred equity — (127,853) — 
Proceeds from Business Combination, including PIPE investment — 337,957 — 
Payment of Business Combination costs — (31,638) — 
Redemption of Class A and Class B shares — (20,145) — 
Redemption of incentive units — (3,627) — 

Net cash provided by financing activities 21,398 167,250 9,680 
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (25,077) 20,656 (17,298)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 38,990 18,334 35,632 
Restricted cash, beginning of period — — — 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 12,448 $ 38,990 $ 18,334 

Restricted cash, end of period $ 1,465 $ — $ — 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BRC Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Non-cash operating activities
Recognition of right-of-use operating lease assets $ 18,547 $ 20,050 $ — 
Recognition of revenue for inventory exchanged for prepaid advertising $ 28,901 $ — $ — 
Accrued other assets $ — $ — $ 750 
Deferred transaction costs $ — $ — $ 1,214 

Non-cash investing and financing activities
Property and equipment purchased but not yet paid $ 1,857 $ 2,279 $ 803 
Series A preferred equity exchange for PIPE shares $ — $ 26,203 $ 1,406 
Series A preferred equity amortization $ — $ 5,390 $ 27,510 

Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for income taxes $ 562 $ 277 $ 147 

Cash paid for interest $ 4,483 $ 1,279 $ 719 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BRC Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands, except unit/share and per unit/share amounts)
Fiscal Years ended December 31, 2023, December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021

1. Organization and Nature of Business

BRC Inc., a Delaware public benefit corporation (“BRC Inc.”), previously entered into a Business Combination Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2021, as amended by
the First Amendment to Business Combination Agreement, dated as of January 4, 2022 (the "First Amendment" and the Business Combination Agreement as so amended, the
"Business Combination Agreement"), each by and among BRC Inc., SilverBox Engaged Merger Corp I, a Delaware corporation (“SilverBox”), Authentic Brands LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“Authentic Brands”), and certain other parties thereto. On February 9, 2022, as contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, a
series of transactions (the "Business Combination") were completed (the “Closing”) for an estimated value of $1,839,815 as a result of which Authentic Brands became a
subsidiary of BRC Inc., with BRC Inc. acting as sole managing member thereof as a public benefit corporation.

BRC Inc. conducts substantially all of its business through its solely managed subsidiary, Authentic Brands, and Authentic Brands’ subsidiaries, all of which are
consolidated in these financial statements. Authentic Brands, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, purchases, roasts, and sells high quality coffee, coffee accessories, and
branded apparel through its online channels and business networks. Authentic Brands also develops and promotes online content for the purpose of growing its brands, which
include Black Rifle Coffee Company (“BRCC”).

Unless the context indicates otherwise, references to "the Company," "we," "us" and "our" refers to BRC Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries following the closing of the
Business Combination.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The Company has prepared the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
of America. The consolidated financial statements reflect the financial position and operating results of the Company including wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization transaction between entities under common control, whereas Authentic Brands was considered
the accounting acquirer and predecessor entity. The Business Combination was reflected as the equivalent of Authentic Brands issuing stock for the net assets of SilverBox,
accompanied by a recapitalization with no incremental goodwill or intangible assets recognized.

Authentic Brands was determined to be the predecessor entity to the Business Combination based on a number of considerations, including:

• Authentic Brands former management making up the majority of the management team of BRC Inc.;
• Authentic Brands former management nominating or representing the majority of BRC Inc.'s board of directors;
• Authentic Brands representing the majority of the continuing operations of BRC Inc.; and
• The chief executive officer of Authentic Brands having voting control of the combined company.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Such estimates include but are not
limited to estimated losses on accounts receivable, inventory reserves, undiscounted future cash flows and the fair value of assets or asset groups for the purpose of assessing
impairment of long-lived assets, liabilities for contingencies, equity-based compensation, estimates for sales returns and related allowance, loyalty rewards, deferred revenue,
and measurement and realization of deferred tax assets. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the provisions of FASB Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, or Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC 606”). Revenue is recognized when, or as, control of a promised product or service transfers to a customer, in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring those products. Revenue also excludes any amounts collected on
behalf of third parties, including sales and indirect taxes. Revenue recognition is evaluated through the following five steps:

1. Identification of the contract with a customer;
2. Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;
3. Determination of the transaction price;
4. Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
5. Recognition of revenue when or as a performance obligation is satisfied.

Sources and Timing of Revenue

The Company’s revenue is derived from product sales through its e-commerce websites and to Wholesale customers who sell the products to end users. In addition, the
Company derives revenues from Company-operated store locations, and franchise and license agreements. Revenues from the sale of products and merchandise are recognized
when control of the product passes to the customer, typically at the date of delivery of the merchandise to the customer and in an amount that reflects the expected consideration
to be received in exchange for such goods. As such, customer orders are recorded as deferred revenue prior to delivery of products. As the Company ships high volumes of
packages through multiple carriers, it is not practical for the Company to track the actual delivery date of each shipment. Therefore, the Company uses estimates to determine
which shipments are delivered and, therefore, recognize revenue at the end of the period. Delivery date estimates are based on average transit times calculated based on factors
such as the type of carrier, the fulfillment source, the delivery destination and historical transit time experience. Actual shipping times may differ from the Company’s
estimates. Costs to obtain or fulfill a contract with a customer are expensed as incurred and are generally not significant.

Revenues from Company-operated stores are recognized when payment is tendered at the point of sale as the performance obligation has been satisfied. Store revenues are
reported excluding sales tax, use or other transaction taxes that are collected from customers and remitted to taxing authorities.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists of amounts billed to or received from customers prior to delivery of products. The Company recognizes such amounts in revenues as the product
is delivered.

Gift Cards

Gift cards are offered through the Company’s e-commerce websites through the form of an e-certificate. When a gift card is purchased, the Company recognizes a
corresponding liability for the full amount of the gift card, which is recorded in “Deferred revenue and gift card liability” on the consolidated balance sheets. Gift cards can be
redeemed online on the Company’s website. When a gift card is redeemed, the Company reduces the corresponding liability and recognizes revenue. There are no expiration
dates to the gift cards. While the Company will continue to honor all gift cards presented for payment, the Company may determine the likelihood of redemption, based on
historical experience, is deemed to be remote for certain cards due to long periods of inactivity. In these circumstances if the Company also determines there is no requirement
for remitting balances to government agencies under unclaimed property laws, unredeemed card balances may then be recognized as breakage income, which is included in
“Revenue, net” on the consolidated statements of operations.

Loyalty Rewards Program

In August 2020, BRCC established its BRCC Loyalty Points rewards program (the “Loyalty Program”), which is primarily a spend-based program. BRCC customers who
establish an online account are enrolled in the Loyalty Program. Under the program, there are multiple levels in which customers can participate and earn loyalty points.
Subscription customers (customers in the BRCC Coffee Club or subscribed to another subscription product type) are in the highest tier and earn 5% on purchases. Non-
subscription customers earn 1% on purchases. Any customer who spends $200 or more annually can also earn 5% on purchases, after the spending criteria is met. In addition to
earning points on purchases, customers can earn points through certain other activities. BRCC reserves the right in its sole discretion to modify, change, add, or remove
activities which can be accomplished to earn points at any time. Under the Loyalty Program, customers may redeem rewards as they reach minimum thresholds per reward. The
Company reserves the right to modify, change,
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add, or remove rewards and their points thresholds at any time. BRCC loyalty points will expire if there is no account activity (i.e., if there is no new purchase made or order
placed) in a period of twelve months. Conversion of rewards are non-changeable after redemption, have no cash value, and are non-transferrable. A portion of rewards are
expected to expire and not be redeemed and will be recognized as income over time. Based on historical expiration rates, the Company estimates a certain percentage of
rewards to expire and reassesses this estimate on a quarterly basis.

The Company recognized $398, $1,033, and $368 of income related to expired rewards for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 respectively, which was
included in “Revenue, net” on the consolidated statement of operations.

The Company defers revenue associated with the points earned through purchases that are expected to be redeemed, net of estimated unredeemed loyalty points. When a
customer redeems an earned reward, the Company recognizes revenue for the redeemed product and reduces the related deferred revenue liability. The deferred revenue
liability is included in “Deferred revenue and gift card liability” on the consolidated balance sheets.

For those points that are earned through other activities, the Company recognizes the redemption of these points as a discount to the transaction price at time of sale. Refer
to Note 7, Deferred Revenue and Gift Card Liability for information about changes in the current portion of deferred revenue and gift card liability for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Franchise Store Revenues

Franchise rights may be granted through franchise agreements that set out the terms of the arrangement with the franchisee. The franchise agreements require that the
franchisee remit continuing fees to the Company as a percentage of the applicable store’s revenues in exchange for the license of the intellectual property associated with
BRCC’s brands. A portion of these fees are dedicated for national marketing campaigns, promotional programs and materials, and other activities that we believe enhance the
image of the BRCC brand. Continuing fees represent a portion of the consideration the Company receives under the franchise agreement. Continuing fees are typically billed
and collected weekly. Continuing fees are recognized as the related store sales occur. Revenues from continuing fees are included in “Revenue, net” on the consolidated
statements of operations.

Under the franchise agreement, BRCC sells products and equipment to its franchisees. The revenue associated with these product and equipment sales are recognized when
control passes to the franchisee, typically at the date of delivery of the merchandise to the franchisee and in an amount that reflects the expected consideration to be received in
exchange for such goods.

The franchise agreements also typically require upfront franchise fees such as initial fees paid for the execution of a franchise agreement. The fees associated with these
agreements are typically billed and paid when a new franchise agreement becomes effective. The Company has determined that the services it provides in exchange for upfront
franchise fees, which primarily relate to pre-opening support, are highly interrelated with the franchise right and are not individually distinct from the ongoing services provided
to the Company’s franchisees. As a result, upfront franchise fees are recognized as revenue over the term of each respective franchise agreement, generally 10 years. Revenues
for these upfront franchise fees are recognized on a straight-line basis, which is consistent with the franchisee’s right to use and benefit from the intellectual property associated
with BRCC’s brands. The current portion of revenues from upfront franchise fees are included in “Deferred revenue and gift card liability” and the long-term portion of
revenues from upfront franchisee fees are included in “Other non-current liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheets.

License Revenues

License rights may be granted through license agreements that set out the terms of the Company’s arrangement with the licensee. The Company’s license agreements
require that the licensee remit continuing fees to the Company as a percentage of the applicable store’s revenues in exchange for the license of the intellectual property
associated with BRCC’s brands. In addition, licensed store revenues consist of product sales to the licensee. The revenue associated with these product sales are recognized when
control of the product passes to the licensee, typically at the date of delivery of the merchandise to the licensee and in an amount that reflects the expected consideration to be
received in exchange for such goods. Continuing fees are recognized as the related store sales occur.

The Company’s license agreements also typically require upfront license fees such as initial fees paid for the execution of a license agreement. The fees associated with
these agreements are typically billed and paid when a new license agreement becomes effective. The Company has determined the services it provides in exchange for upfront
license fees, which primarily relate to initial license set up and are not individually distinct from the ongoing services it provides to its licensees. As a result, upfront license fees
are recognized as revenue over the term of each respective license agreement, generally 10 years. Revenues for these upfront license fees are recognized on a straight-line basis,
which is consistent with
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the licensee’s right to use and benefit from the intellectual property. Revenues from continuing fees and upfront license fees are presented within “Revenue, net” in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company disaggregates revenue by sales channel. The Wholesale channel includes product revenue sold to an intermediary and not directly to the consumer. The
Direct to Consumer channel is principally comprised of revenue from our e-commerce websites and subscription services directly to the consumer. The Outpost channel
includes revenue from Company-operated stores, gift cards, franchise stores and licensing.

The following table disaggregates revenue by sales channel:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Wholesale $ 225,059 $ 119,360 $ 55,761 
Direct to Consumer 143,232 159,022 165,299 
Outpost 27,332 22,931 12,041 

Total net sales $ 395,623 $ 301,313 $ 233,101 

Substantially all revenue is derived from customers located in the United States. One Wholesale customer and its affiliate represents 26% and 12% total revenue for
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. No customers for the year ended December 31, 2021 exceeded 10% of total revenue.

Sales Returns and Discounts

The Company’s product sales contracts include terms that could cause variability in the transaction price for items such as discounts, credits, charge backs, or sales returns.
Accordingly, the transaction price for product sales includes estimates of variable consideration to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of revenue recognized will
not occur.

The Company inspects returned items when they arrive at its processing facilities. The Company refunds the full cost of the merchandise returned if the returned item is
defective or the Company or its partners have made an error, such as shipping the wrong product. If the return is not a result of a product defect or a fulfillment error and the
customer initiates a return of an unopened item within 30 days of delivery, for most products the Company refunds the full cost of the merchandise less the original shipping
charge and actual return shipping fees. If the customer returns an item that has been opened or shows signs of wear, the Company issues a partial refund minus the original
shipping charge and actual return shipping fees. Coffee products are not eligible for returns. Revenue is recorded net of estimated returns. The Company records an allowance
for returns based on current period revenues and historical returns experience. The Company analyzes actual historical returns, current economic trends and changes in order
volume and acceptance of its products when evaluating the adequacy of the sales returns allowance in any accounting period. The allowance for sales returns and charge backs
was $244 and $942 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and is included in accounts receivable.

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs

Shipping and handling is considered a fulfillment activity, as it takes place prior to the customer obtaining control of the merchandise, and fees charged to customers are
included in net revenue upon completion of the performance obligation.

Segment Information

The Company reports operations as a single reportable segment and manages the business as a single-brand consumer products business. This is supported by the
operational structure, which includes sales, product design, operations, marketing, and administrative functions focused on the entire product suite rather than individual
product categories or sales channels. Our chief operating decision maker reviews financial information on a consolidated basis and does not regularly review financial
information for individual sales channels, product categories or geographic regions that would allow decisions to be made about allocation of resources or performance.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold includes product costs, labor costs, occupancy costs, outbound shipping costs, handling and fulfillment costs, credit card fees, and royalty fees, and is
recorded in the period incurred.
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Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents also include
proceeds due from credit card transactions with settlement terms of less than five days. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalent balances with financial institutions
that exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses related to these balances, and it believes credit risk to be minimal.

Restricted cash relates to amounts that are held by former lenders to secure certain commercial credit obligations until such obligations have been satisfied.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable consist primarily of trade amounts due from business customers at period end. Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced amounts and do not bear
interest. From time to time, the Company grants credit to business customers on normal credit terms. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts receivable
based upon its business customers’ financial condition and payment history, and its historical collection experience and expected collectability of accounts receivable. The
allowance for doubtful accounts receivable was $496 and $156 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Inventories, Net

Inventories, net are stated at the lower of standard cost, which approximates First In , First Out (“FIFO”), or net realizable value. The Company records inventory reserves
for obsolete and slow-moving inventory. Inventory reserves are based on inventory obsolescence trends, historical experience and application of the specific identification
method. Inventories were $56,465 and $77,183 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Finished goods includes allocations of labor and occupancy expenses, and
inbound transportation costs.

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost with depreciation calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets or the term of the
related finance lease, whichever is shorter. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the term of the related leases or estimated useful lives. When assets are
retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are derecognized, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in earnings for the period. The cost of
maintenance and repairs are charged to earnings as incurred; significant renewals and improvements are capitalized.

Estimated useful lives are as follows: 
Estimated

Useful Lives
Land —
Building and Leasehold improvements 5 – 39 years
Computer equipment and software 3 years
Machinery and equipment 5 – 15 years
Vehicles 5 years

Identifiable Intangibles - Internal Use Software

In accordance with ASC 350-40, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other, Internal-Use Software (“ASC 350-40”), the Company capitalizes qualifying internal use software
costs that are incurred during the application development stage if management with the relevant authority authorizes the project, it is probable the project will be completed,
and the software will be used to perform the function intended. Capitalized internal use software costs are reported in property and equipment on the consolidated balance sheets
and are amortized over the expected economic life of three years using the straight-line method once the software is ready for intended use. Costs incurred for enhancements
that are expected to result in additional significant functionality are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the enhancement. Costs related to preliminary
project activities and post-implementation activities, including training and maintenance, are expensed as incurred. Capitalized software costs net of accumulated amortization
are included as a component of “Property, plant and equipment, net” in the consolidated balance sheets.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews the recoverability of its long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and identifiable intangible assets, when events or changes in
circumstances occur that indicate the carrying value of the asset or asset group may not be recoverable. The assessment of possible impairment is based on the Company’s
ability to recover the carrying value of the asset or asset group from the expected future undiscounted pre-tax cash flows of the related operations. If these undiscounted cash
flows are less than the carrying amount of the related asset, an impairment is recognized for the excess of the carrying value over its fair value.

Leases

The Company leases certain property and equipment under non-cancelable finance and operating leases which expire at various dates through 2043. The majority of our
leases are operating leases for our Company-operated Outposts. We also lease distribution and warehouse facilities. We do not enter into material lease transactions with related
parties. We categorize leases as either operating or finance leases at the commencement date of the lease. Operating lease agreements may contain tenant improvement
allowances, rent holidays, rent escalation clauses and/or contingent rent provisions. We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for
together as a single lease component for underlying classes of assets. The Company has estimated that the lease term for retail stores is generally 10 years to 15 years.

We recognize a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and lease liability for each operating lease with a contractual term greater than twelve months at the time of lease inception. We
do not record leases with an initial term of twelve months or less on our consolidated balance sheet but continue to record rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Our leases often include options to extend or terminate at our sole discretion, which are included in the determination of lease term when they are reasonably certain to be
exercised.

Our lease liability represents the present value of future lease payments over the lease term. We cannot determine the interest rate implicit in each of our leases. Therefore,
we use market and term-specific incremental borrowing rates. Our incremental borrowing rate for a lease is the rate of interest we expect to pay on a collateralized basis to
borrow an amount equal to the lease payments under similar terms. We considered a combination of factors, including the rates that we currently pay on our lines of credit, lease
terms and the effect of adjusting the rate to reflect the term consideration of collateral.

Total lease costs recorded as rent and other occupancy costs include fixed operating lease costs and short-term lease costs. Our real estate leases may require we pay certain
expenses, such as common area maintenance costs, real estate taxes and other executory costs, of which any fixed portion would be included in operating lease costs. We
recognize operating lease costs on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive
covenants. A significant majority of our leases are related to our Company-operated Outposts, and their related costs are recorded within General and administrative expenses
on the statement of operations.

The ROU asset is measured at the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, initial direct costs, and
any material tenant improvement allowances reasonably certain to be received. For operating leases, ROU assets are reduced over the lease term by the recognized straight-line
lease expense less the amount of accretion of the lease liability determined using the effective interest method. For finance leases, assets are amortized on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the useful life of the leased asset or the lease term. Interest expense on each finance lease liability is recognized utilizing the effective interest method. ROU
assets are tested for impairment in the same manner as long-lived assets. Additionally, we monitor for events or changes in circumstances that may require a reassessment of one
of our leases and determine if a remeasurement is required.

Earn-out Liability

The earn-out shares that were payable in Common Units (as defined below) of Authentic Brands pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement were recorded as a
liability under ASC 480 and the earn-out shares that were payable in BRC Inc. common stock pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement were recorded as a liability
under ASC 815. The earn-out liability was initially measured at fair value at the closing of the Business Combination using a Monte Carlo simulation in an option pricing
framework that simulated the future path of the Company's stock price over the earn-out period. The earn-out shares vested in March and April 2022. The Company recognized
the earn-out shares as liabilities at fair value and adjusted the earn-out shares to fair value at each reporting period. The earn-out liabilities were subject to re-measurement at
each balance sheet date until vesting, and any change in fair value was recognized on the Company’s consolidated statement of operations.

Warrant Liability
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The Company evaluates its financial instruments to determine if such instruments are derivatives or contain features that qualify as embedded derivatives. The Company
had public and private warrants, both of which did not meet the criteria for equity classification and were accounted for as liabilities. Accordingly, the Company recognized the
warrants as liabilities at fair value and adjusted the warrants to fair value at each reporting period with any changes in fair value recognized on the Company’s consolidated
statement of operations. The public and private warrants were redeemed in May 2022.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method, and deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying values of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. DTAs and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is provided if it is determined that it is more
likely than not that the DTA will not be realized. The Company records interest and penalty expense related to income taxes as interest and other expense, respectively.

The Company evaluates and accounts for uncertain tax positions using a two-step approach: Step 1. Recognition – occurs when the Company concludes that a tax position,
based solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustainable upon examination. Step 2. Measurement – determines the amount of benefit that is greater than
50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. Derecognition of a tax position that was
previously recognized would occur when the Company subsequently determines that a tax position no longer meets the more likely-than-not threshold of being sustained.

Equity-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes the cost of equity-based compensation awards and incentive unit awards based on the fair value estimated in accordance with ASC 718, Stock
Based Compensation (“ASC 718”). The Company records equity-based compensation expense for awards with only a service based vesting condition based on the fair value of
such awards at the grant date and recognizes compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Equity-based compensation expense for awards
with market based vesting conditions is recorded based on the fair value of such awards at the grant date and recognized on an accelerated basis over the requisite service
period. The assumptions used to calculate the fair value of equity awards granted are evaluated and revised, as necessary, to reflect the Company’s historical experience and
current market conditions. For more information, see Note 14, Equity-Based Compensation.

Earnings per Share

Basic net income/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income/(loss) attributable to Class A Common Stock by the weighted-average shares of Class A Common
Stock outstanding without the consideration for potential dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per share represents basic net loss per share adjusted to include the potentially
dilutive effect of outstanding unvested share awards, and units of Authentic Brands designated as common units (the “Common Units”) and restricted units (the “Restricted
Common Units”) in the Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of Authentic Brands (the "LLC Agreement") that are exchangeable into
shares of Class A Common Stock. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net income attributable to Class A Common Stock by the weighted-average number of
shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding for the period determined using the treasury stock method and if-converted method, as applicable. As the impact of these if-
converted securities is generally antidilutive during periods of net loss, the diluted net loss per share calculation for periods such as ours with net losses is the same as the basic
net loss per share. For more information, see Note 17, Net Loss Per Share.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company’s assets that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk are cash and accounts receivable. Cash balances are maintained in financial institutions
which at times exceed federally insured limits. The Company monitors the financial condition of the financial institutions in which its accounts are maintained and has not
experienced any losses in such accounts. The accounts receivable of the Company are spread over a number of customers, of which three customers accounted for 55% of total
outstanding receivables as of December 31, 2023 and three customers accounted for 51% of total outstanding receivables as of December 31, 2022. The Company performs
ongoing credit evaluations as to the financial condition of its customers and creditors with respect to trade accounts.

Marketing and Advertising Expenses

The Company’s marketing and advertising expenses are primarily internet marketing expenses, commercial sponsorships and advertising time slots. Marketing expenses
are recognized as incurred based on the terms of the individual agreements, which are generally, but not limited to: a commission for traffic driven to its websites that generate a
sale, programmatic targeting advertisements, national television and radio advertisements, or payments to social media
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influencers. The Company may also enter into marketing service agreements with third party production and content providers where the Company prepays for certain services
or deliverables and recognizes the expense when the service is completed. Prepaid marketing and advertising expenses totaled $6,826 and $1,050 as of December 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively. This includes $6,129 of prepaid advertising recorded in fiscal 2023 in connection with a transaction whereby prepaid advertising was received by BRCC in
exchange for finished goods inventory and revenue was recognized for the amount of prepaid advertising credits received. For more information, see Note 5, Other Assets.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of accounts receivable, accounts payable and long-term debt. The carrying amounts of accounts receivable and
accounts payable are representative of their respective fair values due to the short-term maturity of these instruments. The fair value of variable rate long-term debt is based
upon the current market rates for debt with similar credit risk and maturity, which approximated its carrying value, as interest is based upon the SOFR, or the PNC Base Rate
(see further explanation of the Base Rate in Note 8, Long-Term Debt), or prior to our August 2023 refinancing, the BSBY or Prime rates plus an applicable floating margin. In
measuring fair value, the Company reflects the impact of credit risk on liabilities, as well as any collateral. The Company also considers the credit standing of counterparties in
measuring the fair value of assets.

The Company uses any of three valuation techniques to measure fair value: the market approach, the income approach, and the cost approach in determining the appropriate
valuation technique based on the nature of the asset or liability being measured and the reliability of the inputs used in arriving at fair value.

The Company follows the provisions of ASU No. 2022-03-Fair Value Measurements (“Topic 820”) for non-financial assets and liabilities measured on a non-recurring
basis.

The inputs used in applying valuation techniques include assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability (i.e., assumptions about risk).
Inputs may be observable or unobservable. The Company uses observable inputs in the Company’s valuation techniques and classifies those inputs in accordance with the fair
value hierarchy established by applicable accounting guidance, which prioritizes those inputs. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement).

The three levels are defined as follows:

Level 1 — inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 — inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.

Level 3 — inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

A financial instrument’s categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The
Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or
liability. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had no Level 3 financial assets or liabilities.

Series A Redeemable Preferred Equity

The Company accounted for its preferred equity as temporary equity, given the Series A preferred units were probable of becoming redeemable (i.e., exercise of the exit
rights is the passage of time). The Series A preferred units have been subsequently remeasured by accreting changes in the redemption value from the date of issuance to the
expected redemption date using the effective interest method. The Series A preferred units were redeemed in February 2022 in connection with the Business Combination.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The Company has no components of comprehensive income and comprehensive income (loss) is equivalent to net income (loss) in each of the periods presented. As such,
no statement of comprehensive income (loss) is presented.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
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On January 1, 2023, the Company adopted new guidance from the FASB, ASU No. 2022-02 - Financial Instruments - Credit Losses ("Topic 326"), that introduces a new
credit loss methodology for estimating allowances for credit losses. The standard requires measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held by the
Company be recognized immediately over the remaining life of the financial assets. The estimate of expected losses is based on information about past and current economic
conditions and reasonable forecasts of future economic conditions that affect financial assets deemed uncollectible. There was no material impact to the Company's financial
statements as a result of this adoption.

3. Inventories, Net

Inventories consist of the following:

December 31,
2023 2022

Coffee:
Unroasted $ 4,248 $ 4,867 
Finished Goods 10,515 15,365 
Ready-to-Drink (raw materials) 14,652 16,610 
Ready-to-Drink (finished goods) 21,600 33,413 

Apparel and other merchandise 5,450 6,928 
Total inventories, net $ 56,465 $ 77,183 

4. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

Property, plant and equipment, net consists of the following:
December 31,

2023 2022
Building and leasehold improvements $ 29,098 $ 25,024 
Machinery and equipment 18,856 15,977 
Computer equipment and software 6,847 6,071 
Furniture and fixtures 2,856 1,804 
Land 1,547 3,245 
Vehicles 889 1,283 
Construction in progress 21,602 15,780 
Property, plant and equipment, gross 81,695 69,184 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (13,369) (9,733)

Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 68,326 $ 59,451 

The total depreciation expense for internal use software included in the above table was $1,233, $732 and $798 for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively.

Substantially all long-lived assets are located in the United States.

Sale of Assets

The Company sold the land, building and improvements for one of BRCC's company-owned Outposts during the third quarter of 2023 for a total sale price of $1,500. The
net book value of the assets sold was approximately $2,692 which resulted in a loss on the assets sale of $1,201, which reflected closing costs of approximately $9. This loss is
presented within "Other operating (income) expense, net" in the consolidated statements of operations. Simultaneously with the sale of the property, the Company entered into a
lease with the buyer to continue the Company's operations of this Outpost location.

The Company sold an office property including the land, building and improvements during the third quarter of 2023 for a total sale price of $4,058. The net book value of
the assets sold was approximately $2,648 which resulted in a gain on the asset sale of approximately $1,097, which reflected closing costs of approximately $313. This gain is
presented within "Other operating (income) expense, net" in the consolidated statements of operations.
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5. Other Assets

During the third quarter of 2023, we entered into a contract whereby we agreed to exchange finished goods inventory for prepaid advertising, for a stated contract price of
$41,565. We measured the noncash consideration using the standalone selling price of finished goods sold to distributors, which was 84% of the the stated contract price.
Revenue and corresponding prepaid advertising is recognized based on the standalone selling price as the products are delivered. As of and for the year ended December 31,
2023, we recognized $28,901 of other assets and revenue on our consolidated balance sheet and consolidated income statement, respectively. Based upon period over which we
expect to use these advertising credits, we concluded that $6,129 were current and have been recorded as prepaid expenses and other current assets on our consolidated balance
sheet and $22,772 were non-current and have been recorded as other assets on our consolidated balance sheet.

6. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,
2023 2022

Accrued inventory purchases $ 8,859 $ 15,035 
Accrued compensation and benefits 6,881 7,393 
Accrued freight 4,616 2,153 
Accrued professional fees 2,240 984 
Accrued interest 1,842 151 
Accrued marketing 1,457 3,077 
Accrued sales and other taxes 1,329 1,179 
Credit card liabilities 186 888 
Other accrued expenses 7,501 5,800 

Total accrued liabilities $ 34,911 $ 36,660 

7. Deferred Revenue and Gift Card Liability

The following table provides information about deferred revenue, gift cards, and the Loyalty Program, including significant changes in deferred revenue balances for the
below designated periods:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Balance at beginning of period $ 9,505 $ 7,334 $ 4,615 
Sales of gift cards 1,804 1,358 838 
Redemption of gift cards (1,489) (912) (458)
Increase from deferral of revenue 2,823 3,569 3,750 
Decrease from revenue recognition (3,560) (3,587) (3,507)
Loyalty Program points earned 3,508 2,499 3,194 
Loyalty Program points redeemed/expired (1,561) (756) (1,098)

Balance at end of period $ 11,030 $ 9,505 $ 7,334 
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8. Long-Term Debt

The Company’s credit facilities and related balances, net of the unamortized portion of debt issuance costs and Original Issue Discount ("OID") were as follows:

December 31,
2023 2022

Term loan facility $ 50,000 $ — 
ABL facility 23,947 — 
Mortgages — 7,102 
Equipment financing loan — 3,336 
Retail facility — 1,768 
Equipment term loan — 3,814 
Senior credit facility — 30,000 
Notes payable 2,493 3,540 
Total principal 76,440 49,560 
Less debt issuance costs and OID (5,460) (400)
Long-term debt, net $ 70,980 $ 49,160 

Current maturities:
Current maturities of principal $ 2,297 $ 2,259 
Less current portion of debt issuance costs — (116)

Current maturities of long-term debt, net $ 2,297 $ 2,143 
Long-term debt:

Non-current principal $ 74,143 $ 47,301 
Less non-current portion of debt issuance costs and OID (5,460) (284)

Long-term debt, net $ 68,683 $ 47,017 

Future contractual maturities of credit facilities and other debt as of December 31, 2023 are as follows:

Year ending December 31,
2024 $ 2,297 
2025 4,797 
2026 6,025 
2027 6,250 
2028 57,071 

Total $ 76,440 

ABL Facility and Term Loan Facility

On August 10, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), Authentic Brands and certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Borrowers”) entered into a Credit Agreement (the “ABL
Credit Agreement”) with PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and collateral agent (“PNC”), and the lenders from time to time party thereto, pursuant to
which the lenders thereunder agreed to provide the Borrowers with a senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $75,000
(including a subfacility for letters of credit in an amount up to $7,500 all of which is available at December 31, 2023) (the “ABL Facility”), and a Credit Agreement (the “Term
Loan Credit Agreement” and together with the ABL Credit Agreement, the “Credit Agreements”) with Whitehawk Capital Partners LP, as administrative agent and collateral
agent, and the lenders from time to time party thereto, pursuant to which the lenders thereunder provided the Borrowers with senior secured term loans on the Closing Date in an
aggregate principal amount of $50,000 (the “Term Loan”) and a bridge loan in the amount of $6,000 (the “Bridge Loan” and together with the Term Loan, the “Term Loan
Facility”).
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The proceeds of the Term Loan were issued net of a $1,525 discount which was recorded against the outstanding amount of debt on our consolidated balance sheet and
amortized over the life of the Term Loan Credit Agreement. Debt issuance costs of $4,381 were incurred in connection with the origination of the ABL Facility and these costs
will be reported as a reduction to the outstanding balance of long-term debt on our consolidated balance sheet and amortized over the life of the ABL Credit Agreement. The
Bridge Loan incurred a Bridge Loan fee of 10% of the aggregate amount of the Bridge Loan on the Closing Date. The Bridge Loan fee was paid when the Bridge Loan principal
was repaid in the fourth quarter of 2023.

The obligations under the Credit Agreements are guaranteed by each Borrower and each Borrower’s direct and indirect, existing and future domestic subsidiaries, subject to
certain exceptions (collectively, the “Guarantors” and each, a “Guarantor”). The obligations under the ABL Credit Agreement are secured by a first priority lien on certain
deposit accounts, cash and cash equivalents, credit card payments, accounts receivable, inventory and other related assets of the Guarantors (the “ABL Priority Collateral”) and
a second priority lien on substantially all of the other assets of the Guarantors. The obligations under the Term Loan Credit Agreement are secured by a second priority lien on
the ABL Priority Collateral and a first priority lien on substantially all of the other assets of the Guarantors.

Each Credit Agreement includes certain conditions to borrowings, representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, and events of default customary for
financings of their type and size. Each Credit Agreement requires the Borrowers to maintain (i) consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreements) of at least $(2,460)
for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2023, which amount increases incrementally over the next 15 quarters to $40,000 for the 5 fiscal quarters ended June 30, 2028; (ii) a
fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.10 to 1.00, measured quarterly on a trailing 12 month basis, following the Availability Block Release Date (as defined below); (iii)
minimum liquidity of at least $15,000, which amount is reduced to $7,500 following the Availability Block Release Date; and (iv) minimum average liquidity of at least $9,375
following the Availability Block Release Date. The Credit Agreements also limits the Borrowers’ ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, create liens on
any assets, pay dividends or make certain restricted payments, make certain investments, consummate certain asset sales, make certain payments on indebtedness, and merge,
consolidate or engage in other fundamental changes.

Under the terms of the ABL Credit Agreement, the amount available for advances is subject to a borrowing base, which is calculated by reference to the value of certain
eligible deposit accounts, cash and cash equivalents, credit card payments, accounts receivable and inventory, offset by certain reserves. The amount available for advances will
be reduced by $15,000 until the Borrowers have maintained a fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.10 to 1.00 for two consecutive fiscal quarters following the Closing
Date and no defaults or events of default are then continuing (the date such condition is satisfied, the “Availability Block Release Date”). PNC may also reduce the amount
available for advances upon certain findings or if PNC determines, in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable business judgment, that such reductions are necessary for
other purposes. Our available borrowing under the ABL Credit Facility at December 31, 2023 was approximately $15,692, after consideration of the $15,000 reduction required
before the Availability Block Release Date. As of March 5, 2024, our available borrowings fell below $15,000 which resulted in cash dominion under the terms of the ABL
Credit Agreement whereby certain proceeds must now be collected into a separate account which are subsequently applied against our ABL borrowings until such time as our
available borrowings are $15,000 or the occurrence of the Availability Block Release Date, whichever is first.

Borrowings under the ABL Facility bear interest at a rate per annum of either (i) the Base Rate (as defined below) plus a margin ranging from 1.50% to 2.00% or (ii) term
SOFR plus a margin ranging from 2.60% to 3.10%, in each case subject to a 0.25% reduction following the Availability Block Release Date. “Base Rate” means, for any day,
the base commercial lending rate of PNC as publicly announced to be in effect from time to time. The Borrowers are also required to pay certain fees in connection with the
ABL Credit Agreement, including an unused commitment fee based on the average daily unused portion of the ABL Facility, equal to 0.375% on an annual basis.

Borrowings under the Term Loan Facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to either (i) a base rate plus 7.50% or (ii) term SOFR plus 8.50%. The base rate and term
SOFR rate are subject to floors of 4.00% and 3.00%, respectively.

The ABL Facility matures on the earlier of (i) August 10, 2028 and (ii) the date that is 91 days prior to the scheduled maturity date of any other debt in excess of $2,500,
subject to certain exceptions.

The Term Loan Facility requires the Borrowers to make quarterly principal repayments in an aggregate principal amount equal to (i) 1.25% of the original aggregate
principal amount of the Term Loan commencing with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2024 through the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2025, (ii) 2.50% of the original
aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan commencing with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2025 through the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2026, and (iii) 3.125%
of the original aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan commencing with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2026 through the maturity date of the Term Loan. The
Term Loan Facility is also subject to
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mandatory prepayment (x) to the extent the outstanding obligations under the Term Loan Facility exceed a borrowing base calculated by reference to the value of certain eligible
intellectual property, equipment and real property, offset by certain reserves, and (y) of up to 50% of the Borrowers’ excess cash flows beginning in 2026. The Borrowers may
voluntarily prepay amounts outstanding under the Term Loan Facility at any time, subject in certain cases to a prepayment premium.

The Term Loan matures on the earlier of (i) August 10, 2028 and (ii) the date that is 91 days prior to the scheduled maturity date of any other debt in excess of $2,500,
subject to certain exceptions.

Regions Bank Senior Credit Facility

In November 2022, Authentic Brands and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a credit agreement with Regions Bank, which provided for a revolving credit facility of up
to $65,000, subject to a borrowing base determined from eligible accounts receivable and inventory. On the Closing Date, Authentic Brands used the proceeds from the Term
Loan Facility and approximately $13,900 of borrowings under the ABL Facility (i) to retire the Regions Bank revolving credit facility and real estate term loan facility with
Regions Bank (see further discussion under "Mortgages" below) and the equipment financing facility with Regions Commercial Equipment Finance, LLC and Regions
Equipment Finance Corporation (see further discussion under "Equipment financing Loan" below), (ii) to pay transaction fees, costs and expenses related to the Credit
Agreements, and (iii) for other general corporate and working capital purposes. A loss on extinguishment of debt of $732 was recorded as a result of the early retirement of
debt.

Mortgages

In July 2020, the Company entered into mortgage loan agreements to refinance the purchase of buildings for a total of $5,500 at an interest rate of 3.67% per annum. The
loans were secured by the real property financed. The loans were scheduled to mature on July 29, 2025.

In April 2021, the Company entered into a mortgage loan agreement to purchase a building for a total of $2,200 at an interest rate of 3.60% per annum. The loan was
secured by the real property financed. The loan was scheduled to mature on April 29, 2026.

These mortgage loans were repaid with the proceeds of the Term Loan Facility on the Closing Date.

Equipment Term Loan

In August 2022, borrowings under the equipment financing loan of $4,043 were converted into the Equipment Term Loan (the “Term Loan”). The Term Loan was secured
by the equipment financed and was scheduled to mature in June 2029 bearing an interest rate of 6.88%.

The Equipment Term Loan was repaid with the proceeds of the Term Loan Facility on the Closing Date.

Equipment Financing Loan

In July 2020, the Company entered into an equipment financing agreement which provided a credit line totaling $3,250 at an interest rate of Bloomberg Short Term Bank
Yield Index plus 3.50%. The credit line was secured by the equipment financed.

In April 2021, the Company increased its equipment credit line by $10,000. Further, in July 2021, an additional $6,000 was added to the available credit on the equipment
finance loan. In September 2021, $1,998 outstanding on the equipment credit line was converted to a 60-month term loan at an interest rate of 4.05% to be utilized for retail
expansion (“Retail Facility”).

The Retail Facility was repaid with the proceeds of the Term Loan Facility on the Closing Date.

Notes Payable

In July and September 2021, the Company entered into note payable agreements for $2,588 at an interest rate of approximately 1.00% per annum to repurchase Incentive
Units from former employees. The notes are payable in four annual installment payments. As of December 31, 2023, the outstanding balance on this note payable is $1,294.

In January 2022, the Company entered into a note payable agreement for $1,599 at an interest rate of 1.30% per annum to repurchase Incentive Units from a former
employee. As of December 31, 2023, the outstanding balance on the notes payable is $1,199.
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9.    Leases

As discussed in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, the majority of our leases are operating leases for our Company-operated Outposts. We also lease
distribution and warehouse facilities. We do not enter into material lease transactions with related parties. We categorize leases as either operating or finance leases at the
commencement date of the lease. Operating lease agreements may contain tenant improvement allowances, rent holidays, rent escalation clauses and/or contingent rent
provisions. We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for together as a single lease component for underlying classes of assets.

The table below presents the components of lease costs for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Operating leases costs $ 3,906 $ 1,579 
Short-term lease costs 335 201 

Total lease costs $ 4,241 $ 1,780 

The following table includes supplemental information:

December 31,
2023 2022

Weighted-average remaining operating lease term (in years) 9.5 9
Weighted-average operating lease discount rate 4.48% 4.56%

Cash paid related to operating lease liabilities was $3,142 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The total operating lease liability arising from ROU assets was $38,178 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Finance lease assets are recorded in property, plant, and equipment, net with the corresponding finance lease liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Minimum future maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 were as follows:

2024 $ 3,829 
2025 3,908 
2026 3,904 
2027 3,920 
2028 4,068 
Thereafter 31,282 
Total lease payments 50,911 
Less imputed interest (12,733)
Total $ 38,178 

As of December 31, 2023, we have entered into three operating leases that have not yet commenced of $8,068, primarily related to real estate leases. These leases will
commence between fiscal year 2024 and fiscal year 2025 with lease terms of 15 years.
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10.    Earn-out Liability

At the Closing, certain stockholders were entitled to receive up to 21,241,250 earn-out shares, in the form of Common Units of Authentic Brands and Class A Common
Stock of the Company, if certain milestones were satisfied. A total of 50.0% of the earn-out shares were issuable ("First Tier Vesting Event"), in the aggregate, if the volume
weighted average trading price of the Company's Class A Common Stock was $15.00 or greater for any 20 trading days within a period of 30 trading days prior to the fifth
anniversary of the Closing. The remaining 50.0% of earn-out shares were issuable ("Second Tier Vesting Event"), in the aggregate, if the volume weighted average trading price
of the Company’s Class A Common Stock was $20.00 or greater for any 20 trading days within a period of 30 trading days prior to the seventh anniversary of the Closing.

In March 2022, the First Tier Vesting Event occurred, as a result of which 694,062 shares of Class C Common Stock (as defined below) were exchanged for 694,062 shares
of Class A Common Stock and 9,926,563 Restricted Common Units of Authentic Brands were converted into Common Units of Authentic Brands and BRC Inc. issued
9,926,563 shares of Class B Common Stock to the holders thereof.

In April 2022, the Second Tier Vesting Event occurred, as a result of which 694,063 shares of Class C Common Stock were exchanged for 694,063 shares of Class A
Common Stock and 9,926,562 Restricted Common Units of Authentic Brands were converted into Common Units of Authentic Brands and BRC Inc. issued 9,926,562 shares of
Class B Common Stock to the holders thereof.

The earn-out liabilities were initially measured at fair value at the Closing and subsequently remeasured at the end of each reporting period and vesting dates. The changes
in fair value of the earn-out liabilities were recorded as Non-operating income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations.

The following table is a summary of the earn-out liability changes in fair value and the reported balances:

Total
Initial fair value, as of February 9, 2022 $ 218,678 
Loss on change in fair value 171,098 
First Tier Vesting Event (172,372)
Loss on change in fair value 38,553 
Second Tier Vesting Event (255,957)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ — 
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11.    Warrant Liability

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company assumed from SilverBox 11,499,974 public warrants and 6,266,667 private placement warrants. Each warrant
entitled its holder to purchase one share of Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share, subject to certain adjustments.

In May 2022, the Company redeemed all of its outstanding public and private placement warrants in accordance with a warrant agreement between Continental Stock
Transfer & Trust Company and SilverBox (the “Warrant Agreement”). During the redemption period, the holders of warrants had the option to exercise warrants on a “cashless”
basis to receive 0.361 shares of Class A Common Stock per warrant in lieu of receiving the redemption price. In connection with the redemption, 11,396,726 public warrants
and 6,266,667 private placement warrants, representing approximately 99.0% of the public warrants and 100.0% of the private placement warrants, respectively, were exercised
on a cashless basis in exchange for an aggregate of 6,376,346 shares of Class A Common Stock. A total of 103,218 public warrants remained unexercised in May 2022 and such
unexercised public warrants were redeemed for an aggregate redemption price of $10.00, representing a redemption price of $0.10 per warrant. Following the redemption, the
Company had no warrants outstanding. In connection with the redemption, the warrants ceased trading on the New York Stock Exchange and were delisted.

The warrant liabilities were initially measured at fair value at the Closing and subsequently remeasured at the end of each reporting period. The changes in fair value of the
warrant liabilities were recorded as Non-operating income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations.

The following table is a summary of the warrants changes in fair value and the reported balances:

Total
Initial fair value, as of February 9, 2022 $ 36,484 
Loss on change in fair value 62,110 
Gain on change in fair value (5,435)
Warrant redemption (93,159)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ — 

12.    Series A Redeemable Preferred Equity and Derivative Liability

In January 2022, the Company entered into the First Amendment to the Business Combination Agreement, which modified the terms of the Applicable Premium (as defined
below) that was payable upon the redemption of the Series A preferred units prior to December 31, 2022. Under the amended terms, the Applicable Premium shall be allocated
by the Company as follows: (i) if the Applicable Premium was payable to the former holders of Existing Company Preferred Units (as defined in the First Amendment), then
the Company shall use all of the proceeds from the Applicable Premium to pay the Applicable Premium to the former holders of Existing Company Preferred Units on a pro
rata basis; and (ii) if the Applicable Premium was not payable to the former holders of Existing Company Preferred Units, then (A) the Company shall issue the Supplemental
Company Common Units to the Existing Company Unitholders (other than Blocker (each, as defined in the First Amendment)) on a pro rata basis, (B) BRC Inc. shall issue (1)
a number of shares of Class B Common Stock equal to the number of Supplemental Company Common Units to the Existing Company Unitholders (other than Blocker) on a
pro rata basis and (2) the Supplemental Pubco Class A Shares to the Blocker Shareholders on a pro rata basis (each, as defined in the First Amendment), and (C) the Company
shall release the Applicable Premium held in the Applicable Premium Account (as defined in the First Amendment) to the Company to make such funds available for use as
general working capital funds.

For the purpose of determining whether the Applicable Premium shall be payable or not payable to the former holders of Existing Company Preferred Units, (x) the
threshold of $1,250,000 equity value of the Company, as referenced in Section 8.13(b) of the Authentic Brands' Limited Liability Company Agreement, shall be determined
using the 30-day volume-weighted average price calculated as of the later of the 30th day following the Closing Date and the date on which the Form S-1 Shelf (as defined in
the Investor Rights Agreement) is declared effective by the SEC, and (y) in computing such threshold, the Common Unit Redemption Amount shall be added to the foregoing
calculation of the Company’s equity value based upon the 30-day volume weighted average price.

We analyzed the amendment to the Series A preferred units and determined that the amendment should be accounted for prospectively as a modification to the Series A
preferred units. Additionally, as part of our assessment, we further considered whether the amendment resulted in any additional embedded features being bifurcated and
accounted for separately as a freestanding derivative in accordance with ASC 815.
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Based on our analysis, we determined that the amendment to the Applicable Premium resulted in multiple redemption features which require the payment of the Applicable
Premium as part of the settlement amount to be bifurcated from the Series A preferred units and accounted for separately as a freestanding derivative. The guidance in ASC 815
requires that in instances where multiple embedded features are bifurcated from the host contract, the bifurcated features shall be combined into a single compound derivative.
Accordingly, the Company recognized the compound derivative at fair value and adjusted the compound derivative to fair value at each reporting period. The compound
derivative was subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date until the settlement of the derivative occurred with any changes in fair value recognized in the Company’s
consolidated statement of operations.

In February 2022, in conjunction with the Business Combination, the Series A preferred units were redeemed for $134,698, including $8,265 of applicable premium that
was placed in an escrow account and reported as restricted cash (the "Applicable Premium"). The remaining $26,203 of Series A preferred units were exchanged for shares of
Class A Common Stock in connection with the Business Combination.

In May 2022, upon effectiveness of the Company's registration statement on Form S-1, 820,310 Common Units in Authentic Brands, representing the Supplemental
Company Common Units, and an equal number of shares of Class B Common Stock, as well as 6,196 shares of Class A Common Stock, representing the Supplemental Pubco
Class A Shares, were issued in connection with the vesting of the Applicable Premium. In conjunction with the vesting, the Applicable Premium restricted cash balance became
unrestricted.

The following table is a summary of the derivative liability changes in fair value and the reported balance:

Total
Initial fair value, as of February 9, 2022 $ 9,741 
Loss on change in fair value 7,506 
Gain on change in fair value (5,172)
Applicable Premium vesting (12,075)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ — 

13.    Stockholders’ Equity

In conjunction with the Business Combination on February 9, 2022, 18,769 class A common units and 73,890 class B common units of Authentic Brands (the holders
thereof, the "Existing Members") were converted into an aggregate of 139,106,323 Common Units in Authentic Brands and 19,853,125 Restricted Common Units in Authentic
Brands. The Existing Members also received 139,106,323 shares of Class B Common Stock of the Company.

Subsequent to the Business Combination, the Company's authorized capital stock consists of 2,802,500,000 shares including (i) 2,500,000,000 shares of Class A Common
Stock, (ii) 300,000,000 shares of Class B Common Stock, (iii) 1,500,000 shares of Class C Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and (iv) 1,000,000 shares of Preferred
Stock, par value $0.0001 per share. The Class C Common Stock is divided into two series as follows: (a) 750,000 shares of Series C-1 Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per
share; and (b) 750,000 shares of Series C-2 Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share.

Holders of the Company's Class A Common Stock and the Class B Common Stock are each entitled to one vote per share, and holders of the Class C Common Stock do
not have any voting rights. Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of our Class A Common Stock are entitled
to receive dividends and other distributions as may from time to time be declared by the our board of directors at its discretion out of legally available Company assets, ratably
in proportion to the number of shares held by each such holder, and at such times and in such amounts as the board of directors in its discretion may determine. No dividends or
other distributions will be declared or paid on the Class B Common Stock or the Class C Common Stock.

A holder of Class B Common Stock may transfer or assign shares of Class B Common Stock only if such holder also simultaneously transfers an equal number of such
holder’s Common Units in compliance with and as permitted by the LLC Agreement.

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, after payment of debts and other liabilities and after the rights of
holders of preferred stock, if any, have been satisfied, the holders of all outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock will be entitled to receive the remaining assets of the
Company available for distribution ratably in proportion to the number of shares held by each such stockholder.
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The board of directors of the Company may establish one or more classes or series of preferred stock. Our board of directors may determine, with respect to any class or
series of preferred stock, the terms and rights of such class or series. We currently do not have any preferred stock issued and outstanding.

Common Units are entitled to share in the profits and losses of Authentic Brands and to receive distributions declared and have no voting rights. Holders of Common Units
receive one share of Class B Common Stock, which are voting, non-economic shares in the Company, for each Common Unit they own. From and after a lock-up period and
subject to the terms of the LLC Agreement, the Common Unit holders have the option to redeem all or any portion of their Common Units. However, upon redemption, BRC
Inc.'s board of directors determines whether the Common Units are redeemed in cash or Class A Common Stock.

Common Units that are redeemed for shares, are exchanged for a number of Class A Common Stock equal to the number of exchanged Common Units. Simultaneously, a
number of Class B Common Stock held by the unit holder is surrendered equal to the number of Common Units being redeemed. For Common Units redeemed for cash, cash
redemption may only be effected if a concurrent fundraising activity takes place by the Company.

Non-Controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests represents the ownership interests in Authentic Brands held by holders other than BRC Inc. The Business Combination occurred on February 9,
2022. As a result, net loss for the year ended December 31, 2022 was attributed to pre-Business Combination period from January 1, 2022 through February 8, 2022 and to the
post-Business Combination period from February 9, 2022 through December 31, 2022. During the pre-Business Combination period, net loss was attributable to Authentic
Brands. During the post-Business Combination period, net loss was attributable to BRC Inc. and its respective non-controlling interests. Following the Business Combination,
BRC Inc.’s ownership percentage in Authentic Brands controlling and noncontrolling interests was 22.5% and 77.5%, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, BRC Inc.’s
ownership percentage in Authentic Brands controlling and non-controlling interests was 30.8% and 69.2%, respectively.

14.    Equity-Based Compensation

Authentic Brands maintained an equity incentive plan (the “Plan”) under which it may grant Incentive Units to employees or non-employee directors. The board has the
authority to determine the terms and conditions of each grant. In connection with the Plan, 200,000 non-voting units have been authorized. These units may contain certain
service and performance related vesting provisions. The Incentive Units are awarded to eligible employees and non-employee directors and entitle the grantee to receive non-
voting member units upon vesting, subject solely to the employee’s continuing employment or the non-employee director’s continuing service on the board.

In May 2021, the Board approved a decrease in the participation threshold for equity Incentive Unit holders. The decrease was intended to offset the dilutive effect of the
issuance of the Series A Redeemable Preferred Equity and related redemption of common units. The decrease in the participation threshold was accounted for as a modification
and resulted in $2,749 of incremental compensation cost, of which $1,988 was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021 including a cumulative adjustment at the
time of the modification. The remaining incremental compensation will be recognized over the remaining service period of the awards.

In September 2021, the Company amended and restated the Plan to expand the definition of “Change in Control.” The Company concluded that the vesting conditions of
awards had changed and that a modification had occurred for all awards under the Plan. As the awards were expected to vest under their original terms as well as under their
modified terms, no additional incremental compensation expense was recognized.

The grant date estimated fair value of the Incentive Units was based upon an option pricing model valuation of the awards at the grant date. The Company did not change
pricing models during the year, however, began to incorporate and consider the probability-weighted expected return method. The Incentive Units have no strike price; however,
participation thresholds, as defined in the Plan were established at grant date that must be exceeded for the holder of the unit to participate in any distributions of the Company.
The following assumptions were utilized in determining the fair value of the units at the grant date:

Expected dividend —
Expected volatility 60% to 85%
Risk-free interest rate 0.13% to 2.53%
Expected life of incentive awards (in years) 1 to 5 years
Grant date performance and market threshold $35,000 to $1,250,000
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The computation of expected volatility is based on a weighted average of comparable public companies within the Company’s industry. Expected life is based on the
estimated liquidity event timing. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield of zero-coupon U.S. Treasury securities of comparable terms. The Company does not anticipate
paying dividends in the foreseeable future. The Company recognizes pre-vesting forfeitures as they occur rather than estimate the forfeiture rate at the grant date.

The following table summarizes the changes in the number of Incentive Units for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021: 

Incentive
Units

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2021 174,503 $ 38.82 
Granted 18,400 215.31 
Forfeited (10,709) 100.66 
Repurchased (6,202) 476.06 

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 175,992 $ 38.09 
Granted 850 215.31 
Forfeited (2,989) 174.19 
Repurchased (1,832) 97.57 
Business Combination (157,811) 56.54 

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 14,210 $ 192.52 
Granted — — 
Forfeited (5,625) 215.31 

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 8,585 $ 213.81 
Vested at December 31, 2023 6,178 $ 213.22 

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized equity compensation expense related to nonvested Incentive Units to be recognized over a weighted average period of
approximately 2 years was $421.

In connection with the Business Combination, 28,990 Incentive Units under the Plan fully vested and converted into Common Units in Authentic Brands that allow for their
exchange into Class A Common Stock of BRC Inc. The Company recognized $1,856 of compensation costs as a result of the accelerated vesting of Incentive Units under the
"Change in Control" provision of the Plan. The Company accounted for the accelerated vesting of the Incentive Units as a modification. However, because the fair value of the
modified awards was the same immediately before and after the modification, no incremental compensation expense was recognized.

In connection with the Business Combination, BRC Inc. adopted the 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“Omnibus Plan”), which replaced the Plan, and the 2022 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan.

Stock Options

The Company granted stock options to employees under the Omnibus Plan that vest ratably over three years and expire after seven years. The grant date estimated fair
value of the stock options was based upon a Black Scholes model valuation of the options at the grant date. The following weighted average assumptions were utilized in
determining the fair value of options granted in 2023:

Weighted average grant date fair value $2.58
Expected dividend yield —
Expected volatility 65%
Risk-free interest rate 4.17%
Options term (in years) 4.5

The computation of expected volatility is based on a weighted average of comparable public companies within the Company’s industry. The Company uses the simplified
method prescribed by Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Payment, to calculate the expected term of options granted. The
risk-free interest rate is based on the yield of zero-coupon U.S. Treasury securities of comparable terms. The Company does not
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anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future. The Company recognizes pre-vesting forfeitures as they occur rather than estimate the forfeiture rate at the grant date.

The following table summarizes information about stock options activities for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Stock Options

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Granted on February 9, 2022 518,180 $ 10.00 

Granted 362,720 9.49 
Forfeited (88,530) 10.00 

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 792,370 $ 9.77 
Granted 3,813,166 4.66 
Forfeited (1,192,196) 6.43 

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 3,413,340 $ 5.19 
Vested at December 31, 2023 288,321 $ 7.72 

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized equity compensation expense related to stock options to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2
years was $7,228.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company granted restricted stock unit (“RSU”) awards to employees and non-employee directors under the Omnibus Plan that vest annually over three years. The
grant date fair values were based on the closing price of the Class A Common Stock of BRC Inc.

The following table summarizes information about the RSUs under the Omnibus Plan for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Restricted Stock Units

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Granted on May 2, 2022 400,775 $ 13.70 
Granted 484,054 8.56 
Forfeited (51,875) 13.70 
Vested (9,125) 13.70 

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 823,829 $ 10.68 
Granted 2,008,519 4.90 
Forfeited (685,484) 6.49 
Vested (461,909) 9.70 

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 1,684,955 $ 5.77 

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized equity compensation expense related to RSUs to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2 years was
$7,711.

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units

On December 29, 2022, the Company granted 8,462,412 performance-based restricted stock units (“PSUs”) to a key employee which vest if certain market capital growth
rates are achieved each year through April 2027. Vested PSUs are settled in shares of the Company Class A Common Stock equal to the number of PSUs granted. The PSUs are
forfeited upon termination of employment before the performance period ends. PSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2022 had a weighted-average grant date fair
value of $0.46 per share. All PSUs were unvested as of December 31, 2023. The Company used the Monte Carlo pricing model to estimate the fair value of PSUs utilizing the
following assumptions at the grant date:
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Expected dividend —
Expected volatility 65%
Risk-free interest rate 3.97%
Award term years 4.3
Valuation date share price $6.21

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized equity-based compensation expense related to PSUs to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 4
years was $1,901.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In September 2022, the Company began offering an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) whereby eligible employees may acquire an equity interest in the Company
through payroll contributions. At the end of a six-month offering period, shares are purchased at 85% of the stock price at enrollment date or purchase date, whichever is lower.

15.    Defined Contribution Plan

The Company maintains a voluntary qualified defined contribution plan covering eligible employees as defined by the plan documents. Participating employees may elect
to defer and contribute a portion of their eligible compensation to the plan up to limits stated in the plan documents, not to exceed the dollar amounts set by applicable laws. The
Company’s matching contributions to the plan were $951, $990 and $587 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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16.    Income Taxes

As described in Management's Discussion and Analysis, we completed a business combination on February 9th, 2022 and as a result, Authentic Brands became a subsidiary
of BRC Inc. Authentic Brands LLC is, and has been the business combination, treated as a flow-through entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes and as such, has generally
not been subject to U.S. federal income tax at the entity level. BRC Inc. did not engage in any operations prior to the business combination. This section describes the operations
of the Company, operating under Authentic Brands prior to the Business Combination, and contains the financial results of Authentic Brands for the period before the Business
Combination through December 31, 2021. Accordingly, the historical results of operations and other financial information set forth in this Annual Report do not include any
material provisions for U.S. federal income tax. Following the Company's initial public offering, BRC Inc. is taxed as a corporation and is subject to U.S. federal, state, and
local income taxes with respect to its allocable share of any taxable income or loss of Authentic Brands, as well as any stand-alone income or loss generated by the Company.

Net income (loss) before income taxes was $(56,531), $(337,677) and $(13,667) for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company had
an income tax expense of $185, $367 and $178 for the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The components of the provision for income tax (benefit) provision are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Current expense
Federal $ — — — 
State 185 367 178 

Total current expense 185 367 178 
Deferred expense

Federal — — — 
State — — — 

Total deferred expense — — — 
Total income tax (benefit) provision $ 185 $ 367 $ 178 

The Company recognized a tax expense of $185 on pre-tax book loss of $56,531. The Company has determined that its deferred tax assets require a full valuation
allowance. As a result, the only tax expense recognized in the Company’s financials relate to state taxes at the Authentic Brands level.

Reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Amount Rate Amount Rate Amount Rate

Expected U.S. federal income taxes at statutory rate $ (11,872) 21.00 % $ (70,912) 21.00 % $ (2,870) 21.00 %
State Taxes 30 (0.05)% (72) 0.02 % 178 (1.30)%
Effect of Business Combination — — — — — — 
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests 8,366 (14.80)% 54,050 (16.00)% — — 
Valuation allowance 3,649 (6.45)% 17,280 (5.12)% — — 
Effect due to LLC flow-through structure — — — — 2,870 (21.00)%
Other 12 (0.03)% 21 (0.01)% — — 
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 185 (0.33)% $ 367 (0.11)% $ 178 (1.30)%
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The tax effects of cumulative temporary differences that give rise to significant deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are presented below (in thousands):
December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Deferred tax assets:

Investment in partnership $ 83,483 $ 78,801 $ — 
Net operating losses 11,209 5,212 — 
Other 438 71 — 

Total deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 95,130 84,084 — 
Less: valuation allowance (95,130) (84,084) — 

Deferred tax assets - net of valuation allowance — — — 

Deferred tax liabilities:
— — — 

Total deferred tax liabilities — — — 
Deferred tax (liabilities) assets, net $ — $ — $ — 

As of December 31, 2023 the Company had federal net operating loss carry forwards of $51,330. Federal losses can be carried forward indefinitely. The Company also has
losses in various states that will begin to expire in 2042.

We recognize deferred tax assets to the extent we believe these assets are more likely than not to be realized. In making such a determination, we consider all positive and
negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent results of operations.
A valuation allowance is provided if it is determined that it is more likely than not that the DTA will not be realized. During the year ended December 31, 2023, management
performed an assessment of the recoverability of DTAs. Management determined, based on the accounting standards applicable to such assessment, that there was sufficient
negative evidence as a result of the Company’s cumulative losses to conclude it was more likely than not that its DTAs would not be realized and has recorded a full valuation
allowance of $95,130 against its deferred tax assets.

Tax Receivable Agreement

As part of the Business Combination, the Company entered into Tax Receivable Agreements with certain shareholders that requires the Company to pay to such
shareholders approximately 85% of the tax savings the Company realizes as a result of (i) increases in tax basis in Authentic Brands’ assets resulting from the redemption of
existing preferred units of Authentic Brands, (ii) increase in tax basis resulting from the redemption of Common Units for consideration paid pursuant to the Business
Combination Agreement, (iii) increases in tax basis resulting from future exchanges of Common Units for shares of the Company's stock or cash pursuant to the Amended and
Restated LLC Agreement, (iv) pre-existing tax attributes of the Blocker Corp as well as certain (v) other tax benefits related to entering into the TRA, including tax benefits
attributable to payments under the TRA. Due to the uncertainty of various factors, we cannot estimate the likely tax benefits we will realize as a result of LLC Unit exchanges,
and the resulting amounts we are likely to pay out to LLC Unitholders pursuant to the TRA; however we estimate that such payments may be substantial. The actual amount and
timing of any payments under the TRA will vary depending upon a number of factors, including the timing of exchanges by the LLC Unitholders, the amount of gain recognized
by such LLC Unitholders, the amount and timing of the taxable income we generate in the future, and the federal tax rates then applicable.

The Company has determined that it will record the TRA liability when probable and estimable. Given the uncertainty regarding the potential payments such that the timing
is not fixed or determinable, any TRA liability will be recorded on an undiscounted basis consistent with general practice. The Company's TRA payments generally relate
directly to DTAs that have been recorded in its financial statements subject to a full valuation allowance. These payments will relate to IRC §743(b) adjustments from the
business combination, future exchanges, and Blocker Corp basis. In addition, the Company will be required to make TRA payments for tax savings related to other tax attributes
discussed above. In no circumstance, will the Company be required to make a TRA payment without a realized tax savings.

The Company has reviewed its DTAs and has determined that it is not more likely than not that it will be able to utilize them. Accordingly, it has established a full
valuation allowance against its DTAs. In addition, Authentic Brands has four quarters of cumulative pre-tax losses adjusted for permanent items prior to consideration of any tax
attributes covered by the TRA. The Company's only source of taxable income is Authentic Brands. As a result of the full valuation allowance against its DTAs, and Authentic
Brands historic losses, the Company is not recording a TRA liability for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Uncertain Tax Positions

An entity shall initially recognize the financial statement effects of a tax position when it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits, that the position will be
sustained upon examination. The term more likely than not means a likelihood of more than 50 percent. The Company started filing tax returns for the year ended December 31,
2020 and subject to examination by taxing authorities for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes. The Company did not engage in any operations prior to the Business
Combination. Authentic Brands LLC is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes and its tax returns are subject to examination by taxing authorities.
Authentic Brands LLC has filed income tax returns for years through December 31, 2022. These returns are subject to examination by the taxing authorities in the respective
jurisdictions, generally for three or four years after they were filed. The Company has reviewed the tax profile to assess and determine whether any new or existing uncertainties
exist. Based on the Company's analysis of tax positions taken on income tax returns filed, no uncertain tax positions existed as of December 31, 2023.

Although the outcome of open tax audits is uncertain, in management’s opinion, adequate provisions for income taxes have been made. If actual outcomes differ materially
from these estimates, they could have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations. Differences between actual results and assumptions or changes in
assumptions in future periods are recorded in the period they become known. To the extent additional information becomes available prior to resolution, such accruals are
adjusted to reflect probable outcomes.

No interest or penalties were recognized in the consolidated financial statements. To the extent we recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters in
the future, we will recognize the amounts in pre-tax income (loss) on our consolidated financial statements.
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17.    Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to holders of Class A Common Stock by the weighted-average shares of Class A outstanding without
the consideration for potential dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per share represents basic net loss per share adjusted to include the potentially dilutive effect of outstanding
unvested share awards, warrants, Common Units and Restricted Common Units that are exchangeable into shares of Class A Common Stock. Diluted net loss per share is
computed by dividing the net income attributable to holders of Class A Common Stock by the weighted-average number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding for
the period determined using the treasury stock method and if-converted method, as applicable. Shares of Class B Common Stock do not participate in the earnings or losses of
the Company and are therefore not participating securities. As such, separate presentation of basic and diluted loss per share of Class B Common Stock under the two-class
method has not been presented.

The Company analyzed the calculation of net loss per share for periods prior to the Business Combination on February 9, 2022 and determined that it resulted in values that
would not be meaningful to the users of the consolidated financial statements, as the capital structure completely changed as a result of the Business Combination. Therefore,
net loss per share information has not been presented for periods prior to the Business Combination. The basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to Class A common
shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2022, as presented on the consolidated statements of operations, represents only the period after the Business Combination to
December 31, 2022.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share are presented below:

December 31,

Period After Business
Combination Through

December 31,
2023 2022

Numerator:
Net loss $ (56,716) $ (335,352)
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests (39,971) (252,185)
Net loss attributable to Class A Common Stock - basic $ (16,745) $ (83,167)

Denominator:
Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding 60,932,225 51,246,632 
Net loss per share attributable to Class A common stockholders, basic and diluted $ (0.27) $ (1.62)

The Company excluded the following potentially dilutive securities, presented based on amounts outstanding at each period end, from the computation of diluted net loss
per share attributable to Class A common shareholders because including them would have had an antidilutive effect:

December 31,
2023 2022

Stock Options 3,413,340 792,370 
Common Units 146,484,989 153,899,025 
RSUs 1,684,955 823,829 
PSUs 8,462,412 8,462,412 
Incentive Units 8,585 14,210 
Total units excluded from computation of diluted net loss per share 160,054,281 163,991,846 
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18.    Commitments and Contingencies

Purchase Agreements

The Company has entered into manufacturing and purchase agreements to purchase and produce coffee product from third-party suppliers. These purchase agreements are
typically obligations to purchase minimum volumes with fixed pricing if the volume terms are not fulfilled, in the form of a take-or-pay provision. The aggregate value of
purchases from these third-party suppliers totaled $84,007, $86,531, and $26,668 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The amounts in the table below represents the Company's future minimum purchase commitments as of December 31, 2023:

Year ending December 31,
2024 $ 21,040 
2025 26,059 
2026 30,018 
2027 32,427 
2028 15,141 
Thereafter 14,934 
Total $ 139,619 

Contingencies

The Company is the subject of various legal actions in the ordinary course of business. These actions typically seek, among other things, compensation for alleged personal
injury, breach of contract, property damage, punitive damages, civil penalties or other losses, or injunctive or declaratory relief. With respect to such lawsuits, the Company
accrues reserves when it is probable a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Although the outcomes of these proceedings cannot be
predicted with certainty, the Company does not believe any of these proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, would be expected to have a material adverse effect on results
of operations, cash flows or financial condition.

The Company could be subject to additional sales tax or other tax liabilities. The Company follows the guidelines of ASC 450, Accounting for Contingencies, and the
consolidated financial statements reflect the current impact of such legislation through the Company’s best estimates. However, any of these events could have a material effect
on the Company’s business and operating results depending on the previous periods of applied enforcement by certain jurisdictions.

The Company is also subject to U.S. (federal and state) laws, regulations, and administrative practices that require us to collect information from its customers, vendors,
merchants, and other third parties for tax reporting purposes and report such information to various government agencies. The scope of such requirements continues to expand,
requiring us to develop and implement new compliance systems. Failure to comply with such laws and regulations could result in significant penalties and interest which might
have an adverse effect on the Company’s business and operating results.

The Company has accrued $320 and $326 annually related to potential sales and other tax exposure as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is included in
accrued liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Legal Disputes

On April 28, 2022, Tang Capital Partners, LP filed a lawsuit in federal district court in New York against the Company, Tang Capital Partners, LP v. BRC Inc., Case 22-
CV-3476 (RWL) (Southern District of New York). The complaint alleges that the Tang Capital suffered damages arising from the Company’s refusal on two occasions to
permit Tang Capital to exercise warrants. On March 8, 2023, the court granted the Company’s motion to dismiss a claim for declaratory judgment but denied the Company’s
motion to dismiss a breach of contract claim. The lawsuit seeks unspecified general and compensatory damages, attorneys’ fees, and other reasonable costs and disbursements.
The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the claim asserted against it and will defend itself vigorously in these proceedings; however, there can be no
assurances that it will be successful in its efforts. The Company is not able at this time to determine or predict the ultimate outcome of this lawsuit or provide a reasonable
estimate or range of estimates of the possible outcome or loss, if any, in this matter.
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On February 3, 2023, Strategy and Execution, Inc. filed a lawsuit in federal district court in Texas against one of the Company's wholly owned subsidiaries: Strategy and
Execution, Inc. v. Black Rifle Coffee Company LLC, Case 23-CV-00135 (FB) (Western District of Texas). The complaint alleges that SEI, a former consultant to the
Company, is owed certain disputed royalties from the Company. On April 4, 2023, the Company filed a partial motion to dismiss several of the claims which is currently
pending. The Company maintains all royalties expire upon expiration of the parties’ contract on December 31, 2023, and prior to such expiration, only SKUs manufactured at
co-manufacturers SEI introduced the Company to, are subject to such royalty. Through December 31, 2023, the Company has expensed all royalties for co-manufacturers which
SEI introduced.

On June 22, 2023, John Brian Clark, JBC Structured Products LLC, and Marathon Capital LLC filed a complaint against BRC Inc. and Black Rifle Coffee Company LLC:
John Brian Clark, et al. v. BRC Inc., et al., Case 1:23-CV-5340 (RWL) (Southern District of New York). Clark alleges a breach of contract and is seeking a declaratory
judgment. The complaint alleges that Clark suffered damages arising from the Company’s refusal to allow Clark to exercise warrants. The lawsuit seeks unspecified general and
compensatory damages, attorneys’ fees, and other reasonable costs and disbursements. The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the causes of action asserted
against it and will defend itself vigorously in these proceedings; however, there can be no assurances that it will be successful in its efforts. Currently the case is stayed through
the resolution of the Tang Capital matter, but Clark has the option to end the stay at any time after the end of June 2024 or a summary judgment decision in Tang Capital,
whichever comes first. The Company is not able at this time to determine or predict the ultimate outcome of this lawsuit or provide a reasonable estimate or range of estimates
of the possible outcome or loss, if any, in this matter.

In connection with certain disputes regarding a small number of franchised Outposts, we recently agreed to provide certain operational and financial support in connection
with the sale and shutdown of certain stores managed by franchisees. We have accrued $613 as of December 31, 2023, for future support to be provided to these franchised
Outposts.

19.    Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

In March 2024, the Company determined that the presentation of investing activities and operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows included in the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q issued for the quarter ended September 30, 2023 was incorrect as a result of two separate errors. Firstly, certain losses on the disposal of assets
were improperly presented as a reduction to capital expenditures within investing activities. Secondly, the method used to calculate the non-cash portion of capital expenditures
that is removed from capital expenditures within investing activities was incorrect. The financial statement line items impacted within operating activities are loss on sale of
assets and accounts payable. There was no impact on the unaudited Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statements of Income, or the Consolidated Statements of
Stockholder’s Deficit for the quarter ended September 30, 2023.

The Company has restated the interim financial statements for the third quarter of 2023. Relevant restated financial information is included in this Annual Report on Form
10-K in the table that follows. As part of the restatement, the Company recorded adjustments to correct the misstatements for the impacted period. The unaudited interim
financial
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statements reflect all adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of the results for the interim period presented.

The following tables present the effects of the changes in presentation of these cash flows, compared to the previously reported Consolidated Balance Sheet (in thousands,
except share and per share amounts):

September 30, 2023 
(unaudited)

As Reported Adjustment As Corrected
Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,667 $ — $ 6,667 
Restricted cash 1,465 — 1,465 
Accounts receivable, net 24,621 — 24,621 
Inventories, net 91,373 — 91,373 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 13,959 — 13,959 

Total current assets 138,085 — 138,085 
Property, plant and equipment, net 64,883 — 64,883 
Operating lease, right-of-use asset 35,963 — 35,963 
Identifiable intangibles, net 382 — 382 
Other 313 — 313 
Total assets 239,626 — 239,626 

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 26,128 — 26,128 
Accrued liabilities 33,437 — 33,437 
Deferred revenue and gift card liability 10,160 — 10,160 
Current maturities of long-term debt, net 1,896 — 1,896 
Current operating lease liability 2,402 — 2,402 
Current maturities of finance lease obligations 82 — 82 

Total current liabilities 74,105 — 74,105 
Non-current liabilities:

Long-term debt, net 70,094 — 70,094 
Finance lease obligations, net of current maturities 99 — 99 
Operating lease liability 35,252 — 35,252 
Other non-current liabilities 623 — 623 

Total non-current liabilities 106,068 — 106,068 
Total liabilities 180,173 — 180,173 

Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders'equity:

Preferred Stock, $ 0.0001 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding — — — 
Class A Common Stock, $ 0.0001 par value, 2,500,000,000 shares authorized; 63,641,996 shares issued

and outstanding at September 30, 2023 5 — 5 
Class B Common Stock, $ 0.0001 par value, 300,000,000 shares authorized; 148,395,692 shares issued and

outstanding at September 30, 2023 16 — 16 
Class C Common Stock, $ 0.0001 par value, 1,500,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding

at September 30, 2023 — — — 
Additional paid in capital 137,457 — 137,457 
Accumulated deficit (115,993) — (115,993)

Total BRC Inc.'s stockholders' equity 21,485 — 21,485 
Non-controlling interests 37,968 — 37,968 

Total stockholders' equity 59,453 — 59,453 
Total liabilities, and stockholders' equity $ 239,626 $ — $ 239,626 
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The following tables present the effects of the changes in presentation of these cash flows, compared to the previously reported Consolidated Statements of Operations (in
thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Three Months Ended 
September 30, 2023

 (unaudited)

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 2023

 (unaudited)
As Reported Adjustment As Corrected As Reported Adjustment As Corrected

Revenue, net $ 100,536 $ — $ 100,536 $ 275,974 $ — $ 275,974 
Cost of goods sold 66,477 — 66,477 182,197 — 182,197 

Gross profit 34,059 — 34,059 93,777 — 93,777 
Operating expenses

Marketing and advertising 8,260 — 8,260 22,418 — 22,418 
Salaries, wages and benefits 13,907 — 13,907 52,087 — 52,087 
General and administrative 19,474 — 19,474 56,529 — 56,529 
Other operating (income) expense, net (596) — (596) 734 — 734 

Total operating expenses 41,045 — 41,045 131,768 — 131,768 
Operating loss (6,986) — (6,986) (37,991) — (37,991)
Non-operating income (expense)

Interest expense, net (3,544) — (3,544) (4,658) — (4,658)
Other income (expense), net (108) — (108) 138 — 138 
Change in fair value of earn-out liability — — — — — — 
Change in fair value of warrant liability — — — — — — 
Change in fair value of derivative liability — — — — — — 

Total non-operating expenses (3,652) — (3,652) (4,520) — (4,520)
Loss before income taxes (10,638) — (10,638) (42,511) — (42,511)
Income tax expense 56 — 56 169 — 169 
Net loss (10,694) — (10,694) (42,680) — (42,680)

Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest (7,462) — (7,462) (30,420) — (30,420)
Net loss attributable to BRC Inc. (3,232) — (3,232) (12,260) — (12,260)

Net loss per share attributable to Class A Common Stock
Basic and diluted $ (0.05) $ — $ (0.05) $ (0.21) $ — $ (0.21)

Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock
outstanding

Basic and diluted 61,964,157 — 61,964,157 59,738,542 — 59,738,542 
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The following tables present the effects of the changes in presentation of these cash flows, compared to the previously reported Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(dollars in thousands):

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 2023 

(unaudited)
As Reported Adjustment As Corrected

Operating activities
Net loss $ (42,680) $ — $ (42,680)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 5,354 — 5,354 
Equity-based compensation 5,645 — 5,645 
Non-employee equity-based compensation — — — 
Amortization of debt issuance costs 260 — 260 
(Gain) Loss on disposal of assets (735) 4,357 3,622 
Other 252 — 252 
Change in fair value of earn-out liability — — — 
Change in fair value of warrant liability — — — 
Change in fair value of derivative liability — — — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net (2,284) — (2,284)
Inventories, net (14,190) — (14,190)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (7,374) — (7,374)
Accounts payable 10,350 2,279 12,629 
Accrued liabilities (3,285) — (3,285)
Deferred revenue and gift card liability 655 — 655 
Operating lease liability 915 — 915 
Other liabilities 122 — 122 

Net cash used in operating activities (46,995) 6,636 (40,359)
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (12,236) (6,636) (18,872)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 5,576 — 5,576 

Net cash used in investing activities (6,660) (6,636) (13,296)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of discount 294,501 — 294,501 
Debt issuance costs paid (3,876) — (3,876)
Repayment of long-term debt (267,381) — (267,381)
Financing lease obligations (73) — (73)
Repayment of promissory note (1,047) — (1,047)
Issuance of stock from the Employee Stock Purchase Plan 673 — 673 
Distribution and redemption of Series A preferred equity — — — 
Proceeds from Business Combination, including PIPE investment — — — 
Payment of Business Combination costs — — — 
Redemption of Class A and Class B units — — — 
Redemption of incentive units — — — 

Net cash provided by financing activities 22,797 — 22,797 
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (30,858) — (30,858)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 38,990 — 38,990 
Restricted cash, beginning of period — — — 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 6,667 $ — $ 6,667 

Restricted cash, end of period $ 1,465 $ — $ 1,465 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued) (unaudited)

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 2023 

(unaudited)
As Reported Adjustment As Corrected

Non-cash operating activities
Recognition of right-of-use operating lease assets $ 15,913 $ — $ 15,913 
Recognition of revenue for inventory exchanged for prepaid advertising 7,480 — 7,480 

Non-cash investing and financing activities
Property and equipment purchased but not yet paid 3,349 — 3,349 
Series A preferred exchange for PIPE shares — — — 
Series A preferred equity amortization — — — 

Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for income taxes $ 665 $ — $ 665 

Cash paid for interest $ 2,591 $ — $ 2,591 

20.    Subsequent Events

There have been no events subsequent to December 31, 2023 which would require accrual or disclosure in these consolidated financial statements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective to
ensure that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, due to the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting described below.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Company’s internal control protocols were designed to
provide reasonable assurance to management that the preparation and presentation of our financial statements are in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. These controls include (1) the maintenance of records in reasonable detail so as to accurately and fairly reflect the transactions of the Company, (2) reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded to permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and (3) reasonable assurance unauthorized transactions that
could have a material effect on our financial statements are timely detected or prevented.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for the year ended December 31, 2023 based on the criteria for effective internal
control described in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on the results of
this evaluation, management concluded that there is a material weakness in the review procedures related to disclosure of fixed asset activity in the statement of cash flows. The
reviewer had insufficient resources supporting the review of the statement of cash flows and there was insufficient analysis on the fixed asset activity presented in the statement
of cash flows. As a result our previously issued financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 have been restated. Based on this assessment, management
believes that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2023.

Our independent registered accounting firm will not be required to opine on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 until we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined under the JOBS Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except for the material weakness noted above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the
Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Remediation Plan for Material Weakness

Management has actively initiated a plan for remediation to address the material weakness. Specifically we have added resources to our accounting department including
access to accounting research tools and additional full time employees to improve our ability to perform reviews. In addition, the review of the fixed asset activity to support the
preparation of the statement of cash flows will be performed by more experienced accounting personnel. Finally, we will implement a new accounting software to allow us to
perform a more detailed analysis of fixed assets to support our statement of cash flows. We estimate that our remediation plan will be complete by the second quarter of 2024.

Item 9B. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans - Directors and Section 16 Officers

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-
1 trading arrangement” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.
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Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information regarding our executive officers is reported under the caption “Information About Our Executive Officers” in Part I of this report.

The remaining information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the “Proposal No. 1: Election of Class I Directors,” “Corporate Governance and Our Board
Of Directors,” and “Delinquent Section 16(A) Reports” sections of the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “2024 Proxy Statement”).

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the “Executive Compensation” section of the 2024 Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owner and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the “Ownership of Our Common Stock” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” sections of the
2024 Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence” section of the 2024
Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees” and “Audit Committee Pre-Approval
Policies and Procedures” sections of the 2024 Proxy Statement.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(1) Financial Statements - See Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

(2) Financial Statement Schedules - None

(3) Exhibits
Exhibit Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on
February 10, 2022 with the SEC).

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on February 10, 2022 with
the SEC).

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K/A filed on March 17, 2023 with the SEC).

4.2 Description of the Registrant’s Securities Registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company Form
10-K filed on March 16, 2022 with the SEC).

10.1†
Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Authentic Brands, dated as of February 9, 2022, by and among Authentic Brands
and each other person who is or at any time becomes a member of Authentic Brands (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-
K filed on February 10, 2022 with the SEC).

10.2 Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2022, by and among the Company, Authentic Brands and Sterling New Investment Holdings LLC, as
agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on February 10, 2022 with the SEC).

10.3† Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2022, by and among the Company and the stockholders party thereto (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on February 10, 2022 with the SEC).

10.4
Credit Agreement, dated August 10, 2023, by and among Authentic Brands LLC, certain subsidiaries of Authentic Brands LLC from time to time party
thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the lenders from time to time part thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 10, 2023 with the SEC).

10.5*
First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated November 3, 2023, by and among Authentic Brands LLC, certain subsidiaries of Authentic Brands LLC
from time to time party thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the lenders from time to time part
thereto.

10.6*
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated January 25, 2024, by and among Authentic Brands LLC, certain subsidiaries of Authentic Brands LLC
from time to time party thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the lenders from time to time part
thereto.

10.7
Credit Agreement, dated August 10, 2023, by and among Authentic Brands LLC, certain subsidiaries of Authentic Brands LLC from time to time part
thereto, Whitehawk Capital Partners LP, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 10, 2023 with the SEC).

10.8# BRC Inc. 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on February 10, 2022 with the SEC).

10.9# Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under the Company’s 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 the Company’s
Form 8-K filed on February 10, 2022 with the SEC).

10.10# BRC Inc. 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on February 10, 2022 with the
SEC).

10.11# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Company’s 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 the Company’s
Form S-8 filed on April 19, 2022 with the SEC).

10.12# Employment Agreement, dated as of December 29, 2022 between Evan Hafer and Black Rifle Coffee Company LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on December 30, 2022 with the SEC).
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10.13* First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023, between Evan Hafer and Black Rifle Coffee Company LLC.
10.14* Letter Agreement, dated as of December 22, 2023, between Evan Hafer and BRC Inc.

10.15# Founder Stock Award Agreement, dated as of December 29, 2022, by and between BRC Inc. and Evan Hafer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on December 30, 2022 with the SEC).

10.16* Letter Agreement, dated as of December 22, 2023, between Christopher Mondzelewski and BRC Inc.
10.17* Separation and Release Agreement, dated as of December 22, 2023, between Thomas Davin and Authentic Brands LLC.

10.18 Offer Letter for Employment between Black Rifle Coffee Company and Stephen Kadenacy, dated September 6, 2023 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2023 with the SEC).

10.19 Engagement Letter between Authentic Brands LLC and Berkeley Research Group, LLC regarding Interim CFO services of Mark Weinsten, dated August
8, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2023 with the SEC).

10.20 Transition and Separation Agreement, dated April 18, 2023, among the Company, Black Rifle Coffee Company LLC and Heath Nielsen (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 10, 2023 with the SEC).

10.21 Separation and Release Agreement, dated June 23, 2023, between the Company and Gregory J. Iverson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 10, 2023 with the SEC).

10.22# Severance Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2023, by and between BRC Inc. and Kristina Braendel (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed on February 1, 2023 with the SEC).

10.23# Restricted Units Agreement, dated as of September 13, 2021, by and between Authentic Brands LLC and Andrew McCormick (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on March 16, 2022 with the SEC).

10.24# Form of Severance and Restrictive Covenant Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on December 30,
2022 with the SEC).

10.25# Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on February 10, 2022 with the SEC).
21.1* List of Subsidiaries of the Company.
23* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24* Power of Attorney (included in signature page).

31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2** Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

97.1* Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy of BRC Inc.

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File as its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline
XBRL document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
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101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

__________________________________________________________________________________________________

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
# Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.

† Schedules and similar attachments to this Exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Registration S-K. The Company hereby agrees to
furnish a copy of any omitted schedules to the SEC upon request.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BRC Inc.

By: /s/ Christopher Mondzelewski
Christopher Mondzelewski

March 6, 2024 Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Christopher Mondzelewski, and Stephen
Kadenacy, jointly and severally, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform
each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirming that all said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities indicated as of March 6, 2024.

Signature Title

/s/ Christopher Mondzelewski Chief Executive Officer, Director
Christopher Mondzelewski (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/Stephen Kadenacy Chief Financial Officer
Stephen Kadenacy (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Tom Davin Director
Tom Davin

/s/ Katy Dickson Director
Katy Dickson

/s/ Evan Hafer Director and Executive Chairman
Evan Hafer

/s/ George Munoz Director
George Munoz

/s/ Steven Taslitz Director
Steven Taslitz

/s/ Glenn Welling Director
Glenn Welling

103



Exhibit 10.5

Execution Version

FIRST AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment”), dated as of November 3, 2023, is entered into
among AUTHENTIC BRANDS LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Parent”), BLACK RIFLE COFFEE COMPANY LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“BRCC”), GOOD BEANS LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Good Beans”), FREE
RANGE AMERICAN MEDIA COMPANY LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ Free Range”), SIGNAL MOUNTAIN
MEDIA WORKS LLC, a Texas limited liability company (“ Signal Mountain”), 1144 SLC LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“1144 SLC”), BRCC OPERATING COMPANY LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ BRCC Operating”), SPENCER 355
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Spencer 355”), 621 MANCHESTER LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“621
Manchester”), BRCC GC LLC, a Utah limited liability company (“BRCC GC”), GROUNDS AND HOUNDS COFFEE COMPANY
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Grounds and Hounds”), INDEPENDENT COFFEE SOLUTIONS LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (“Independent Coffee”), and BRCC COPPERFIELD LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“BRCC
Copperfield”, together with Parent, BRCC, Good Beans, Free Range, Signal Mountain, 1144 SLC, BRCC Operating, Spencer 355, 621
Manchester, BRCC GC, Grounds and Hounds, and Independent Coffee, collectively, the “Borrowers” and each individually a
“Borrower”), the Lenders party hereto, and PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (“PNC”), in its capacity as administrative agent
for the Lenders (PNC in such capacity, together with its successors and permitted assigns, the “Agent”). Terms used herein without
definition shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the Credit Agreement defined below.

RECITALS

A. The Lenders, Agent and Borrowers have previously entered into that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of August
10, 2023 (as amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Lenders have made certain loans and financial accommodations available to Borrowers.

B. The Borrowers have requested that Agent and the Lenders amend the Credit Agreement, and the Lenders and
Agent are willing to do so on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants herein contained, and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Amendment of Credit Agreement. On the Effective Date (defined below), Section 9.6(e) of the Credit Agreement shall be
amended and restated as follows:



(e) any Credit Party or any Subsidiary may make mandatory principal prepayments or payments,
as applicable, of the Term Loan Debt required pursuant to Section 5.2(c), Section 5.2(f) or Section 5.2(g)
of the Term Loan Credit Agreement as and when due in accordance with the terms of the Term Loan
Credit Agreement, provided, however, any payment of the Term Loan Debt required pursuant to Section
5.2(g)(i) of the Term Loan Credit Agreement may be paid with the proceeds of any Loan hereunder or
any Credit Parties’ cash on the their balance sheet so long as (x) such payment is made on or before
November 8, 2023 in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $764,793.42, which the Credit Parties
represent and warrant to Agent is the amount required to satisfy in full the principal amount owing to
Term Loan Agent and the Term Loan Lenders in respect of the Bridge Loan (as such term is defined in
the Term Loan Credit Agreement), (y) after giving effect thereto on a Pro Forma Basis, Excess
Availability is greater than or equal to $25,000,000 and (z) after giving effect thereto on a Pro Forma
Basis, the Credit Parties are in compliance with the minimum Consolidated EBITDA covenant set forth
in Section 10.1(a) of the Credit Agreement for the Testing Period ended September 30, 2023.

2. Effectiveness of this Amendment. This Amendment shall become effective on the date the following conditions are
satisfied, each in form and substance acceptable to Agent (such date, the “Effective Date”):

(a) Agent shall have received this Amendment duly executed and delivered by the Borrowers, the Lenders party
hereto and Agent;

(b) no Default or Event of Default shall exist at the time of, or immediately result from, the consummation of this
Amendment; and

(c) the representations and warranties of each Credit Party in the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents
shall be true and correct in all material respects on the date of, and after giving effect to, this Amendment (provided that any
representation or warranty that is qualified as to “materiality,” “Material Adverse Effect” or similar language shall be true and correct
(after giving effect to such qualification) in all respects on such effective date), except for those representations and warranties that
expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case, they shall have been true and correct in all material respects as of such date.

3. Representations and Warranties. Each Credit Party represents and warrants as follows:

(a) Corporate and Governmental Authorization; No Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by each
Credit Party of this Amendment (and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, to which it is a party), and the performance of its
obligations
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hereunder (and under the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby), are within its corporate, company or partnership powers, have been
duly authorized by all necessary corporate, company or partnership action, require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any
Governmental Authority and do not contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of Applicable Laws or of its charter or
bylaws or other constitutive documents or of any material agreement, or any judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument
binding upon such Credit Party or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of such Credit Party.

(b) Enforceability. This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by each Credit Party. This Amendment, the
Credit Agreement (as amended hereby) and each other Loan Document is the legal, valid and binding obligation of each applicable
Credit Party that is a party hereto or thereto, enforceable against each such Credit Party in accordance with its terms, except as such
enforceability may be limited by any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights
generally, and is in full force and effect against each such Credit Party.

(c) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of each Credit Party in this Amendment and
the other Loan Documents are true and correct in all material respects on the date of, and after giving effect to, this Amendment
(provided that any representation or warranty that is qualified as to “materiality,” “Material Adverse Effect” or similar language shall be
true and correct (after giving effect to such qualification) in all respects on such effective date), except for those representations and
warranties that expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case, they shall have been true and correct in all material respects as of such
date.

(d) No Default. No event has occurred and is continuing that constitutes a Default or an Event of Default as of the
Effective Date.

4. Condition Subsequent to this Amendment. On the day the Bridge Loan (as such term is defined in the Term Loan Credit
Agreement) has been paid and satisfied in full, Agent shall receive evidence in form and substance acceptable to Agent of such payment
and satisfaction. Failure to satisfy the condition set forth in this Section 4 shall constitute an immediate Event of Default under the
Credit Agreement.

5. GOVERNING LAW; Jurisdiction, Consent to Service of Process.

(a) THIS AMENDMENT AND ALL MATTERS RELATING HERETO OR ARISING HEREFROM (WHETHER
ARISING UNDER CONTRACT LAW, TORT LAW OR OTHERWISE) SHALL, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 5-1401 OF
THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

(b) Sections 15.16 (Submission to Jurisdiction) and 15.17 (15.17 Waivers; Limitation on Damages; Limitation on
Liability) of the Credit Agreement are hereby incorporated by reference, mutatis mutandis.

6. Counterparts; Facsimile Signatures. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different
parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which
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when so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which when taken together, shall constitute one and the
same instrument. Delivery by one or more parties hereto of an executed counterpart of this Amendment via facsimile, telecopy or other
electronic method of transmission pursuant to which the signature of such party can be seen or presumed sent (including Adobe
Corporation’s Portable Document Format or PDF) shall have the same force and effect as the delivery of an original manually executed
counterpart of this Amendment or the use of a paper- based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for
in any Applicable Law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the New York State
Electronic Signatures and Records Act, or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act.

7. Reference to and Effect on the other Loan Documents.

(a) Upon and after the effectiveness of this Amendment, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”,
“hereunder”, “hereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, and each reference in the other Loan Documents to
“the Credit Agreement”, “thereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a reference to the
Credit Agreement as modified and amended hereby.

(b) Except as specifically amended above, the Credit Agreement and all other Loan Documents, are and shall
continue to be in full force and effect and are hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed and shall constitute the legal, valid, binding
and enforceable obligations of the Credit Parties to Agent and the Lenders, except as such enforceability may be limited by any
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.

(c) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein,
operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of Agent and/or the Lenders under the Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan
Documents, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents.

(d) To the extent that any terms and conditions in any of the other Loan Documents shall contradict or be in conflict
with any terms or conditions of the Credit Agreement, after giving effect to this Amendment, such terms and conditions are hereby
deemed modified or amended accordingly to reflect the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement as modified or amended hereby.

8. Ratification. Each Credit Party hereby restates, ratifies and reaffirms each and every term and condition set forth in the
Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, and the other Loan Documents effective as of the date hereof.

9. Integration. This Amendment, together with the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents, incorporates all
negotiations of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and is the final expression and agreement of the parties hereto
with respect to the subject matter hereof.

10. Severability. If any part of this Amendment is contrary to, prohibited by, or deemed invalid under Applicable Laws, such
provision shall be inapplicable and deemed omitted to the
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extent so contrary, prohibited or invalid, but the remainder hereof shall not be invalidated thereby and shall be given effect so far as
possible.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Amendment as of the date first above written.

BORROWERS:        AUTHENTIC BRANDS LLC

By: /s/Steve Kadenacy
Name: Steve Kadenacy
Title: Chief Financial Officer

BLACK RIFLE COFFEE COMPANY LLC
GOOD BEANS LLC
BRCC GC LLC
FREE RANGE AMERICAN MEDIA COMPANY LLC
SIGNAL MOUNTAIN MEDIA WORKS LLC
1144 SLC LLC
BRCC OPERATING COMPANY LLC
SPENCER 355 LLC
621 MANCHESTER LLC
GROUNDS AND HOUNDS COFFEE COMPANY LLC
INDEPENDENT COFFEE SOLUTIONS LLC
BRCC COPPERFIELD LLC

By: /s/Steve Kadenacy
Name: Steve Kadenacy
Title: Vice President & Treasurer

Signature Page to First Amendment to Credit Agreement



AGENT AND LENDER:    PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/ Jeffrey A. Kessler
Name: Jeffrey A. Kessler
Title: Senior Vice President

Signature Page to First Amendment to Credit Agreement



Exhibit 10.6

Execution Version

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this "Amendment"), dated as of January 25, 2024, is entered into among
AUTHENTIC BRANDS LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Parent"), BLACK RIFLE COFFEE COMPANY LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company ("BRCC"), GOOD BEANS LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Good Beans"), FREE RANGE AMERICAN MEDIA
COMPANY LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Free Range"), SIGNAL MOUNTAIN MEDIA WORKS LLC, a Texas limited liability
company ("Signal Mountain"), 1144 SLC LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("1144 SLC"), BRCC OPERATING COMPANY LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company ("BRCC Operating"), SPENCER 355 LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Spencer 355"), 621
MANCHESTER LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("621 Manchester"), BRCC GC LLC, a Utah limited liability company ("BRCC
GC"), GROUNDS AND HOUNDS COFFEE COMPANY LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Grounds and Hounds"),
INDEPENDENT COFFEE SOLUTIONS LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Independent Coffee"), and BRCC COPPERFIELD LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company ("BRCC Copperfield", together with Parent, BRCC, Good Beans, Free Range, Signal Mountain, 1144 SLC,
BRCC Operating, Spencer 355, 621 Manchester, BRCC GC, Grounds and Hounds, and Independent Coffee, collectively, the "Borrowers" and
each individually a "Borrower"), the Lenders party hereto, and PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION ("PNC"), in its capacity as
administrative agent for the Lenders (PNC in such capacity, together with its successors and permitted assigns, the "Agent"). Terms used herein
without definition shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the Credit Agreement defined below.

RECITALS

A. The Lenders, Agent and Borrowers have previously entered into that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of August 10,
2023 (as amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement"), pursuant to
which the Lenders have made certain loans and financial accommodations available to Borrowers.

B. The Borrowers have requested that Agent and the Lenders amend the Credit Agreement, and the Lenders and Agent are
willing to do so on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants herein contained, and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Amendment of Credit Agreement. On the Effective Date (defined below), clauses (f), (g) and (k) of the definition of
"Eligible Account" set forth in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement are hereby amended and restated as follows:
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(f) that is outstanding for longer than (i) one hundred twenty (120) days from the original
invoice date or (ii) sixty (60) days from the original due date;

(g) that is owed by any Account Debtor if more than fifty percent (50%) of the Accounts
(determined by value of the Accounts and not by their number) owed by such Account Debtor and its Affiliates to
Borrowers are deemed ineligible pursuant to this definition of Eligible Accounts;

(k)     that is owing by any Account Debtor (collectively with all of such Account Debtor's
Affiliates) whose aggregate Accounts owing to a Borrower or Borrowers (collectively), exceed twenty percent
(20%) of the total of a Borrower's or Borrowers' (collectively) Eligible Account excluding those owed by Walmart,
which shall be limited to sixty percent (60%); but only, in each case under this clause (k), to the extent of such
excess;

2. Effectiveness of this Amendment . This Amendment shall become effective on the date the following conditions are
satisfied, each in form and substance acceptable to Agent (such date, the "Effective Date"):

(a) Agent shall have received this Amendment duly executed and delivered by the Borrowers, the Lenders party hereto and
Agent;

(b) no Default or Event of Default shall exist at the time of, or immediately result from, the consummation of this Amendment;
and

(c) the representations and warranties of each Credit Party in the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be true
and correct in all material respects on the date of, and after giving effect to, this Amendment (provided that any representation or warranty that is
qualified as to "materiality," "Material Adverse Effect" or similar language shall be true and correct (after giving effect to such qualification) in
all respects on such effective date), except for those representations and warranties that expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case, they shall
have been true and correct in all material respects as of such date.

3. Representations and Warranties. Each Credit Party represents and warrants as follows:

(a) Corporate and Governmental Authorization; No Contravention . The execution, delivery and performance by each Credit
Party of this Amendment (and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, to which it is a party), and the performance of its obligations hereunder
(and under the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby), are within its corporate, company or partnership powers, have been duly authorized by all
necessary corporate, company or partnership action, require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority and do not
contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of Applicable Laws or of its charter or bylaws or other constitutive documents or of any
material agreement, or any judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding upon such Credit Party or result in the creation or
imposition of any Lien on any asset of such Credit Party.
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(b) Enforceability. This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by each Credit Party. This Amendment, the Credit
Agreement (as amended hereby) and each other Loan Document is the legal, valid and binding obligation of each applicable Credit Party that is a
party hereto or thereto, enforceable against each such Credit Party in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by
any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally, and is in full force and effect against each
such Credit Party.

(c) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of each Credit Party in this Amendment and the other
Loan Documents are true and correct in all material respects on the date of, and after giving effect to, this Amendment (provided that any
representation or warranty that is qualified as to "materiality,""Material Adverse Effect" or similar language shall be true and correct (after giving
effect to such qualification) in all respects on such effective date), except for those representations and warranties that expressly relate to an earlier
date, in which case, they shall have been true and correct in all material respects as of such date.

(d) No Default. No event has occurred and is continuing that constitutes a Default or an Event of Default as of the Effective
Date.

4. Term Loan Intercreditor Agreement . Pursuant to the Term Loan Intercreditor Agreement, Term Loan Agent's consent is
required to make the changes set forth in Section 1 hereto. By its signature below, Term Loan Agent hereby consents to the amendments set forth
herein.

5. GOVERNING LAW; Jurisdiction, Consent to Service of Process .

(a) THIS AMENDMENT AND ALL MATTERS RELATING HERETO OR ARISING HEREFROM (WHETHER
ARISING UNDER CONTRACT LAW, TORT LAW OR OTHERWISE) SHALL, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 5-1401 OF THE
GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

(b) Sections 15.16 (Submission to Jurisdiction) and 15.17 (15.17 Waivers; Limitation on Damages; Limitation on Liability) of
the Credit Agreement are hereby incorporated by reference, mutatis mutandis.

6. Counterparts; Facsimile Signatures.This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different
parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which when
taken together, shall constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery by one or more parties hereto of an executed counterpart of this
Amendment via facsimile, telecopy or other electronic method of transmission pursuant to which the signature of such party can be seen or
presumed sent (including Adobe Corporation's Portable Document Format or PDF) shall have the same force and effect as the delivery of an
original manually executed counterpart of this Amendment or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent
and as provided for in any Applicable Law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the New York
State Electronic Signatures and Records Act, or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act.

7. Reference to and Effect on the other Loan Documents .
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(a) Upon and after the effectiveness of this Amendment, each reference in the Credit Agreement to "this Agreement",
"hereunder", "hereof'' or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, and each reference in the other Loan Documents to "the Credit
Agreement'', "thereof' or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement as
modified and amended hereby.

(b) Except as specifically amended above, the Credit Agreement and all other Loan Documents, are and shall continue to be in
full force and effect and are hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed and shall constitute the legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligations
of the Credit Parties to Agent and the Lenders, except as such enforceability may be limited by any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally.

(c) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein, operate as a
waiver of any right, power or remedy of Agent and/or the Lenders under the Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, nor
constitute a waiver of any provision of the Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents.

(d) To the extent that any terms and conditions in any of the other Loan Documents shall contradict or be in conflict with any
terms or conditions of the Credit Agreement, after giving effect to this Amendment, such terms and conditions are hereby deemed modified or
amended accordingly to reflect the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement as modified or amended hereby.

8. Ratification. Each Credit Party hereby restates, ratifies and reaffirms each and every term and condition set forth in the
Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, and the other Loan Documents effective as of the date hereof.

9. Integration. This Amendment, together with the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents, incorporates all
negotiations of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and is the final expression and agreement of the parties hereto with
respect to the subject matter hereof.

10. Severability. If any part of this Amendment is contrary to, prohibited by, or deemed invalid under Applicable Laws, such
provision shall be inapplicable and deemed omitted to the extent so contrary, prohibited or invalid, but the remainder hereof shall not be
invalidated thereby and shall be given effect so far as possible.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Amendment as of the date first above written.

BORROWERS:        AUTHENTIC BRANDS LLC    
By: /s/Steve Kadenacy______________
Name: Steve Kadenacy
Title: Chief Financial Officer

BLACK RIFLE COFFEE COMPANY LLC
GOOD BEANS LLC
BRCC GC LLC
FREE RANGE AMERICAN MEDIA COMPANY LLC
SIGNAL MOUNTAIN MEDIA WORKS LLC
1144 SLC LLC
BRCC OPERATING COMPANY LLC
SPENCER 355 LLC
621 MANCHESTER LLC
GROUNDS AND HOUNDS COFFEE COMPANY LLC
INDEPENDENT COFFEE SOLUTIONS LLC
BRCC COPPERFIELD LLC

By: /s/Steve Kadenacy_____________
Name: Steve Kadenacy
Title: Vice President & Treasurer

Signature Page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement



AGENT AND LENDER:    PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/Jeffrey A Kessler__________
Name: Jeffrey A Kessler
Title: Senior Vice President

Signature Page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement



Solely for the purposes of Section 4
of this Amendment, Term Loan Agent:    WHITEHAWK CAPITAL PARTNERS LP

                        
                        By: /s/Robert A Louzan__________________
                        Name: Robert A. Louzan
                        Title: Managing Partner

Signature Page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement



Exhibit 10.13

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement (this “Amendment”), dated as of November 6, 2023, is entered into by and
between Black Rifle Coffee Company LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Company”), and Evan Hafer (“Executive”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Company and Executive have previously entered into that certain Employment Agreement dated December 29, 2022
(the “Employment Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Company and Executive desire to enter into this Amendment to modify certain provisions of the Employment
Agreement in connection with Executive’s transition from Chief Executive Officer to Founder, effective as of the end of December 31, 2023
(the “Effective Date”).

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties
hereto agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the
Employment Agreement.

2. Position and Duties. Upon the Effective Date, Section 2(a) of the Employment Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and
the following substituted in lieu thereof:

(a) Position and Duties. Other than as agreed by Executive, Executive shall serve as an executive officer of the Company
with the title “Founder”. Executive’s responsibilities shall include such duties as are commensurate with Executive’s position and as
may be assigned to Executive in good faith by the Board of Directors of BRC Inc. (the “Board”). Further, Executive shall continue to
promote the Company and the Business (as defined below) in the public and on Social Media Channels consistent with Executive’s
past practice. Executive shall report to the Chief Executive Officer and the Board.

3. Definition of “Good Reason”. Upon the Effective Date, Section 4(e)(xiv) of the Employment Agreement is hereby deleted in its
entirety and the following substituted in lieu thereof:

(xiv) “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence, without Executive’s written consent, of: (A) a materially adverse
change in Executive’s reporting obligations after January 1, 2024, or, if applicable, the removal of Executive from all officer positions
(including the officer position designated as “Founder”) of the Company;
(B) a materially adverse diminution in Executive’s employment duties, responsibilities or authority, or the assignment to Executive of
duties that are materially and adversely inconsistent with his position, in each case after January 1, 2024; (C) any reduction in Base
Salary other than any reduction of up to 20% that affects all officers of the Company; or
(D) any material breach by the Company of this Agreement; provided, that any changes related to any transition by Executive from
Founder to an alternative role as an executive



officer (as defined in Rule 3b-7 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) shall not constitute Good Reason
and provided, further that Executive may terminate his employment for Good Reason only if (I) within ninety (90) days of the date
Executive has actual knowledge of the occurrence of an event of Good Reason, Executive provides written notice of the Company
specifying such event, (II) the Company does not cure such event within ten (10) business days of such notice if the event is
nonpayment of an amount due to Executive or within sixty (60) days of such notice for other events and
(III) Executive actually terminates his employment within thirty (30) business days of the end of such cure period.

4. Continued Effectiveness of the Employment Agreement . The Employment Agreement is, and shall continue to be, in full force
and effect, except as otherwise provided in this Amendment and except that, following the Effective Date, all references to the Employment
Agreement set forth in the Employment Agreement and any other agreements to which the parties hereto are parties that have been executed
prior to the date hereof shall mean the Employment Agreement, as amended by this Amendment.

5. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware,
without reference to principles of conflict of laws.

6. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed simultaneously in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an
original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

[Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Executive and the Company have caused this Amendment to be executed as of the date first above written.

BLACK RIFLE COFFEE COMPANY LLC

By: /s/ Chris Mondzelewksi
Name:    Chris Mondzelewski
Title:    President Black Rifle Coffee Company

EXECUTIVE

/s/Evan Hafer___________
Evan Hafer

[Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement]
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BRC INC.
1144 S 500 W

SALT LAKE CITY, UT 84101

December 22, 2023
Mr. Evan Hafer

SUBJECT: FOUNDER AND EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN COMPENSATION

Dear Mr. Hafer:

It is with gratitude that we hereby confirm that BRC Inc . ("the Company") is hereby offering you the following compensation in connection with your previously announced transition to Founder
and Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company, effective January 1, 2024.

The proposed compensation is the following:

1) Annual Salary: We greatly appreciate your offer to accept an annual salary of one dollar ($1.00), and confirm such salary shall be effective January 1, 2024.
2) Target Bonus: We also further appreciate your offer to exit the Company’s bonus program.
3) All other terms of your Employment Agreement dated December 29, 2022 (the “Hafer Employment Agreement”) remain unmodified hereby. By signing this letter, you confirm your

agreement that the foregoing changes to your salary, bonus, title and responsibilities are consented to for purposes of the Hafer Employment Agreement and shall not constitute “Good Reason”
as defined therein.

The above-mentioned items are substantially the items that are material to the internal offer with promotion but are not all-inclusive of the Company's benefits and do not contain all provisions. We
anticipate that you will continue to participate in the Company's benefit plans, as an executive officer of the Company. The Company's benefit plans and providers are subject to change. Only the
actual Company Policies and Benefits Plan Documents govern the eligibility and administration of the benefits.

Please indicate your acceptance and by signing below and returning this offer letter to me. Sincerely,

/s/ Katy Dickson
Katy Dickson, Lead Independent Director

I, Evan Hafer, hereby accept and agree to the foregoing.

/s/ Evan Hafer



Exhibit 10.16

BRC INC.
1144 S 500 W

SALT LAKE CITY, UT 84101

December 22, 2023

Mr. Christopher Mondzelewski

SUBJECT: CEO PROMOTION COMPENSATION

Dear Mr. Mondzelewski:

It is with great pleasure that I am able to notify you that BRC Inc. ("the Company") is hereby offering you the following compensation in connection with your previously announced promotion to
President, CEO and Director, effective January 1, 2024.

The proposed compensation is the following:

1) Annual Salary: Increased to $600,000.00, effective January 1, 2024.
2) Target Bonus: You will be eligible to participate in the Company's Annual Incentive Plan (AIP) as modified by the Company from time-to-time in its sole discretion and business judgment.

Your target bonus is increased from 75% to 100% of your base salary.
3) Equity Grants: You will be eligible to participate in the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan, at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors. We

anticipate issuing you a grant at the next annual grant cycle, anticipated in March of 2024, of a grant-date fair market value of $2.5 million, composed of 25% restricted stock units, 75% stock
options in the Company's common stock, vesting pursuant to the Company's standard terms and subject to the Company's 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

4) You will retain your current severance arrangements and indemnification arrangements, pursuant to the existing agreements you have with the Company.
5) As previously announced, you will have a seat on the Board of Directors.

The above-mentioned items are substantially the items that are material to the internal offer with promotion but are not all-inclusive of the Company's benefits and do not contain all provisions.
The Company's benefit plans and providers are subject to change. Only the actual Company Policies and Benefits Plan Documents govern the eligibility and administration of the benefits.

Please indicate your acceptance and by signing below and returning this offer letter to me . Sincerely,

/s/ Katy Dickson

Katy Dickson, Lead Independent Director

I, Christopher Mondzelewski, hereby accept this offer of employment promotion by BRC Inc.

/s/ Christopher Mondzelewksi
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Separation and Release Agreement
December 22, 2023

Dear Mr. Davin:

As you know, your employment with BRC, Inc, Authentic Brands LLC (“ Authentic”) and Black Rifle Coffee Company LLC (“ BRCC” and
together with Authentic, collectively referred to as the “Company”) will end on December 31, 2023 (the “ Separation Date”). You will receive pay for
time worked up to and through the Separation Date (together, the “Ordinary Pay”). You will remain a member of the Board of Directors of BRC Inc.

From now until the Separation Date, we anticipate you will transition your responsibilities, assist in our reorganization, and generally support the
business as requested and as needed. We will cooperate to find an appropriate amount of time in office versus working from your preferred working
location (e.g., home).

This letter agreement (this “ Agreement”) memorializes your discussions with representatives of the Company regarding your agreed terms of
separation. After the Separation Date, you will not represent as being an employee, officer, agent, or representative of the Company for any purpose,
other than as a Director of BRC Inc. Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, the Separation Date is your employment termination date for all
purposes, meaning that you are not entitled to any further compensation, monies, or other benefits from the Company, including coverage under any
benefit plans or programs sponsored by the Company, as of the Separation Date except as noted herein.

For the avoidance of doubt, the cessation of your employment shall be treated as a termination without cause, and you are entitled to all rights as
outlined herein.

You acknowledge the extended termination notice and transition to the Separation Date, instead of immediate termination, as well as the payments
and other promises in paragraphs 1-6 below, are benefits and promises that are good, sufficient and valuable consideration for the promises, releases,
and waivers contained in this Agreement. You agree that you are not otherwise entitled to this consideration and that this consideration is accepted as the
full and final resolution of all matters related to employment, or termination of such employment, with the Company.

By signing this Agreement, you and the Company agree to the following:

1. Benefits Continuation – Payment In Lieu. The Company will provide you a cash payment within 30 days of this agreement equivalent to a
reasonable estimate by the Company for up to twelve (12) months coverage under its employee medical, prescription drug, dental, and vision
care health plans, consistent with your current elections.

2. Other Compensation or Benefits. You acknowledge that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, you are not entitled to receive, and
will not receive, and hereby waive, any additional compensation, severance, payments, reimbursements, or other benefits of any kind
whatsoever after the Separation Date, including without limitation any severance benefits described in your employment agreement dated
January 7, 2019 with the Company (the “Offer Letter”). The terms and conditions in this Agreement override any prior representations or
promises, written or oral.

3. Return of Company Property. Within ten (10) days after the Separation Date (or such later date after your service as a member of the Board of
directors expires or otherwise terminates), you agree



to return to the Company all Company documents (and all copies thereof) and other Company property, including, but not limited to, Company
files, notes, drawings, records, business plans and forecasts, financial information, specifications, computer-recorded information, computers,
credit cards, entry cards, identification badges, keys, and any materials of any kind that contain or embody any proprietary or confidential
information of the Company (and all reproductions thereof). If you have electronic information stored on any personal device or personal cloud
storage (including, for example, a personal laptop, email account, thumb drive, external hard drive, or personal cloud storage), you agree to copy
and return to the Company all such electronic information within ten
(10) days after the Separation Date, then – after ensuring that the Company has received such information – you shall delete all copies of such
information and shall not attempt to retrieve the deleted copies. If you have questions about how to transfer the electronically stored information
back to the Company, you agree to contact Mr. Mondzelewski.

4. Section 409A Compliance. This Agreement is intended to comply with, or be exempt from, the requirements of Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the published guidance thereunder (“Section 409A”), and shall be construed and administered in
accordance with such intent. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, payments provided under this Agreement may only be
made upon an event and in a manner that complies with Section 409A or an applicable exemption. Any payments under this Agreement that
may be excluded from Section 409A either as separation pay due to an involuntary separation from service or as a short-term deferral shall be
excluded from Section 409A to the maximum extent possible. Any payments to be made under this Agreement in connection with a termination
of employment shall only be made if such termination of employment constitutes a “separation from service” under Section 409A.
Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if you are a "specified employee" within the meaning of Section 409A, any
payments or arrangements due upon your termination of employment under any arrangement that constitutes a "nonqualified deferral of
compensation" within the meaning of Section 409A and which do not otherwise qualify under the exemptions under Treas. Regs. Section
1.409A-1 (including without limitation, the short-term deferral exemption or the permitted payments under Treas. Regs. Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)
(iii)(A)), shall be delayed and paid or provided on the earlier of (a) the date which is six months after your "separation from service" for any
reason other than death, or (b) the date of your death. This Agreement may be amended without requiring your consent to the extent necessary
(including retroactively) by the Company in order to preserve compliance with Section 409A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company
makes no representations that the payments and benefits provided under this Agreement comply with Section 409A and in no event shall the
Company be liable for all or any portion of any taxes, penalties, interest, or other expenses that may be incurred by you on account of non-
compliance with Section 409A.

5. Expense Reimbursement. You agree that, within ten (10) days of the Separation Date, you will submit your final documented expense
reimbursement statement reflecting all business expenses you incurred through the Separation Date, if any, for which you seek reimbursement.
The Company will reimburse you for these expenses pursuant to its regular business practice.

6. Release of Claims. Except as to rights and obligations arising out of this Agreement and claims related to its interpretation and enforcement, you
hereby release and discharge (“Release”) the Company and any parent, subsidiary, affiliated, and related entities including joint venture partners
and their past, present or future managers, directors, administrators, officers, employees, agents, insurance companies, attorneys,
representatives, predecessors, successors and assigns, and each of them (collectively, the Company and the other released parties are referred to
as “Released Parties”) from any and all claims, liability, obligations, grievances, demands, allegations, damages, promises, losses, expenses,
fees, back pay, loss of earnings, debts, mental anguish, loss of consortium, pain, embarrassment, humiliation, emotional distress, exemplary
and/or punitive damages, attorneys’ fees or costs and other legal responsibilities which arise from anything occurring before you sign this
Agreement (collectively, “Claims”), including but not limited to claims arising out of or related to your employment by the Company, the
termination of that employment, and any waivable rights you may have arising from such employment.

The Release set forth in this section shall be and remain in effect in all respects as a complete general release as to the matters released. The
scope of this Release includes known and unknown
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Claims, and includes all Claims up to the date you have signed this Agreement, including any Claim based on contract, tort or statute, and under
any federal, state or local discrimination, retaliation or other employment-related laws, and any claim under the Utah Antidiscrimination Act,
Utah Payment of Wages Act, Utah Employment Relations and Collective Bargaining Act, Utah Right to Work Act, Utah Drug and Alcohol
Testing Act, Utah Minimum Wage Act, Utah Protection of Activities in Private Vehicles Act, Utah Employment Selection Procedures Act, Utah
Occupational Safety and Health Act, Texas Labor Code including the Texas Payday Act, the Texas Anti- Retaliation Act, Chapter 21 of the
Texas Labor Code, the Texas Whistleblower Act, all other Utah and Texas statutes or codes, all local statutes or ordinances, the Lilly Ledbetter
Fair Pay Act of 2009, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Fair Labor Standards Act (to the extent permitted by law), the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Immigration and Reform Control Act, the Worker Adjustment
and Retraining Notification Act, the National Labor Relations Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the
Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Older Workers Benefits Protection Act, and the
Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, all as may have been amended from time to time, and all Claims under any other federal, state, or local laws or
regulations relating to employment, terms or conditions of employment, or separation from employment or benefits associated with employment
or separation from employment. The scope of this Release also covers any and all claims for wrongful discharge of employment, termination in
violation of public policy, discrimination, breach of contract, both express and implied, breach of a covenant of good faith and fair dealing, both
express and implied, promissory estoppel, negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress, negligent or intentional misrepresentation,
negligent or intentional interference with contract or prospective economic advantage, unfair business practices, defamation, libel, slander,
negligence, personal injury, assault, battery, invasion of privacy, false imprisonment, and conversion, any claims related to your separation from
employment or benefits associated with employment or separation from employment, and any and all claims related to the Offer Letter. This
release covers Claims that may be asserted on your behalf by others. Excluded from this Release are Claims which cannot be waived or released
as a matter of law or any vested benefits earned during the period of your active employment, if any, under all the Company qualified retirement
plans, as determined under the official terms of those plans. This Release does not preclude you from filing a charge of discrimination with a
state or federal agency, or from providing truthful information in connection with any investigation they may conduct, but it does preclude you
from receiving any further payments or compensation as a result of such proceedings or any related proceedings.

7. Release Extends to Known and Unknown Claims, Suspected and Unsuspected Claims . You acknowledge and agree that you will not be able to
make any Claim for any damage, loss or injury which may exist as of the date of this Agreement, but which you may not know or realize to
exist, regardless of whether that lack of knowledge is the result of ignorance, oversight, error, negligence or any other cause.

8. Acknowledgment of Waiver of Claims under ADEA . You acknowledge that you are waiving and releasing any rights you may have under the
Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (“ADEA”) and that this waiver and release is knowing and voluntary. You and the Company
agree that this waiver and release does not apply to any rights or claims that may arise under ADEA after the Effective Date of this Agreement.
You acknowledge that the consideration given for this waiver and release Agreement is in addition to anything of value to which you are already
entitled. You further acknowledge that you have been advised by this writing that: (a) you should consult with an attorney prior to executing this
Agreement; (b) you have at least twenty-one (21) days within which to consider this Agreement; (c) you have seven (7) days following the
execution of this Agreement to revoke the Agreement; and (d) this Agreement shall not be effective until the seven (7) day revocation period has
expired.

9. Representation of No Claim or Action; Agreement Not to Sue.  You will not voluntarily counsel or assist in any manner whatsoever any person,
party, or litigant, in any claim, potential claim or action, against the Company. You also agree that you will not encourage any person to pursue
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any claim, potential claim or action, against the Company. Nothing in this section prohibits you from complying with a lawfully issued subpoena
or court order and providing truthful information in response to such subpoena or court order. As a condition of receiving the consideration
provided hereunder, you represent that you have no lawsuits, claims, or actions pending against the Company and agree not to bring any civil or
arbitral claims against any of the Released Parties regarding any Claim that has been released in this Agreement. With your signature below, you
confirm that you have not initiated any Claim, charge, or legal or regulatory allegation against any of the Released Parties and that you have not
transferred or assigned any such right to any other person or entity.

10. No Cooperation. Subject to the Protected Activity below, you agree not to act in any manner that might damage the business of the Company.
You agree not to counsel or assist any attorneys or their clients in the presentation or prosecution of any disputes, differences, grievances,
claims, charges, or complaints by any third party against the Company and/or any officer, director, employee, agent, representative, shareholder
or attorney of the Company, unless under a subpoena, other court order, or other legally compelled obligation to do so. Nothing in this
Agreement is intended to affect your obligation to provide truthful testimony in any court or agency action, that may be required of you.

11. Protected Activity . Nothing in this Agreement is intended to or will be used in any way to limit your communications with any government
agency, as provided for, protected under, or warranted by applicable law, including, but not limited to, filing a charge, raising concerns about
illegal conduct, or participating in an investigation before any government agency, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, any state or
local agency, or the National Labor Relations Board, or the Securities and Exchange Commission and related bodies.

12.Non-Disparagement. This provision is subject to the Protected Activity section above, and you agree not to disparage, defame, or slander the
Company and its respective officers, directors, employees, investors, shareholders, administrators, affiliates, divisions, subsidiaries, predecessor
and successor corporations, and assigns, or otherwise take any action which could reasonably be expected to adversely or negatively affect the
personal or professional reputation of the Company or the entities and individuals noted herein. The Company agrees that, subject to
communications reasonably required by law or in connection with a bona fide legal action, it and its directors and officers will not disparage you
or otherwise take any action which could reasonably be expected to adversely or negatively affect your personal or professional reputation.

13. Employment Inquiries. You agree to direct any inquiries concerning your employment or request for references to the Company’s President,
Christopher Mondzelewski.

14. No Admission. The consideration set forth in this Agreement is not and shall not be viewed as an admission of any obligation or liability by the
Company or any of the Released Parties.

15. No Waiver. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement will be deemed, or will constitute, a waiver of any other provision, whether or
not similar, nor will any waiver constitute a continuing waiver.

16. Entire Agreement, Severability, Interpretation and Representation by Counsel . This Agreement, constitutes the entire agreement between you
and the Company (including the Released Parties) with respect to the matters set forth in this Agreement, and it may not be amended or
modified except in writing signed by all the parties to this Agreement. If any portion of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable or invalid,
the parties agree that such provisions shall be modified to the extent possible such that it becomes enforceable; or, if that is not accomplished,
then such provision shall be severed from this Agreement and all other remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect. The parties
have had the opportunity to have their legal counsel review and seek to revise this Agreement, and this Agreement therefore shall not be
interpreted against any party as the drafter.

17. Time to Consider / Advised To Consult Counsel . You have twenty-one (21) calendar days to consider the terms and conditions of this
Agreement before executing it. Even if this Agreement were modified in any way before you sign, such modifications do not restart or affect the
running
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of this 21-day period unless such revisions are a material difference from the original version. You are advised to consult with an attorney of
your choice before executing this Agreement. If you do so, it will be at your sole expense. This offer will expire automatically if not signed and
delivered to Mr. Mondzelewski, by mail or email, by the end of this 21-day period.

18. Time to Revoke / Effective Date . You may revoke this Agreement during the seven-day period beginning immediately after you sign this
Agreement. To be effective, such revocation must be made in writing and delivered to Mr. Mondzelewski in a manner such that it is received
before the end of the seven-day period. The “Effective Date” of this Agreement will be the day after the seven-day revocation period has
expired. This Agreement will be neither effective nor enforceable before the Effective Date. If timely revoked, all portions of this Agreement
will be void.

19. Attorneys’ Fees. Should an action be brought to enforce the terms of this agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable
attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in prosecuting the action.

20. Acknowledgements. By signing below, you acknowledge and agree that: (a) the consideration provided in this Agreement is being provided
solely in exchange for the promises in this Agreement and that, without this Agreement, you would not otherwise be entitled to this
consideration; (b) No other promises or agreements have been made to or with you, by any person or entity, to induce you to sign this
Agreement; and (c) you have carefully read this Agreement, you understand the content and effect of this Agreement, you have signed it
knowingly and voluntarily, and you intend to be bound by it.

21. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Utah. The Parties agree that any action to enforce the provisions
of this Agreement shall be filed in the state or federal courts located in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, and hereby submit to the jurisdiction of
such courts.

22. Counterparts.    This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, all of which together will constitute one document. Electronic or emailed PDF
copies will be effective and enforceable.

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Very truly yours,

/s/ Chris Mondzelewski        
Chris Mondzelewski, President

I have read, understand, and agree to all of the terms of this Agreement. This is a binding contract, and I intend to be bound by these terms.

/s/ Thomas Davin    
Name: Thomas Davin                                December 22, 2023



Exhibit 21.1

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT
BRC INC.

A DELAWARE PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION

Subsidiaries Jurisdiction
Authentic Brands LLC Delaware

Good Beans LLC Delaware

Black Rifle Coffee Company LLC Delaware

BRCC Operating Company LLC Delaware

1144 SLC LLC Delaware

Spencer 355 LLC Delaware

621 Manchester LLC Delaware

BRCC Copperfield LLC Delaware

BRCC GC LLC Utah

Free Range American Media Company LLC Delaware

Signal Mountain Media Works LLC (d/b/a Coffee or Die) Texas

Grounds and Hounds Coffee Company LLC Delaware

Independent Coffee Solutions LLC Delaware



Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

• Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-270727) of BRC Inc.,
• Post-effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 (Form S-3 No. 333-263627) of BRC Inc., and
• Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-264369) pertaining to the BRC Inc. 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan and the BRC Inc. 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

of our report dated March 6, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of BRC Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December
31, 2023.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Antonio, Texas
March 6, 2024



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Christopher Mondzelewski, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of BRC Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 6, 2024 /s/ Christopher Mondzelewski
Christopher Mondzelewski
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Stephen Kadenacy, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of BRC Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 6, 2024 /s/ Stephen Kadenacy
Stephen Kadenacy
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of BRC Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Annual Report”), I, Christopher Mondzelewski, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. the Annual Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. the information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 6, 2024 /s/ Christopher Mondzelewski
Christopher Mondzelewski
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of BRC Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Annual Report”), I, Stephen Kadenacy, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. the Annual Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. the information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 6, 2024 /s/ Stephen Kadenacy
Stephen Kadenacy
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 97.1

BRC Inc.
Incentive Compensation Recovery Policy

The Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of BRC Inc. (the “Company”) is adopting this Incentive Compensation Recovery Policy (this
“Policy”) to provide for the recovery of certain incentive compensation in the event of an Accounting Restatement to align with the highest standards of
honest and ethical business standards.

Statement of Policy

In the event that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, except as otherwise set forth in this Policy, the Company shall
recover, reasonably promptly, the Excess Incentive Compensation received by any Covered Executive during the Recoupment Period.

This Policy applies to all Incentive Compensation received during the Recoupment Period by a person (a) after beginning service as a Covered
Executive, (b) who served as a Covered Executive at any time during the performance period for that Incentive Compensation and (c) while the
Company has a class of securities listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) or another national securities exchange or association. This Policy
may therefore apply to a Covered Executive even after that person that is no longer a Company employee or a Covered Executive at the time of
recovery.

Incentive Compensation is deemed “received” for purposes of this Policy in the fiscal period during which the financial reporting measure
specified in the Incentive Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or issuance of such Incentive Compensation occurs after the end of that
period. For example, if the performance target for an award is based on total stockholder return for the year ended December 31, 2023, the award will be
deemed to have been received in 2023 even if paid in 2024.

Exceptions

The Company is not required to recover Excess Incentive Compensation pursuant to this Policy to the extent the Committee makes a determination
that recovery would be impracticable for one of the following reasons (and the applicable procedural requirements are met):

(a) after making a reasonable and documented attempt to recover the Excess Incentive Compensation, which documentation will be provided to
the NYSE to the extent required, the Committee determines that the direct expenses that would be paid to a third party to assist in enforcing
this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered;

(b) based on a legal opinion of counsel acceptable to the NYSE, the Committee determines that recovery would violate a home country law
adopted prior to November 28, 2022; or

(c) the Committee determines that recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly
available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations
thereunder.

Definitions

“Accounting Restatement” means an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting
requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is
material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or
left uncorrected in the current period. For the avoidance of doubt, restatements that do not represent the correction of an error are not Accounting
Restatements, including, without limitation, restatements resulting solely from: retrospective application of a change in generally accepted accounting
principles; retrospective revisions to reportable segment information due to a change in the structure of the Company’s internal organization;
retrospective reclassifications due to discontinued operations; retrospective applications of changed in reporting entity, such as from a reorganization of
entities under common control; retrospective adjustments to
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provisional amounts in connection with prior business combinations; and retrospective revisions for stock splits, reverse stock splits, stock dividends or
other changes in capital structure.

“Covered Executive” shall mean the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, President, Chief Financial Officer, principal accounting officer (or if
there is no such accounting officer, the controller), any vice-president of the Company in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function, any
other officer who performs a policy-making function for the Company, and any other person who performs similar policy-making functions for the
Company.

“Excess Incentive Compensation” means the amount of Incentive Compensation received during the Recoupment Period by any Covered
Executive that exceeds the amount of Incentive Compensation that otherwise would have been received by such Covered Executive if the determination
of the Incentive Compensation to be received had been determined based on restated amounts in the Accounting Restatement and without regard to any
taxes paid.

“Incentive Compensation” means any compensation (including cash and equity compensation) that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in
part upon the attainment of a financial reporting measure. For purposes of this definition, a “financial reporting measure” is (i) any measure that is
determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements and any measure derived
wholly or in part from such measures, or (ii) the Company’s stock price and/or total shareholder return. A financial reporting measure need not be
presented within the financial statements or included in a filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Incentive Compensation subject to this
Policy may be provided by the Company or subsidiaries or affiliates of the Company.

“Recoupment Period” means the three completed fiscal years preceding the Trigger Date, and any transition period (that results from a change in
the Company’s fiscal year) of less than nine months within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years, provided that any transition
period of nine months or more shall count as a full fiscal year.

“Trigger Date” means the earlier to occur of: (a) the date the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee (or such other committee of the Board as
may be authorized to make such a conclusion), or the officer or officers of the Company authorized to take such action if action by the Board of
Directors is not required concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement; or (b) the
date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement; in the case of both (a) and (b)
regardless of if or when restated financial statements are filed.

Administration

This Policy is intended to comply with Section 303A.14 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual, Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Rule 10D-1(b)(1) as promulgated under the Exchange Act, and shall be interpreted in a manner consistent
with those requirements. The Committee has full authority to interpret and administer this Policy. The Committee’s determinations under this Policy
shall be final and binding on all persons, need not be uniform with respect to each individual covered by the Policy, and shall be given the maximum
deference permitted by law.

The Committee has the authority to determine the appropriate means of recovering Excess Incentive Compensation based on the particular facts
and circumstances, which could include, but is not limited to, seeking direct reimbursement, forfeiture of awards, offsets against other payments, and
forfeiture of deferred compensation (subject to compliance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code).

Subject to any limitations under applicable law, the Committee may authorize any officer or employee of the Company to take actions necessary or
appropriate to carry out the purpose and intent of this Policy, provided that no such authorization shall relate to any recovery under this Policy that
involves such officer or employee.

If the Committee cannot determine the amount of excess Incentive Compensation received by a Covered Executive directly from the information
in the Accounting Restatement, such as in the case of Incentive Compensation tied to stock price or total stockholder return, then it shall make its
determination based on its reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement and shall maintain documentation of such determination,
including for purposes of providing such documentation to the NYSE.
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Except where an action is required by Section 303A.14 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual, Section 10D of the Exchange Act or Rule 10D-1(b)
(1) promulgated under the Exchange Act to be determined in a different matter, the Board may act to have the independent directors of the Board
administer this policy in place of the Committee.

No Indemnification or Advancement of Legal Fees

Notwithstanding the terms of any indemnification agreement, insurance policy, contractual arrangement, the governing documents of the Company
or other document or arrangement, the Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executive against, or pay the premiums for any insurance policy to
cover, any amounts recovered under this Policy or any expenses that a Covered Executive incurs in opposing Company efforts to recoup amounts
pursuant to the Policy.

Non-Exclusive Remedy; Successors

Recovery of Incentive Compensation pursuant to this Policy shall not in any way limit or affect the rights of the Company to pursue disciplinary,
legal, or other action or pursue any other remedies available to it. This Policy shall be in addition to, and is not intended to limit, any rights of the
Company to recover Incentive Compensation from Covered Executives under any legal remedy available to the Company and applicable laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, or pursuant to the terms of any other Company policy,
employment agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement with a Covered Executive.

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their successors, beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators, or
other legal representatives.

Amendment

This Policy may be amended from time to time by the Committee or the Board of Directors.

Effective Date

This Policy shall apply to any Incentive Compensation received on or after October 2, 2023.

Adopted by the Compensation Committee of BRC Inc. on August 1, 2023
    

3



FORM OF ACKNOWLEDGMENT

BRC INC.
INCENTIVE COMPENSATION RECOVERY POLICY

FORM OF ACKNOWLEDGMENT

By my signature below, I hereby acknowledge that I have read and understand the BRC Inc. Incentive Compensation Recovery Policy (the
“Policy”) adopted by BRC Inc. (the “Company”), and that I consent and agree to abide by its provisions and further agree that (defined terms used but
not defined in this Acknowledgment shall have the meanings set forth in the Policy):

1. The Policy shall apply to any Incentive Compensation as set forth in the Policy and all such Incentive Compensation shall be subject to
recovery under the Policy;

2. Any applicable award agreement or other document setting forth the terms and conditions of any Incentive Compensation granted to me by the
Company or its affiliates shall be deemed to include the restrictions imposed by the Policy and shall be deemed to incorporate the Policy by
reference, and in the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Policy and the applicable award agreement or other document
setting forth the terms and conditions of any Incentive Compensation granted to me, the terms of the Policy shall govern unless the terms of
such other agreement or other document would result in a greater recovery by the Company;

3. In the event it is determined by the Company that any amounts granted, awarded, earned or paid to me must be forfeited or reimbursed to the
Company, I will promptly take any action necessary to effectuate such forfeiture and/or reimbursement;

4. I acknowledge that, notwithstanding any indemnification agreement or other arrangement between the Company and me, the Company shall
not indemnify me against, or pay the premiums for any insurance policy to cover, losses incurred under the Policy;

5. The Policy may be amended from time to time in accordance with its terms; and

6. This Acknowledgment and the Policy shall survive and continue in full force and in accordance with its terms, notwithstanding any
termination of my employment with the Company and its affiliates.

Signature:         

Print Name:         

Date:         


